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2 Nayuki Holdings Limited - Z3E %4

DEFINITIONS
BE

AR AR

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following RAEARERN > BRIEXEREFE - TRIAT
words and expressions shall have the following meanings. AERFRMEBTIRE -

“2020 Share Incentive Plan”
[ 20205 B tn B b=t &1 )
“2020 Share Option Plan”
[20205F g e it &1 |
"AGM"

[RERAFRE ]

"associate(s)”

Rk INI

“Audit Committee”

[EZZEE

“Beijing Tiantu”

[ KE |

'

“"Board” or “Board of Directors’

=

“BVI”
[RBRERRES]

“Chengdu Tiantu”

[ K&K [E
“Chairman”
==

“Chief Executive Officer”
[BRERTE ]

the share incentive plan of the Company approved and adopted on
May 15, 2020
7202045 B 15 B #t/f MR E) A R R IR (0 B Bh At &

the share option plan of the Company approved and adopted on May
15, 2020
1202045 A 15 B #LfE RERMA) AN R R R A i =T &

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company proposed to
be held on Friday, June 28, 2024
RRAFIEFEN2024F6 A28 R (2R ) RITHNRERFRBFRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

A _EHRARE T AR E

the audit committee of the Board
EEeEZELES

Beijing Tiantu Xingbei Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (3t =X
BlEIL & EHR O (BRER)), a limited partnership established under the
Laws of the PRC on June 26, 2015

IRREFEIRERO(BRERE) - —FKN2015%F6 H26 B RIEH BUEE
PRI ARE BB

the board of Directors of the Company
ARRERE

the British Virgin Islands
RBERRES

Chengdu Tiantu Tiantou Dongfeng Equity Investment Fund Center
(Limited Partnership) (X E KB XK ERAKEHREZFL(BERE
%)), a limited partnership established under the Laws of the PRC on
November 17, 2016

MERERIERBARBEEZEESFL(BRER) - —KN2016F11 /17
HiRBEHBEEK AR E BB

the chairman of the Board

Bk

the chief executive officer of our Company

AABEFENTE



“Company”

AYNCIE

"Controlling Shareholders”

[ AR

"Director(s)”

(%

"Equity Incentive Plans”

[ HE Ry =t 2 ]
"Fucheng”

[ 7z ]

“"General Manager”

[ R4S |
“Group,” “our Group,”
“we or “us”

[ E I3 30

"HK$" or “HKD" or
“Hong Kong dollars”
[l

"Hong Kong” or “HK" or
“Hong Kong SAR”
(&8 13 [ BBRAIITIE ]

“Independent Third Party” or
“Independent Third Parties”

[BIFE=77 ]

Annual Report fE 5§ 2023

DEFINITIONS
Ba

Nayuki Holdings Limited (REMXRZERBERAF]), an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
September 5, 2019, whose Shares are listed and traded on the Stock
Exchange

RENREZERERAR - —KKR2019F9 A58 ER S MK LR
RBRAF  EROHRBZXAETRER

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the
context of this report, means Mr. Zhao Lin, Ms. Peng Xin, Linxin Group,
Linxin International, Linxin Holdings and Crystal Tide Profits Limited
BB MR FZARRE  RAREMS - BEMEE - ZOoXKL
Linxin Group * Linxin International * #R:0 4% i 2 Crystal Tide Profits
Limited

member(s) of the board of directors of the Company, including all
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors

ARRERENE  BREZBITES FRTEERBUIFNTES

the 2020 Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan
20204F B R AT &I ]2 2020 iR 15 BB =1 &

Shenzhen Fucheng Technology Co., Ltd. (FJITEREFEARAR), a
company established in PRC and a connected person of our Company
ARINTREERRBBRLAF  —KRPRPBEKZAAF - WRRARRIFEEA
+

the general manager of our Company
PAN/NCIF R SE

the Company and our subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or
more of our subsidiaries, as the context may require)

AR R R E R R (AR A RIS — KA LM E R (1]
XEME))

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBSRITTHE

any entity or person who is not a connected person of our Company or
an associate of any such person within the meaning ascribed thereto
under the Listing Rules
WIARABEEANTSHAEMBRAATOBEA (RS EMHRE TZAD
BE) 2 EREEIAL



DEFINITIONS
BE

“Linxin Group”

[Linxin Group]

“Linxin Holdings”

[ PR ERR

“Linxin International”

[ Linxin International |

“Linxin Trust”
[Linxin Trust]
“Listing Date”
[ETBEH]

“Listing Rules”

[ EmAR A

“Model Code”

327 Al

“Nomination Committee”

[REZBE

“Option(s)"”
[ B s e

“Prospectus”

[ A=

4  Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 HZIEIRE R A F)

Linxin Group Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on December
29, 2020, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Linxin Group Limited * —ZKX20205F 12 A29 B B4R R AL S ek Ak
MERTE RBRPIMZERRRZ —

Linxin Holdings Limited (#.0#ZEAX AR A R), a company incorporated in
the BVI on September 5, 2019, one of our Controlling Shareholders
MOERBRAE » —KN2019FIASRERBABR RS T MK LR
Al AEMrE Hxﬂxﬁz—

Linxin International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on
December 29, 2020, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Linxin International Limited * —5KM2020F 12298t RBHEB RS
MR T - BRANIZERRR 2 —

Linxin Trust, an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey
on December 30, 2020 with Linxin Holdings as beneficiary

Linxin Trust » 7 20205F12 H30B ERAAS R A PRI HEE 2 #ET © M
DERAZ A

June 30, 2021
202196 A30H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

EEMAERFAARDAEFES LR (B IRER - BRI UEMT R
&30

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
EHRBIMERCIME LM BHETAERETESF R INEETH

the nomination committee of the Board

EExgRE%%REY

share option(s) granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Option Plan
RIF2020F BB AT SR L eV BB A i

the prospectus of the Company dated June 18, 2021
ARABHAR20215F6 H18ANAKRER

“PRC" or “China” or the
"People’s Republic of China’

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context
' otherwise requires, references in this report to the PRC or China do not
apply to Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR or Taiwan Province
[FRE sk [ EE AR KA ] B PEARKNE  BRIEXEZAME  AREHHPENRRL NERR

ERBRTHER RFIFITRRNKEGES



“"Remuneration Committee”

(FHEZEE

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARE

"Reporting Period”
[ &5 2R |

"RSU(s)"”
[ BR il B £ BE7 |

“Shanghai Chatian”

[ E/gzcm ]

“SFO" or "Securities and Futures

Ordinance”
[ 75 % K HAE 0 ]

“Share(s)”
[A%15 |

"Shareholder(s)”
[ A%

“Shenzhen Pindao Group”

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 Ffr

"

"substantial shareholder(s)

[EERR]
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the remuneration committee of the Board
ExgiEEe

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEVEEEBARE

the year ended December 31, 2023
BZE2023F12A31BLFE

restricted share unit(s) granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan

WRIZ 20205 B BR B A+ B th B 2 IR A0 BB AL

Shanghai Chatian Catering Management Co., Ltd. (/85 HEREES
R 2 7)), a company with limited liability established and existing under
the laws of the PRC

FBXAERERERAF  —RERPBEZEZERNFENEREETA
Al

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREDIEST1 EEF MG (ETRER] ~ MR IAR AT HE)

share(s) of the Company of nominal value of US$0.00005 each
AN AR EI{E0.000055 7T /Y A% 15

holder(s) of the Shares
R EFEE A

Shenzhen Pindao Group Co., Ltd. (YT B EEERAF]), a company
incorporated in the PRC on December 17, 2019 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company
FITRBEEERAR - —KN2019F12A17BEFBEFEMEAZHA
7 BARRNEZENB AR

Shenzhen Pindao Food & Beverage Management Co., Ltd. (FYI T miE&
BMEEAFRAF]), a company incorporated in the PRC on May 12, 2014
and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company

A mEEREEBRAR - —KK201465A128 £+ BFEM AL/
NE RARRNEEHE AR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMER BRG]

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

BB EWmARAE T ZARRE



DEFINITIONS
BE

“Tiantu Dongfeng”

[REIRE |

“Tiantu Entities”
[ REERE ]

“Tiantu Xingli”

[ REF |

“Tiantu Xingnan”

PNElN

“Tiantu Xingpeng”

N

“Uss”
A

"Zundao”

ll%ll
[%]

6 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZZEMHZIERER D7)

Shenzhen Tiantu Dongfeng Medium Small and Micro Enterprises Equity
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/& JIl T X B 3 1&
RN EEREREESERCE(AREE)), a limited partnership
established under the Laws of the PRC on July 25, 2017
RITRERER NICERBEREESERECE(AREE)  —FR0
20177 A25ARBHBVERKINEREBEE

collectively, Tiantu Xingli, Chengdu Tiantu, Tiantu Dongfeng, Tiantu
Xingnan and Tiantu Xingpeng
REES - RERE - RERIE - KE HeE KK B E# S H 4T

Shenzhen Tiantu Xingli Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(RINKBEIIEELZE(BRET)), a limited partnership established
under the Laws of the PRC on March 15, 2016
FYREETRELE(BRER) - —FHKN2016F3A15AREFEER
RIHBEREBEE

Shenzhen Tiantu Xingnan Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
7RIS MREAELEEX(BRAER)), alimited partnership
established under the Laws of the PRC on April 3, 2018
FYNRBEEREREGBERE(BREE) - —KN2018F4A3RAREPEE
RERNEREB B

Shenzhen Tiantu Xingpeng Consumption Industry Equity Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (RIIIK B ELHE A & = XA #1%
BESEBDLFE(BRER)), a limited partnership established under the
Laws of the PRC on December 29, 2017
RYRBEBEAOHBEEXREREESABREE(ARAR) - —FKKN2017
FI2A9BRBPBREERNINEREBEE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
ERHEEEBET

Dongguan Zundao Environmental Packaging Services Co., Ltd. (R5E
MEBEREBREZTEAR AR, a company established in PRC and is a
connected person of our Company
REMEBRRBEEEBERAR - —FKRPBEKIHRAF - WRKRRAE
HREAL

per cent

ADLE



COMPANY NAME
Nayuki Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Peng Xin
Mr. Deng Bin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Guoxing
Mr. Wong Tak-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yiwei
Ms. Zhang Rui
Mr. Xie Yongming

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Zhang Rui (Chairperson)
Mr. Liu Yiwei
Mr. Xie Yongming

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairperson)
Mr. Liu Yiwei
Mr. Xie Yongming

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Yiwei (Chairperson)
Mr. Zhao Lin
Mr. Xie Yongming

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Shi Chao
Ms. Ho Yin Kwan

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhao Lin
Ms. Ho Yin Kwan

AUDITOR

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LREH

LEGAL ADVISER

Eric Chow & Co. in Association with
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

3401, Alexandra House

18 Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Zone F, 2F, Building 3
Huangguan Science Park
Chegongmiao Industrial Zone
Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

RERER

BEHEMELR

B EM SRS
BB
iR
EFT 381855
BEILKE3401E

FEHSEMRERE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

BBRPEEEEF MR

oy

Ll

& M @
HEABIXRE
2RREE
IRFEE21E

BERETEEXME

B

AT

SR RNBH2485
KFTE FH 040

FEHERNBFETRE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands



HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Shenzhen Branch

China Merchants Bank Shenzhen Branch Building
No. 2016, Shennan Blvd

Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

China Everbright Bank Company Limited
Shenzhen Branch

1/F, Education Technology Building

No. 26 Zizhu 7th Road

Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

STOCK CODE
2150

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.naixuecha.com

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

ir@pin-dao.cn
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our

TXHINEREAEERBERBMBFEEZDN
EEURBENABNRE

Group for the last five financial years, is set out below:

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
202345 20224 20214 2020 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Revenue Wegs 5,164,056 4291586 4,296,618 3,057,181 2,501,510
Other income Hilg A 186,490 124,950 27,339 205,951 5,604
Cost of materials MR A (1,699,442)  (1,416,094)  (1,400,674)  (1,159,322) (915,653)
Staff costs BIKA (1,403,868)  (1,362,115)  (1,424,358) (919,096) (750,724)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREAENE (411,588) (434,930) (420,272) (352,912) (261,417)
Other rentals and related Hibfe KRR Y
expenses (306,258) (228,962) (212,996) (100,568) (127,379)
Depreciation and amortization HihBEMTE RS H
of other assets (304,439) (263,183) (204,026) (154,117) (92,534)
Advertising and promotion BERHEBRY
expenses (165,804) (142,933) (111,592) (82,172) (67,484)
Delivery service fees fxfRis g (392,638) (380,520) (258,976) (167,369) (64,435)
Utilities expenses KERY (143,899) (113,556) (90,750) (66,909) (51,659)
Logistic and storage fees WRkERE (140,833) (123,112) (90,502) (56,710) (39,891)
Other expenses HipFax (261,301) (249,578) (176,325) (123,655) (80,267)
Other net losses HiEEFE (45,912) (130,865) (38,746) (7.382) (2,176)
Finance costs BEKA (65,873) (80,326) (91,547) (130,258) (96,185)
Share of losses of associates (G 2 N\ B & 1R (38,722) (1,288) =
Fair value changes of financial AR BEFEEEZH:AA
assets at fair value through EHBER((UAREETE
profit or loss ("FVTPL") BHSBTAEHER )
SREENANEEE 36,141 (2,603) 7,560 = =
Fair value changes of financial WRRBESEEEEZEHFA
liabilities at FVTPL EHEENEREENDA
BEEE) = (2,989) (11,330) (132,757) =
Fair value changes of convertible ~ AJE [ ERE LKA R B
redeemable preferred shares Eg - - (4,329,052 - -
Profit/(loss) before taxation BANRR/ (F8) 6,110 (516,518) (4,529,629 (190,095) (42,690)
Income tax iR 5,056 40,712 4,105 (13,207) 3,010
Profit/(loss) for the year FRiEF/ (F8) 11,166 (475,806)  (4,525,524) (203,302) (39,680)
Non-IFRS measure FEBRI R REERGTE
Adjusted net profit/(loss) RBENE,/ (BR) (FE
(non-IFRS measure) PR BT o o 22 Rl 2 ) 20,912 (461,331) (145,265) 16,643 (11,735)
Adjusted net profit/(loss) RN/ (BR) &
margin (non-IFRS measure) @ (GERIRR B iR s
EAFTE)e 0.4% (10.7)% (3.4)% 0.5% (0.5)%




Notes:

(1) The adjusted net profit/(loss) (non-IFRS measure) is defined as net profit/(loss)
for the period adjusted by adding back fair value changes of financial liabilities
at FVTPL, fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares, listing
expenses, equity-settled share-based payment expenses, interest on redeemable
capital contributions, income from output value-added tax exemption and
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEHE

B EE -

RBEFNE(BR) GERBRM B RELAGE)
RE/BBNEARAREBENEBEEEHFAEY
BaneRAENA A BEREY  AERRLDE
EROARBELEY  LHAX  AESFEEUR
MAERNNRRAX - IRETEENNE - 2%

uncreditable input value-added tax.

(2) Calculated using adjusted net profit/(loss) (non-IFRS measure) divided by revenue

for a given period.

IR G B B P A5 R A T 7 BT 0 6 3 488 18 A5 T 5
BOHAFAE (B8) -

(2) RAKARTZAE(EBR) GEBR M B RE LA
B)RRABTE PR AT E -

As at December 31,

R12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 2022 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Assets, Liabilities and BE 86K
Equity/(Deficit) &/ (B4
Total assets BEE 7,540,364 6,939,700 7,328,446 3,314,109 2,051,148
Total liabilities mesE 2,718,592  (2,174,116)  (2,385,016)  (3,738,526)  (2,200,614)
Total equity/(deficit) B/ (B4 BE 4,821,772 4765584 4,943,430 (424,417) (149,466)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW

Established in Shenzhen City of Guangdong Province in 2014, the
Group is a catering group principally engaged in Chinese freshly-
made tea drinks chain operation, whose Shares were listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021. As a leading
manager and operator of premium modern teahouse brand in
China, we operate Nayuki teahouses which focus on offering a
broad array of freshly-made tea drinks and handcrafted baked
goods, and we establish a dual category model featured with “tea
drinks + European soft bread” in line with meeting two kinds of
pleasures by enjoying a nice cup of tea and a bite of European soft
bread, and are committed to becoming a global teahouse brand
loved by everyone, with creating and promoting the tea culture to
the world as our brand vision. We make high-quality and healthy
products with less sugar content, using high-quality ingredients
such as fresh fruits, high-quality tea leaves and fresh milk instead
of syrup, tea powder and creamer, building a lifestyle suitable for
modern people through tea drinks. Through our operated modern
teahouses, we have created a comfortable social space for our
customers and communities to get together. In order to promote
the long-term development of our brand, we have continued
to iterate on store space. As of December 31, 2023, our Group
has 1,574 Nayuki self-operated stores in 111 cities. In 2023, we
recorded net increase of 506 Nayuki self-operated stores.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, the offline consumer industry environment changed
considerably. With the COVID-19 outbreak rapidly receding, offline
consumer performance recovered quickly in the first quarter of
2023. However, this trend has not been sustained, with traditional
peak seasons such as the Labour Day holidays and the summer
season for students, in particular, performing largely in line with or
below expectations, and showing the characteristics of “demand
not robust during peak season”. If factors such as population
movement during holidays are excluded, the trend of change in
performance is basically the same across different regions and city
lines. In the case of the freshly-made tea industry, we have not
observed any major changes on the supply side, but there is no
doubt about the pressure on the demand side.

SRR
REBAE0UFHEREREFIT - 2
— KA IR R EEEE BZONER
S8 WHE2021F6A30H REEZFTER
Mo EBPRELENSHEFZRREERE
HEREEE  RAMECENRSHRRRE
BN REHSERARSAREEER B
N[—MEFR—OERE  ExFTBRMESE
7 IRAIT [+ EE e | EREER - B
RIKAZEREENZIRERREME] - A
[RAXXLERTEROAIFENESE |5
MIEFES - HMBHFITESRE  BREOE
Mo TR RAEES  UEERERE
EMER - WHBEFTIRENE  BEFR
BRES @ BRARXSITEEAERANES
AR BPIBEBEENRHRNE - ARF
MEITEEABENGFEANERIGH - A
REREREZER  RMEPISEZ=H_ETE
B - HE2023412A310 - AEBEEIN
EMmEEE1,574FEZNREETE © 2023
F o R RF IS0 ERENZHLE -

E 3 )

2023F - BT HBITERBEEA TERANE
1t - BEZE COVID-19& B R R E R » £2023
FE—FTE BRTEERBARME - A
i E—RBWARFHNHE LHEE R
BRENELEZHEERGETNRAEEER
FENBRTER » 2B [HEET0 | AR
2h o INBEERBEADRBERE  #1E
BB TERRRIRE - S B2 ME
AR—F - RIMBRERITEMS  HAWLRE
REHAARHIRERE L - AmERKAINE
NBEER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In response to the above, we made several adjustments in 2023,
the most significant of which was the franchise business. In late
July 2023, we formally announced the opening of franchising for
our main brand. As of the end of February 2024, approximately 200
franchise stores had opened. Franchise stores are mainly focused
on mid and low-tier cities, which will help us explore new markets
and tap new demand. In addition, we opened our first store in
Thailand at the end of 2023 and will continue to increase our
overseas expansion efforts thereafter.

In 2023, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately 20.3%
from RMB4,291.6 million in 2022 to RMB5,164.1 million, and the
adjusted net profit/(loss) changed from loss of RMB461.3 million in
2022 to profit of RMB20.9 million in 2023.

In 2023, we recorded store-level operating profit of RMB828.7
million for our Nayuki self-operated stores, representing an
increase of approximately 76.3% compared to 2022. The store-level
operating profit margin of Nayuki self-operated stores was 17.7%
in 2023, representing an increase of approximately 5.9 percentage
points compared to 2022. Net cash generated from operating
activities of the Group increased by approximately 170.2% from
RMB306.6 million in 2022 to RMB828.5 million.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total of 81 Nayuki
franchise stores, and we plan to provide the market with more
information on the performance of the franchise stores at an
appropriate time. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise
stated, the figures in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in respect of Nayuki teahouses include Nayuki self-
operated stores only.

THRWESH

At FMIE2023F M T ZEARE - Hep
EXETEBIMNEZER - 2023F7A T8 - &
PEREME EREFBINE - B ZE202452
AIK » #9200 MNBEPIEE&FZE - 18EFE
FEE G REHRT  BEBRBEMAR
Mg BREFAF R o M - FFI82023
FRARBEALERME @ BB FEMN
REHINTHBHRENE -

2023F » AEE W ABR2022FH AR
4,291.6B& T EF#203% = AR¥ES5,164.1
BET  KHBFIFE(EE) BN 202245F
BB ARKEA61 3F 8 TTE B2023F AT
AREE209F BT ©

2023F  REMNFRELEEHEMELE
FEAAREES287HETT © 82022F EFHH
76.3% ° 2023 F REMRELPIEPIEEE
AERE17.7%  8K2022F FFA L5985 »
Bh o REBEEEEAMBIR S FEEA2022F
MARKEI06.6AETLEFL1702%FE AR
828 5BB T °

B ZE2023F12A318 - REEHREIRRE
BV INEAPTE - RAIFHEIESENRK AT
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Teit - BRIFEFRIGER - [EEENwmE D]
EHERRENARRENBEERRERE
BREZPIE -
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THRWE S

Performance by sub-brands SmEXRIR
For the Reporting Period, Nayuki self-operated stores contributed NIPEHAR SENRXEELP9EEERN T AE
a vast majority of our revenue. In the foreseeable future, we IEl’]i@j(*B N ﬁff’ﬁﬁiaﬂ' fER 78 R HY
expect that Nayuki self-operated stores will continue to be our key AK RENXELEDNSERANTE
business. The following table sets out our performance by our sub- EEL o TREHY TRMZRBEE DR
brands. WIFEM o
For the year ended December 31,
BE12R31BLFE
2023 2022 Change
2023% 20225 g
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
AR¥T ARET ARET BOH
(in thousands, except percentages)
(ATF& - BB
Nayuki self-operated ~ FZHMZEE
stores ZPE 4,691,501 90.8 3,969,306 92.5 722,195 (1.7)
Ready-to-drink beverage #iZ4M# 266,619 5.2 157,031 37 109,588 15
Tai Gai £E 53,498 1.0 82,584 1.9 (29,086) 0.9
Others" E b 152,438 3.0 82,665 1.9 69,773 1.1
Total @t 5,164,056 100.0 4,291,586 100.0 872,470 N/A NEMA
For the year ended For the year ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
BZE2023F12A31HLEE EZE2022F12H31HEFE
Store-level Store-level Store-level Store-level
Operating Operating Profit Operating Operating Profit
Profit® Margin@? Profit® Margin®
e I R P R PG PG
FEe ME=xe e FExe
RMB % RMB %
AR% R AR¥ETT
(in thousands, except percentages)
(JAF&t - BAERIN)
Nayuki self-operated stores XERIZH £ FT /& 828,723 17.7 469,945 11.8
Tai Gai B (8,440) (15.8) (11,949) (14.5)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

For the For the
year ended year ended
December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022
BE2023F HZE2022F
12A31H 12A31H
EFE FE
Nayuki self-operated stores RENFEEME
Average sales value BEIBEVHHERE
per order(RMB)® (ARE&IT)® 29.6 34.3
Average orders per teahouse BRAKETY
per day(#)® HiTEE(#)® 344.3 348.2
Notes: et -

M

Including revenue derived from business lines other than Nayuki self-operated
stores, Tai Gai teahouses and ready-to-drink beverage, which consist primarily of
sales of gifts such as gift tea boxes, seasonal gift sets and retail products, as well
as revenue generated from our franchise business.

m

BERSORELPE  AERKE - BERA
SNVEEREEMKRA  HRTERERER - &
FAREESEHFRERRTEERHEREU LRI
OO0 BE TSR AVULA ©

(2) We define store-level operating profit as revenue deducting operational costs, 2 HEMBPELCEFBEEASERERENMIEE
comprising costs of materials, staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, HWAHREENESERE  BEMBKE BT
other rentals and related expenses, depreciation and amortization of other BRA - FREESENE  HaAe RAEMRL X
assets, utilities expenses and delivery expenses, incurred at the store level under MEETEREN KEFIUAREXHAY - PIE
each teahouse brand, while store-level operating profit margin is calculated by A M) P SRR AR P 45 R R LA A B R RS ) A
dividing store-level operating profit by revenue for the corresponding period. iE -

(3) Calculated by the revenue generated by a Nayuki self-operated store in certain () RE-—HEHEBSSHEELHEELENW AR LA
period divided by the total number of orders placed by customers to such Nayuki REBEFRAZEARENREZEME TENFTERE
self-operated store in the same period. iE -

(4) Calculated by the arithmetic average amount of valid orders per day of a Nayuki (4) BRE-—HEEAESNLAELHESEERTEY

self-operated store in certain period.

EMFOBGEE -



16 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 2R AR A 8

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Performance by business lines DR KRIA

We intend to modernize China’s long-lived tea-drinking culture and FMFHERBIREER R EERNAR
promote it to more customers by offering freshly-made tea drinks WIRAERER  APB/KRANTH UL E
and baked goods coupled with enjoyable customer experience. ABRITEVEEREEZEEZER - Rtz -
Moreover, in order to cater to the diversified demands of our BTREZEANENR Rt #HEL TIHRE
customers, we have launched ready-to-drink beverage and various TRUANBEER - HFEEANZEZE
retail products such as snacks and gift products. The following Eme TR#EHTRMZEBREHHRERR

table sets out our performance by business lines. 1 o

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12831ALLEE
2023 2022 Change
2023% 2022 £
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
ARH®T ARBT ARET BOH
(in thousands, except percentages)
(AF& - BB
Freshly-made tea
drinks REAR 3,776,943 731 3,135,326 73.0 641,617 0.1
Baked goods HEER 707,662 13.7 775,672 18.1 (68,010) (4.4
Ready-to-drink
beverage e 266,619 5.2 157,031 37 109,588 1.5
Others Hio 412,832 8.0 223,557 5.2 189,275 2.8
Total o 5,164,056 100.0 4,291,586 100.0 872,470 N/A 1@ F
Note: Btet -
(1) Primarily include coffee, peripheral products, retail products and gifts, such (1 FEZeENY - AfER ZEEMEHFE  ©@
as gift tea boxes, snacks, seasonal gift sets and revenue generated from our XER TR HEERTEE2AREKMAMEZE

franchise business. N N



Performance by income sources — Nayuki self-operated

stores

The following table sets out the performance of Nayuki self-
operated stores by income sources.
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THRWESH

DWARIRRIR - RENXEZPIE

TRETRENTEEPIED WA RIRE
RIBEM

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
2023 2022 Change
2023F 20225 B

Percentage

RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)

ARER AR AR BAE

(in thousands, except percentages)
(BAF&t - B BRI
Nayuki self-operated ~ REMN%
stores BEEME
Order at store counter”  PY[E2LES( 680,195 14.5 759,744 19.1 (79,549) (4.6)
Pickup orders? Hiz:] B 2,044,667 43.6 1,372,624 34.6 672,043 9.0
Delivery orders® HNEETEC 1,966,639 41.9 1,836,938 46.3 129,701 (4.4)
Total Foy 4,691,501 100.0 3,969,306 100.0 722,195  N/A T@EMA
Notes: BtaE -

(1) Representing revenue generated from customer orders placed on-site at Nayuki
self-operated stores (excluding orders placed through our WeChat, Alipay and
third-party platform mini programs).

(2) Representing revenue generated from customer orders placed through our
WeChat, Alipay and third-party platform mini programs.

(3) Representing revenue generated from delivery orders that require delivery
services. In 2023, out of the revenue of the Group’s Nayuki self-operated stores,
approximately 35.5% was derived from revenue generated from delivery orders
placed by third-party platforms; and approximately 6.4% was derived from
revenue generated from delivery orders placed by the Group's self-operated
platform.

Nayuki Membership Program

As at December 31, 2023, the Company had registered members
of approximately 80.5 million. The monthly active members®™ of the
Company amounted to approximately 4.7 million, with a monthly
repurchase rate® of approximately 23.9%.

Notes:

(1) Representing the average number of members who ordered our products at least
once a month during 2023;

(2) Representing the average proportion of active members who ordered our
products at least twice a month during 2023.

() EEZMORESHXELFIERSTER,IE(T
BREBEEFANME XNBERF=ZFFEPIEF
P NRT 8 FREE IR ©

2 EEBEMOME INBERF=FFEPEFT
EHRPATEMEERRA -

Q) EFBRARBHIFITETELENRA - 2023
F o AEERSHREEFERANLI5.5%RE R
FE=ZHEFETENIEITEMEENRA - 4
bARRENARBELEFETENIIEIIEMESE
oL N

ZEREER

M2023F12A31H - K“ﬂﬁﬁgéﬁﬁﬁ
E|49805B 8% 0 AEGERE VA ERL
A7EBS - AEEEXR423.9% o

(1) 182023GRN ' BEAZLBE - XAFEMNEE
HEMNTFHE

A

(2) #2023 R - HEAZIBEMRAARERNER
hERE BLLPIEFI9E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS OF NAYUKI SELF-
OPERATED STORES

Number and distribution of stores

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had 1,574 Nayuki self-
operated stores in 111 cities. In 2023, we recorded a net increase
of 506 Nayuki self-operated stores. We insist on further expanding
our teahouse network and increasing market penetration mainly in

RENREEMERRIM

FIESE Ko

HE2023F12A31H - AEBEI1EHT
BB S57T4MRENRE LG © 2023F © F
TIFFILS06HREMREEPYE - RMBH
FEREBEN & F—BNEH W™

the existing Tier 1 cities, New Tier 1 cities and key Tier 2 cities, so as

to cultivate and consolidate consumers’ consumption habits. The

E—TRERRPEFELIRS

7/71//5? !

AHIEEME lﬁ%%ﬁ’]ﬁ%ﬁ%’ra o NERH

following table sets out the breakdown of the number of our Nayuki 3| 7 B iRt B B S NEEN R E L
self-operated stores by geographic location. JEEE R -
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
R20234F R20224F
12A31H 12A31H
Number of Type-l Teahouses(#) E-EERMUETEE#)
Tier 1 cities — BT 398 309
New Tier 1 cities ST 421 294
Tier 2 cities AR 278 213
Other cities™ H A o 133 80
Total et 1,230 896
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
R20234F 120224F
12A31H 12HA31H
Number of Type-Il Teahouses(#) ETEERMUEEAE(#)
Tier 1 cities — T 144 64
New Tier 1 cities H—mE 131 63
Tier 2 cities AR 50 29
Other cities™ EH A3 O 19 16
Total st 344 172
Note: M -

(1) Including (i) cities of other tiers across mainland China; and (ii) cities outside

mainland China.

() BFEOTBEAREEMGRT : R B ARBEFIMNE

T o
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TEBHRRE S

Performance by market STHIBERIE
The following table sets out certain key performance indicators for TEHI T EFHPE S FRHRERE
stores in certain cities. =

As of and for the year ended
December 31, 2023
EF2023F12A318 K

BEZRALFE
Store-level
Average operating
Number of daily sales per profit
stores")(#) teahouse margin®
FHEEH e R
FIIEEE O(#) HE® FMB=E
(RMB'000) (%)

(AR®T )

Nayuki self-operated stores RENFEEEME

Shenzhen el 208 14.6 23.2
Shanghai udic) 94 11.0 15.0
Guangzhou BEM 101 11.1 19.2
Wuhan EWE 86 9.8 18.9
Xi'an AL 57 12.2 24.7
Beijing HAETR 77 11.3 12.6

The following table sets out certain key performance indicators for TREH TRERHMTFIENE TERE
stores in different tiered cities. Fo4T o

For the year ended December 31,

HE12A3ALEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 20225 2023% 20225
Number of Average daily sales Store-level operating
stores"(#) per teahouse profit margin®@
FAE SR O(#) FHEEBHER FEE &R Exe
(RMB'000) (%)
(ARETTT)
Nayuki self-operated stores REWREEME
Tier 1 cities —mm 480 12.7 14.4 19.6 13.5
New Tier 1 cities M—EREm 480 9.5 1.4 17.3 12.6
Tier 2 cities s 302 9.6 1.1 18.1 13.0

Other cities® Hpmo 131 9.7 11.9 19.6 16.6
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

The following table sets out certain same-store key performance

indicators of Nayuki self-operated stores in certain cities.

TREITETHHIRE

VREEFENE

TRIEBREMIER

For the year ended December 31,

HE12A31HLEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 20225 2023% 20225
Number of Average daily sales Store-level operating
stores®(#) per teahouse profit margin®@
FIESE “(#) THEERHER PERER AR
(RMB'000) (%)
(AR®TTT)
Nayuki self-operated stores REMNEXEEFME
Shenzhen A 143 16.0 17.4 23.4 17.7
Shanghai s} 57 11.5 1.1 14.0 3.6
Guangzhou BN 68 11.5 12.4 18.7 134
Wuhan HiE 51 10.7 1.5 19.0 113
Xi'an F% 38 13.1 13.6 25.0 18.4
Beijing 514 54 11.9 11.5 12.5 4.9
Notes: et -

M

Only including stores that opened for at least 60 days as of December 31, 2023
and did not cease operation as of December 31, 2023. We are of view that
stores opened for less than 60 days may be significantly affected by opening
promotions, “store opening customer traffic” and other factors, which may
lead to the overall data being unrepresentative and misleading to investors.
Therefore, we have excluded those stores.

Since there are one-off opening expenses, including but are not limited to, pre-
operating labor costs for the teahouse and other expenses, to be included in the
profit and loss for the month that the teahouse commences operation, it will be
not meaningful for reference due to the fact that the store-level profit margin of
such teahouses to be significantly affected by the opening expenses. To facilitate
investors to have a better understanding and compare the daily profitability of
teahouses in different types, the store-level operating profit margin listed in
the table has excluded the impact of the one-off opening expenses mentioned
above.

Including (i) cities of other tiers across mainland China; and (ii) cities outside
mainland China.

Only including stores that operated for at least 60 days in 2022 and 2023 and did
not cease operations as of December 31, 2023.

M

EBEEE2023F12A31 BRERETLR60K
HB2023F 12 A31 B MARE L& 2PIE - KPR
5 RERBAOROXMFIE RS EIMEREE
g [AXRTPREISERTYEBA  AJERE
BEETARKE  HIREHEKRE - At - &
5 5 58 LePYE BERRTE DD ©

HRAREFREE Bi§E —RIERME R ABE
(EPBEETERRN : ZARRIEFEANOANER
%) HPEREFIEEHZIRABEANEETE
MAELZEESE - RTEPREETFHIBHET Y
LR RBRRREN B ERFGED - ARBHAIIR
ZFPEREFERE B Bt —RERBERMS

REEE -

BIEOTERELMART ¢ R (i) T ERESIML
e

2 BIEE20224F [ 2023 F & 2B 1 TN D R60K -
2023512 A31 B EARBIEEHEZPIE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Performance by store nature APIEMHERR
The following table sets out certain key performance indicators of THRIRTESHRE —ERARIEME 4
Type-l Teahouses and Type-Il Teahouses. RRENE TRAREBUIEER -

As of and for the year ended
December 31, 2023
HZE2023F12A3MBREZEZALEE

Store-level
Average daily operating
Number of sales per profit
stores")(#) teahouse margin®
FHEEH e R
FITE 8B O(#) HER B
(RMB’000) (%)
(AR¥T )
Type-| Teahouses F—RBREIE 1,105 11.1 18.3
Type-Il Teahouses el PS5/ §r 288 8.5 20.4

Notes: mat -

(1) Only including stores that opened for at least 60 days as of December 31, 2023 (1) ERFEHZE2023F12A31BHERRBTDR60K -
and did not cease operation as of December 31, 2023. We are of view that B2023F12A31 B ERELLEHEZME - MR
stores opened for less than 60 days may be significantly affected by opening ® o FERBDR60RFIE AT AL X 25 X2 8H)E
promotions, “store opening customer traffic” and other factors, which may B [RAEZEPREISERTEBAN  ATEHE
lead to the overall data being unrepresentative and misleading to investors. BEETAREKMY  HIREEEKRE - At - &
Therefore, we have excluded those stores. I8 535 L PYEHEBRTESN ©

(2)  Since there are one-off opening expenses, including but are not limited to, pre- (2 BHRFHREREEABE - RERNERT AERE
operating labor costs for the teahouse and other expenses, to be included in the (A B ETERR  ZRGREHZATNA R
profit and loss for the month that the teahouse commences operation, it will be &) HFEREFEE=HZIRARERNBRERE
not meaningful for reference due to the fact that the store-level profit margin of MAELEER - BRTEMHREET IFHMIBMIAI
such teahouses to be significantly affected by the opening expenses. To facilitate L RBRARRERN BB RBFIGE S - AREHIIT
investors to have a better understanding and compare the daily profitability of ZPIERETERE SR Dt — R MEFRB B RMRS
teahouses in different types, the store-level operating profit margin listed in REVFE o

the table has excluded the impact of the one-off opening expenses mentioned
above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Unit economic model B KBS
The following table sets forth the changes in the unit economic ~ FTXRFIRTESHXELFIEE K BER
model of the stores of Nayuki self-operated stores: BILER

For the year ended
December 31,

BZ12A3MBLEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Labour(%) AF1(%) 20.3 235

Rent(%) (%) 14.5 15.5

Delivery order fee(%) SINEER(%) 8.2 9.4
Raw material, utilities expenses, other BME - KEER ETinE#

depreciation and amortization(%)™ $5(%)m 39.3 39.7

Store-level operating profit margin(%) Y& FIEE(%) 17.7 11.9

Note: Wi -

" Raw material cost ratio remains stable, utilities expenses are basically variable O EMERARRBEET  KEERELRATZHK
costs and other depreciation and amortization are fixed cost. We believe that K HImEBEAEBTKAN - HFRE Hi=
the other three cost ratios (i.e., labour, rent, and delivery order fee) are the main ERARED : AN HEBEINEER) T E2REH
indicators of the optimisation in the unit economic model of the stores. JE BB A B EEBIEE o

OUTLOOK RE

Looking ahead to 2024, we expect demand pressures to continue. B 20244  BiFAstESRim B D154
In this regard, we will step up the upgrading and promotion of & o Al - BB IR LAE B FK—

our classic products such as the “Nayuki Fragrant Octet” series, ENE] R EKHEEDARMEE - W@
which is a drinkable “perfume”, and maintain a reasonable and BEEZESERN  £EASEMBESRN S
proactive marketing effort through co-branding activities, in order HE  UEBEEEBEENEZER - ML GES
to consolidate consumer demand. We will also continue to invest WAIBEENIBINTIERE  LEAREE
in franchise business and overseas expansion to reach consumers IS HDEEE - 202428 - BB T ¥
in a wider range of markets. In February 2024, we optimized our MEENEX  BEERE AEE - Y1HE
franchisee requirements, with more flexible types of stores and ABKERBERINE & - S8 EBREINER
lower initial investment costs. This will help to reduce the pressure MESE  BIHINBEEKSFEEE -

on franchisees’ capital and support the continued growth of the

franchise business.

We will further strengthen our focus on the quality of growth and R E—S Mt EEEeNET - @B
increase profits by improving efficiency. We expect to make greater REEBERE - BB BEP B
optimization adjustments to middle and back-office labor costs. AIKEMEE AN EB(LFAE - R @ fBEE

Meanwhile, with the development of the industry, changes in the 1TERRE L EEBREBELEARATSEE(L
external consumer environment and the capital market, while the SEEl RS ERNRE  EBEHEAE

top brands continue to grow, there may be a “crowding out effect” Fgmt « PNEEELE [ RE | -

on small and medium brands with weaker overall strength.
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In terms of capital security, as at December 31, 2023, the Group
held cash and deposits totaling RMB2,983.5 million and had no
interest-bearing borrowings. We have sufficient cash and cash flow
to support operations and expansion. Currently, we have no plan
for large-scale refinancing.

In this complex market environment, we sincerely thank our
Shareholders and analysts for their continued interest and support.
In 2024, we will continue to endeavor to provide market-leading
communications and services in the capital markets. We believe
that with the efforts of all our partners in broadening sources of
income and reducing costs, the Company will deliver satisfactory
fundamental results to the market.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generates substantially all of its revenue from sales of
products offered by Nayuki self-operated stores. For the Reporting
Period and 2022, Nayuki self-operated stores contributed 90.8%
and 92.5% of the total revenue, respectively. The remaining small
portion of revenue was mainly derived from our ready-to-drink
beverage business, teahouses operated under our sub-brand Tai
Gai as well as the franchise business.

The Group recorded revenue of RMB5,164.1 million for the
Reporting Period (2022: RMB4,291.6 million), representing an
increase of approximately 20.3% as compared with 2022. The
increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the on-going
increase in number of operating stores of the Group and the
relaxation of control measures on COVID-19 across the regions in
the mainland China in 2023.

Other income

Other income of the Group consists primarily of (i) interest income
on bank deposits, term deposits and rental deposits; and (ii)
government grants, primarily representing unconditional cash
awards granted by local governments. Other income of the Group
amounted to RMB186.5 million for the Reporting Period (2022:
RMB125.0 million). The increase in the Group’s other income was
primarily due to the increase in interest income from term deposits.

THRWESH

BT ME N20235FE12A8310 » K&EE
BERERTFHREFARYE2983588 T
WEHREBEMER - KZMBEXTEHNHRESMNE
ERTFHELFAER - BRI - BRIFPRA KRR
HEREMNTE -

EEMOTHERET - B8RRI RR
BT BN R FF B BT A S HF © 20244F - T A
BH#ERNIRHTISALENEAT S B RE
K% - BMEE  EERBHFAROTNS
AT REEATSRXH S AmENE
AEES e

Bt 15 B B

L&
AEEEBRENREEPUSIRAN0E R
EEERBA WS o RIS HIRI K 20225 -
REMFELFIE D BIEER90.8% K92 5%H)
s - RIIFBN ) ESREEBRAER
e RRRNES  RANTFRIEAEES
B2 B A R BB 27

RBEHRE  AEEHSKREAEARE
5164 1EBITL(20224F : AR¥EA4,291.6BHE
JC) * 20225 8 NN4920.3% + W ek Ay 3G A0
THAAEELEMERENFELIMNA KR
720234 AR B K BE # [ COVID-195% B B 4%
B BRI IR ©

H A

AEEEMBPATZEREORITER  EH
FREBEEZESONEWA - R (i) BT
By TERIEMTBRAFR G A ERIFR S
B o RmEHE AKBEBEARAR
#1865 BT (20224 : AR¥12508 8
TT) o ANEE AWK ANE N EERTERFR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Expenses
Cost of materials

Cost of materials consists primarily of (i) cost of raw materials,
including tea leaves, dairy products, seasonal fruits, juices, and
other raw materials used for the preparation of our freshly made tea
drinks, baked goods and other products; and (ii) cost of packaging
materials and consumables such as tea cups and paper bags.

Cost of materials of the Group amounted to RMB1,699.4 million,
representing 32.9% of the total revenue for the Reporting Period,
compared to RMB1,416.1 million, representing 33.0% of the total
revenue for 2022. For the Reporting Period, our cost of materials
increased by 20.0% as compared to the same period in 2022,
which is generally in line with our overall business growth trend.
For the Reporting Period, the proportion of cost of materials over
total revenue remained generally stable as compared to the same
period in 2022.

Staff costs

Staff costs consist primarily of (i) salaries, wages and other benefits;
(ii) contributions to defined contribution retirement plan; (iii)
equity-settled share-based payment expenses; and (iv) outsourced
staff costs.

Staff costs of the Group amounted to RMB1,403.9 million,
representing 27.2% of the total revenue for the Reporting Period,
compared to RMB1,362.1 million, representing 31.7% of the total
revenue for 2022. The proportion of staff costs over total revenue
decreased, primarily due to the steady improvement in the
efficiency of the Group’s human resources. During the Reporting
Period, staff costs classified by brands included: (i) store-level staff
costs for Nayuki self-operated stores, which amounted to RMB954.6
million, representing 20.3% of revenue for Nayuki self-operated
stores; (ii) staff costs for ready-to-drink beverage business, which
amounted to RMB73.4 million, representing 27.5% of revenue for
ready-to-drink beverage; and (iii) staff costs for headquarters and
others, which amounted to RMB375.9 million, representing 7.3% of
the total revenue.

7 S

VI
MHERAEZZEBEONRMBKA - 8%
¥ IA MEESKR Bt URHE
AR B EIREARR - HEEMNAREME
B RFTRL DA (i) B M B OB RE fn B K

AR AR R AR

RBEHE  AEEMEKEBARE
1,699.48 87T  HRKZEAI32.9% + ™M2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of right-of-use assets represents depreciation
charges for the Group's leases. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is recognized using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease term. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets of the Group amounted to RMB411.6 million
for the Reporting Period, representing 8.0% of the Group's total
revenue during the Reporting Period (2022: RMB434.9 million,
representing 10.1% of the Group’s revenue for 2022). For the
Reporting Period, the decrease in the Group's proportion of
depreciation of right-of-use assets over total revenue was primarily
due to (i) the decrease in store rental unit price as a result of the
Group's improved bargaining power in respect of newly signed
leases; and (ii) the leased area of the newly opened Nayuki stores is
reduced as compared to that of Nayuki regular teahouses.

Other rentals and related expenses

Our other rentals and related expenses mainly include (i) variable
lease payments which subject to some specified event or condition;
and (ii) short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets.

Other rentals and related expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB306.3 million for the Reporting Period, representing 5.9%
of the Group's total revenue during the Reporting Period (2022:
RMB229.0 million, representing 5.3% of the Group’s revenue for
2022). The increase in other rentals and related expenses of the
Group and the increase in the proportion of that over total revenue
was mainly due to the increase in the proportion of the Group's
newly signed leases with variable lease payments.

Depreciation and amortization of other assets

Depreciation and amortization of other assets represent
depreciation charges for property and equipment and depreciation
expenses for leasehold improvements. Depreciation and
amortization of other assets of the Group amounted to RMB304.4
million for the Reporting Period, representing 5.9% of the Group's
total revenue during the Reporting Period (2022: RMB263.2 million,
representing 6.1% of the Group's revenue for 2022). The proportion
of depreciation and amortization of other assets over total revenue
remained generally stable as compared to the same period in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Advertising and promotion expenses

Advertising and promotion expenses primarily represent expenses
incurred in connection with marketing, branding and promotion
activities of the Group. Advertising and promotion expenses
of the Group amounted to RMB165.8 million for the Reporting
Period, representing 3.2% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2022: RMB142.9 million, representing 3.3% of the
Group's revenue for 2022).

Delivery service fees

Delivery service fees represent fees paid by the Group to third-
party delivery service providers. Delivery service fees of the
Group amounted to RMB392.6 million for the Reporting Period,
representing 7.6% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2022: RMB380.5 million, representing 8.9% of the
Group's revenue for 2022). The proportion of delivery service fees
over total revenue decreased, primarily due to the decrease in the
proportion of delivery orders from the Group's teahouses after the
relaxation of control measures on COVID-19 in 2023.

Utilities expenses

Utilities expenses consist primarily of expenses in relation to
electricity utilities, and to a lesser extent, gas and water utilities that
are attributable to the operation of the Group's teahouses. Utilities
expenses of the Group amounted to RMB143.9 million for the
Reporting Period, representing 2.8% of the Group's total revenue
during the Reporting Period (2022: RMB113.6 million, representing
2.6% of the Group's revenue for 2022).

Logistic and storage fees

Logistic and storage fees represent fees paid by the Group to
third-party service providers for raw materials transportation
and warehousing services. Logistic and storage fees of the
Group amounted to RMB140.8 million for the Reporting Period,
representing 2.7% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2022: RMB123.1 million, representing 2.9% of the
Group's revenue for 2022).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance costs

Finance costs consist primarily of interests on lease liabilities.
Finance costs of the Group amounted to RMB65.9 million for the
Reporting Period, representing 1.3% of the Group's total revenue
during the Reporting Period (2022: RMB80.3 million, representing
1.8% of the Group's revenue for 2022). The following table sets
forth the components of our finance costs for the period indicated,
both in absolute amount and as a percentage of total revenue.
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For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A3MBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR%T ARMTT

(in thousands, except percentages)

(ATEE - BALERSN)

Interest on lease liabilities FHE&BEFE 64,797 1.3 79,182 1.8
Interest on provisions BEF B 1,076 0.0 1,144 0.0
65,873 1.3 80,326 1.8

Other expenses At 52

Other expenses consist primarily of (i) administrative expenses
incurred during the ordinary course of business of the Group,
such as telecommunication expenses and maintenance expenses;
(ii) travelling and business development expenses incurred by
employees of the Group; (iii) other-party service fees representing
costs associated with other party management consulting and
other professional services; (iv) impairment losses; and (v) others,
such as insurance fees and other tax and surcharges. Other
expenses of the Group amounted to RMB261.3 million for the
Reporting Period, representing 5.1% of the Group's total revenue
during the Reporting Period (2022: RMB249.6 million, representing
5.8% of the Group’s revenue for 2022). The following table sets
forth the components of our other expenses in absolute amounts
and as percentages of total revenue for the periods indicated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR AR

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&E - BALLRRSM)

Administrative expenses THRAX 150,558 2.9 142,016 3.3
Travelling and business

development expenses  ZIK K EBFHEF 49,785 1.0 40,825 1.0

Other-party service fees Hith RS & 13,626 0.3 23,257 0.5
Impairment losses and

write-down of inventories J5{& &518 K17 & MR 14,044 0.3 18,368 0.4

Others Efb 33,288 0.6 25,112 0.6

261,301 5.1 249,578 5.8

Income Tax RS

The income tax benefits of the Group amounted to RMB5.1 million
for the Reporting Period. The income tax benefits of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2022 amounted to RMB40.7 million.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group's consolidated financial statements that
are presented in accordance with IFRS, the Group also use adjusted
net profit/(loss) (non-IFRS measure) as an additional financial
measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with,
IFRS. The Group believes that this non-IFRS measure facilitates
comparisons of operating performance from period to period
and company to company by eliminating potential impact of
items that our management does not consider to be indicative
of the Group'’s operating performance. The Group believes
that this measure provides useful information to investors and
others in understanding and evaluating the Group's consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as it helps the Group's
management. However, the Group’s presentation of adjusted net
profit/(loss) (non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures presented by other companies. The use of this non-
IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and the investors
should not consider them in isolation from, or as substitute for
analysis of, the Group's results of operations or financial condition
as reported under IFRS.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Year Ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
(RMB in thousands)
(AR¥TFTT)
Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) FBRE (SR BERRE
and adjusted net profit/(loss) R, (E58) GEERR B
(non-IFRS measure) WMEEAFE) ZHER
Net profit/(loss) for the year FRFFE,(BE) 11,166 (475,800)
Add: -
Equity-settled share-based payment UARE RS A5 LARR D AR Y
expenses RRFZO 9.746 14,475
Adjusted net profit/(loss) (non-IFRS R EFNE, (EE) GER
measure) FRABWEEAE) 20,912 (461,331)
Adjusted net profit/(loss) margin KEAEFFRE, (B8 ) & (3F
(non-IFRS measure)? B O s S ERIET =)@ 0.4% (10.7)%

Notes:

(1) Equity-settled share-based payment expenses consist of share options and
RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, which are non-cash and non-
operational in nature and they are not directly correlate with the Group's business
performance in a given period.

(2) Calculated using adjusted net profit/(loss) (non-IFRS measure) divided by revenue
in a given period.

Cash, Bank Deposits and Borrowings

As of December 31, 2023, the total cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounted to RMB444.3 million (as of December 31, 2022:
RMB1,387.5 million) and the total term deposits and certificates
of deposit of the Group amounted to RMB2,539.1 million (as of
December 31, 2022: RMB2,088.8 million), primarily denominated in
RMB, USD and HKD. As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not
have any interest-bearing borrowings (as of December 31, 2022:
Nil).

Right-of-Use Assets

The Group's right-of-use assets primarily represent the leases for
the Group's teahouses, office at headquarters and warehouses.
As of December 31, 2023, the right-of-use assets of the Group
amounted to RMB1,609.2 million (as of December 31, 2022:
RMB1,273.3 million). The balance of the Group's right-of-use assets
is in line with the growth trend in the number of the Group’s stores.

Byt

() ARREAEEARG RER MR X 2IER %2020
FRAD BN AT B8R A R AR e R B AR ) BE i BB
FREMFEEME  BRAKERGEHRAE
BRI EE RS -

(2 FRAEHBFFE,(EE) GERMRE %R & 285
BB N E RN KETE -

Re -~ |ITERKLER
HE2023F128318 » AEEWME S IR
SEEMRBAAREIMIIEE L (HE
202212 A31H : AR¥1,387.58&7T) A
RASEFEHGERARABEERERARE
2,539 1 BE T (HE20229F12A318 : AR
#20888EBIL) TBUARK - ETR
BITETE © 2iE2023F12A318 « AEEE
sHEME R (EE2022F12 8318 : ) o

FREEE
AEBFERBEEFZEREASENRRK
JEoBRMERREEMNHELY o # E2023
F12R318 - AEBEFEREEEASARE
1,6092B &L (& E2022912H831H : AR
¥1,2733B87) - AEEFHAEEENR
HEAEBEMEHEHEBIE N -



30 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZxE#ZIERER D 7

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Property and Equipment

The Group's property and equipment consist primarily of leasehold
improvements, office building situated on leasehold land, kitchen
equipment, furniture equipment, electronic equipment and others
and construction in progress. As of December 31, 2023, the
property and equipment of the Group amounted to RMB1,419.2
million (as of December 31, 2022: RMB1,024.1 million). The increase
in the Group's property and equipment was primarily due to the
increased number of the Group's stores.

Inventories

The Group’s inventories consist primarily of raw materials and
packaging materials. As of December 31, 2023, the inventories
of the Group amounted to RMB147.2 million (as of December 31,
2022: RMB126.3 million).

The Group's inventories turnover days decreased from 38.7 days for
2022 to 29.4 days for the Reporting Period.

Trade and Other Receivables and Prepayments

The Group's trade receivables consist primarily of receivables due
from third parties in connection with the sales of products. The
Group's other receivables and prepayments consist primarily of
input valued-added tax recoverable in connection with purchase of
raw materials, rental deposits within one year, interest receivables
and prepayments to suppliers. Trade and other receivables and
prepayments of the Group decreased from RMB376.5 million as of
December 31, 2022 to RMB250.4 million as of December 31, 2023,
which was mainly due to the fully settlement of the loan to the
Investment (as defined below) upon the completion of the relevant
acquisition transaction.

Trade and Other Payables

The Group's trade payables consist primarily of trade payables
to the Group’s raw materials suppliers. The Group also recorded
other payables and accrued charges in connection with various
aspects of its operations, including (i) payroll and welfare
payables to employees; (ii) payables for purchase of property and
equipment; (iii) accrued charges, which are mainly utilities; and
(iv) others. Trade and other payables of the Group increased from
RMB478.5 million as of December 31, 2022 to RMB635.8 million
as of December 31, 2023, which was mainly due to the increase in
the payables for raw materials procurement and the payables for
property and equipment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2023, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as
total debt divided by total assets, was 36.0%, as compared with
31.3% as of December 31, 2022.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach for
its treasury policy to ensure that the Group's liquidity structure
comprising assets, liabilities and other commitments is able to
always meet its capital requirements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Taking into account the financial resources available to the
Group, including cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from
operations and available facilities of the Company, and the net
proceeds from the Global Offering, and after diligent and careful
investigation, the Directors are of the view that the Group has
sufficient working capital required for the Group's operations at
present.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had total cash and cash
equivalents of RMB444.3 million (as of December 31, 2022:
RMB1,387.5 million). In 2023, the Group mainly used cash for
store operation and deposited part of idle cash into banks for
term deposits and certificates of deposit (as of December 31,
2023, the total term deposits and certificates of deposit of the
Group amounted to RMB2,539.1 million (as of December 31, 2022:
RMB2,088.8 million)).

The current ratio as of December 31, 2023 was approximately 2.27
times (as of December 31, 2022: approximately 3.30 times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

For the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China
and the majority of the transactions were settled in RMB. As of
December 31, 2023, apart from cash and cash equivalents and term
deposits denominated in foreign currency, the Group did not have
any significant foreign exchange risk in its business operations.
During the Reporting Period, several forward foreign exchange
contracts entered into by the Group in prior years have been fully
knocked out. The Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange
changes to best preserve the Group's cash value.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Our capital expenditures amounted to approximately RMB540.9
million for the Reporting Period, which were incurred primarily in
connection with payment for purchase of equipment and leasehold
improvements.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not pledge any group
assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As of December 31, 2023, save for the “Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Affiliated Companies” in
this report, there was no significant investment held by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As of December 31, 2023, save for the “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have any
future plan for material investments or capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
December 5, 2022, December 19, 2022, January 6, 2023 and June 2,
2023 in relation to the Group’s investment in Shanghai Chatian (the
“Investment”).

Shanghai Chatian is a company established in the PRC with limited
liability and is the operator of the "LELECHA" brand. Founded in
2016, "LELECHA" is one of the leading brands in freshly-made tea
industry in the PRC, focusing on offering freshly-made tea drinks
and bakery goods with signature products such as Dirty Milk Tea
series (BEBEZS £ %)) and Dirty Bakery series (Bi& 8 &%), which
gained widespread popularity among the customers. The Directors
are of the view that the Investment will further enhance the brand
diversity of the Group, reduce the Group's costs in store expansion
and operation, and optimize the competitive environment of the
freshly-made tea industry in the PRC. After taking into account
of its terms and conditions, the Directors are further of the view
that the Investment is determined on normal commercial terms, is
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

On March 1, 2023, the Group received the “Decision on No Further
Examination in relation to Concentration of Business Operators
and Anti-monopoly Examination” ({(&&&SF REEHBFETEE
HE—PBEERTE)) issued by the State Administration for Market
Regulation (B TIZEEEE4R/E) of the PRC with respect to the
Investment. Further, on June 2, 2023 (after trading hours), all the
completion conditions of the Investment have been satisfied or
waived (if applicable) and the consideration of the Investment has
been settled in full.

Save as mentioned above, the Group did not have any other
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total of 7,199 full-
time employees, among which 1,662 employees work in the
Group's headquarters and regional offices, and the remaining
employees are in-store staff. The Group values its employees
and is committed to growing with employees. The Group has
launched an employee retention initiative, under which the Group
incorporates employee retention rate as one of the key criteria
that used to assess its teahouse performance. The Group is also
committed to establishing a competitive and fair remuneration
and benefits environment for its employees. Remuneration is
determined with reference to the qualification, experience and
work performance, whereas the payment of discretionary bonus is
generally subject to work performance, the financial performance
of the Group in that particular year and general market conditions.
To effectively motivate the Group’s business development team
through remuneration incentives and ensure that our employees
receive competitive remuneration packages, the Group continually
refine its remuneration and incentive policies through market
research and comparisons with its competitors. As required by
the PRC laws and regulations, the Group participates in various
employee social security plans for its employees that are organized
by municipal and provincial governments, including basic pension,
unemployment insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury
insurance, medical insurance and housing fund.

The Group also share its success with employees by offering them a
variety of incentives and financial rewards to keep them motivated.
To recognize and reward, among others, the Group’s employees,
directors and senior management for their contributions to the
Group, to attract suitable personnel and to provide incentives
to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group, the
Group has adopted the 2020 Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan by way of resolutions of the Board on May 15, 2020.
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In addition, the Group places strong emphasis on providing
trainings to its employees in order to enhance their professional
skills, understanding of industry and work place safety standards,
and appreciation of the Group's value, especially the Group's
unwavering commitment to food safety and product quality as
well as satisfying customer services. The Group designs and offers
different training programs for employees at various positions. For
example, the Group requires every newly recruited employee at
operational functions to attend a one-month in-store training as
the Group strives for consistency and high quality of its product
delivery and customer services. In addition, the Group pairs its new
in-store staff with seniors, who are responsible for guiding them
through the probation period. The Group have also established a
vanguard program to foster and maintain a local talent pool and
offer a promotion path for excellent employees to become future
teahouse managers.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.
The net proceeds raised from the Company’s global offering
(the "Global Offering”), after deduction of the underwriting
fees and commissions and other estimated expenses payable
by the Company in connection with the Global Offering, were
approximately HK$4,842.4 million. As of December 31, 2023,
there was no change in the intended use of net proceeds and the
expected timeline as previously disclosed in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of proceeds” in the Prospectus. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering will
be used for the following purposes:

. approximately 70.0%, or HK$3,389.8 million, will be used
over the next three years to expand the Group’s teahouse
network and deepen the Group’s market penetration;

o approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will be used over
the next three years to further improve the Group’s overall
operations through enhancing technology capabilities, with
a goal to improve operational efficiency;

° approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will be used over
the next three years to strengthen the Group's supply chain
and product distribution capabilities, with a goal to support
our expanding scale; and

° the remaining approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will
be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
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THRWE S

The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net
proceeds from the Global Offering as of December 31, 2023:

TRETNEE20235F12 831 A 2R EHRE
FIEFEHABERNOHME

Expected
Net proceeds Actual use timeline of
incurred of proceeds Unutilized  full utilization
Percentage from upto  amount as of of the
to total the Global December 31, December 31, remaining
Purpose amount Offering 2023 2023 proceeds
EZE
E 4 20235 EHBA
EEW 12A31H BZ22023% BTG
fhem FRERE ERBA 12A31H HIRM
B B HE FRERE ABALE BHRER
HK$ (million) HKS (million) HKS (million)
Br(Agr) Ax(AEn) AEx(Esn)
Expand the Group's teahouse network and
deepen the Group's market penetration 70.0% 3,389.8 1,871.8 1,518.0 June 2024
BRASENFREBR LIRS AEE
Hm52ER 202456
Further improve the Group's overall operations 10.0% 484.2 412.5 71.7 June 2024
E—FRAAKEANERES 2024%F6 7
Strengthen the Group's supply chain and
product distribution capabilities 10.0% 484.2 399.9 84.3 June 2024
RIKREERHERE L RERRE 202456
Fund the Group's working capital and general
corporate purposes 10.0% 484.2 303.7 180.5 June 2024
RASKENEEAS R REXMAERE 202456
Total 100.0% 4,842.4 2,987.9 1,854.5
@5t
IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING MEHBEAREIEF

PERIOD

There has been no important events subsequent to the Reporting

Period and up to the date of this report, which would affect the

Group's business operations in material aspects.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEREEFR

As of the date of this annual report, biographical details of the RAFRHE  EZLaREREBRAE
Directors and senior management are set out below. HHAT o

DIRECTORS )

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of which three are EZ2ERAN\BESEK  EF=RAH
executive Directors, two are non-executive Directors and three TEE MABABIENTEETR=RABB I
are independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets HMITES - TRV EBEEESNEER

forth information regarding our Directors.

Date of appointment as

Name Age Position Director

®E Fir B BZIAREENAE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhao Lin 44 Chairman of the Board, June 9, 2020
Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer

R E BEER WTEERERHTE  202066H9AH

Ms. Peng Xin 36 Executive Director and September 5, 2019
General Manager

gt HITESRABKE 20199 A5H

Mr. Deng Bin 42 Executive Director and June 9, 2020
chief operation officer

B 4 HWITESRERERE 202066 A9H

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Mr. Wei Guoxing 37 Non-executive Director December 22, 2023

BB L4 FHTES 20235128228

Mr. Wong Tak-wai 47 Non-executive Director December 31, 2020

BEELE FEHITES 2020128318

Independent non-executive

Directors

BUFHTES

Mr. Liu Yiwei 52 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

FRERE BUFNTES 202167 18H

Ms. Zhang Rui 61 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

RS L B IEITES 202167188

Mr. Xie Yongming 44 Independent non-executive July 28, 2023
Director

KB E BAUENTES 202347 F 288
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EFRSREEEEESS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Lin (1K), aged 44, has served as a director of
Shenzhen Pindao Management from February 2017 to October
2020 and Director of our Company since June 2020. Mr. Zhao was
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company on February
5, 2021. Mr. Zhao co-founded our Group with Ms. Peng in May
2014 and was principally responsible for the identification and
development of store locations to further the Group’s expansion.
After leaving Meixin (defined below) in January 2016, he has
dedicated his full capacity to the Group and is responsible for
overall strategic planning and business direction of our Group
and overseeing management of our business. Mr. Zhao is the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee and member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Zhao has been acting as a director
of Shanghai Chatian since February 2023. Mr. Zhao is also the
director of Linxin Group.

Prior to founding Shenzhen Pindao Management, Mr. Zhao worked
at BK Foods (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (Z2 T B OFYI) AR A F]) from
January 2010 to May 2011. Mr. Zhao served as the development
manager of Meixin Food (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (=L BRI AR
2 RA]) from May 2011 to January 2016 (“Meixin").

Mr. Zhao received a diploma in chrematistics from Urumqi
Vocational University (&8 /KRB KE) in July 2001.

Mr. Zhao is the spouse of Ms. Peng Xin, our executive Director and
General Manager.

HITES

AR E  445% 0 8201792 A E=2020%10
REEFYIGREERESE R B2020F6 A E1E
ERRQNFIESE - 2021528508 © HELR
ENEAANTESTEZTARRGES
EREBHITE - R20145F58 @ ke my
ZIBERIMASE  TZAEVERER
JEHE DT AR BAE — SRR o 20165
1RBEFEELNEER TO%E  H2LEAR
AEE BERIAEENEEHBERES
A TEEEERMAOEBERE - HEE
BRIRHZESXIERTMEESHKE - BT
EH2023F2ARET ESEHIES - L
A IR ALinxin GroupfIEE

FRINRY | MBEIRRT - BEER201051A8
E201MFSAEBRREEETRMORY) BR
NE o BEEB2011FESAE201651 BEE
EORMOFID AR AR ([FE])FIBEALIE -

A ER2001F7 ARS BE R ANS2IE
B8R o

HBEERRMNATESRALEZLLL
H AL



Annual Report £%§ 2023 39

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Peng Xin (¥#4), aged 36, has served as the director of
Shenzhen Pindao Management since our inception in May 2014
and a Director since September 2019. Ms. Peng was redesignated
as executive Director and appointed as our General Manager on
February 5, 2021. Ms. Peng co-founded our Group with Mr. Zhao in
May 2014 and is responsible for overseeing product development,
quality control and overall marketing strategy of our Group. Ms.
Peng has been acting as a director of Shanghai Chatian since
February 2023. Ms. Peng is also the director of Linxin Group and
Linxin Holdings.

Prior to founding Shenzhen Pindao Management, Ms. Peng
served as the deputy secretary general of Pearl Club of Kingdee
Software (China) Co., Ltd. (% #{F (FE) AR AF]) from August
2010 to October 2012; as the director of Shenzhen Linxin Culture
Communication Co., Ltd. (RINTIM L (L EEERETL A7) from
July 2018 (which has been voluntarily deregistered in July 2022) and
the director of Shenzhen Xinlin Culture Communication Co., Ltd.
ORINTT UM EIEE R B E A F]) from August 2017.

Ms. Peng received a bachelor’s degree in business management
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (I FAEI A& K E2) in
July 2010. Ms. Peng currently holds directorships in the following
principal subsidiaries of our Group: Shenzhen Pindao Group,
Shenzhen Pindao Management and Shenzhen Pindao Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (FIIITh frB R EEEIE R A A]).

Ms. Peng is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Lin, our Chairman of the Board,
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Deng Bin (B#), aged 42, was appointed as our Director
on June 9, 2020 and redesignated as our executive Director on
February 5, 2021. Mr. Deng joined our Group in August 2016 and
has served as our chief operation officer since January 2019. Mr.
Deng is responsible for overseeing operations of our Group.

Mr. Deng served as an operation officer of our Group from
August 2016 to December 2017 and he served as regional general
manager in charge of our South China businesses from January
2018 to December 2018. Mr. Deng has been acting as a director
of Shanghai Chatian since February 2023. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Deng served as senior division manager of Genki Sushi
Catering Service & Management (Shenzhen) Limited (LR & &1
RIEE IR CRID AR AT from March 2009 to March 2016 and later,
an operation manager from April 2016 to June 2016.

Mr. Deng received a bachelor’'s degree in business management
from Yamanashi Gakuin University in March 2006.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Guoxing (BiEl#), aged 37, has been appointed as our
non-executive Director with effect from December 22, 2023. Mr.
Wei is responsible for providing professional strategic advice to the
Board.

Mr. Wei has over 10 years of experience in private equity
investment, venture capital and investment management. Mr.
Wei has been working at Shenzhen Tiantu Capital Management
Center (Limited Partnership) (R KB EAREREF L(BERER)
(“Shenzhen Tiantu Capital”), a limited partnership ultimately
controlled by Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. (RIITH X E&E EEIHD
B BR A A), a joint stock company incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China whose H shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1973.HK) since September 2012. Mr. Wei previously
acted as the investment manager and managing director of
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital, and currently acting as the partner and a
member of the venture capital investment committee of Shenzhen
Tiantu Capital.

Mr. Wei obtained his bachelor’s degrees in biology and economics
from Peking University in 2009. In 2012, Mr. Wei obtained a master’s
degree in management from Peking University and a master’s
degree in finance from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong Tak-wai (ZEE&), aged 47, was appointed as our
Director on December 31, 2020 and redesignated as our non-
executive Director on February 5, 2021. Mr. Wong is responsible for
providing professional strategic advice to the Board.

Mr. Wong joined Pacific Alliance Group as an executive director
since March 2011 and has been a partner of Pacific Alliance Group
since April 2014. Before joining Pacific Alliance Group, Mr. Wong
served as a vice president of TPG Capital Ltd. (formerly known
as Newbridge Capital Limited) from 2006 to 2010. From 1999 to
2005, Mr. Wong served as a manager of the investment banking
department of Morgan Stanley.
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As a representative of Pacific Alliance Group, Mr. Wong is a board
member of various listed companies. He has been a non-executive
director of Mobvista Inc. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1860) since February 2021 and a non-executive director
of Yingde Gases Group Company Limited (a company previously
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2168) since April 2017,
and he has been serving as the chairman of the board of AirPower
Technologies Limited after the integration of Yingde Gases and
Baosteel Gases. Mr. Wong also served as an independent director
of Tencent Music Entertainment Group, a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE Ticker: TME) and the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1698), from July 2016 to September 2020.

Mr. Wong received a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and a bachelor’s degree in Asian studies from University of
California, Berkeley in May 1999.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Yiwei (Z|218), aged 52, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18,
2021. Mr. Liu is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Liu has served as the director and deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Yingtai Investment Management Co., Ltd. (RYIBFILE
BB R AA) since January 2008.

Mr. Liu received a diploma in labor and personnel major from
Communication University of China (F BI{E# K2, formerly known
as Beijing Coal Management Cadre College (Jb REREEH I E
Bz)) in July 1991 and a master’s degree in monetary banking from
Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (B4t &
BRI FEAERT) in April 1998.

Mr. Liu obtained the qualifications of Securities Practitioner (7%
WZEAE) in June 2004 and Futures Practitioner (HAEHZEAE) in
January 2003, respectively.
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Ms. Zhang Rui (5R#), aged 61, has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18, 2021.
Ms. Zhang is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Since September 1984, Ms. Zhang has been working at Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (LA & KE, formerly
known as Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics ((LFARf4Z &2
BT)), where she successively served as a teacher in department of
finance and accounting, the head of the teaching and research
section for auditing of department of finance and accounting, a
deputy head of department of finance and accounting, the dean of
faculty of accounting and a director of research and development
center for accounting development.

Ms. Zhang has been an independent director of Shenzhen Aisidi
Co., Ltd. (RYITEEERMHBERAF]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002416), since October
2019 and an independent director of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
(REBHBRM AR AT, a company whose shares are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002736), since November
2023. In addition, she has been serving as a director of Shenzhen
Pufanglimin Technology Co., Ltd. (RYITH & 7 L REHER D ER A
7)) since November 2023.

Ms. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in commercial finance
and accounting from Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics in
July 1984, a master’s degree in accounting from Jiangxi Institute
of Finance and Economics in July 1990 and a doctorate degree in
accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7
B8 BUEKZ) in December 2001.

Ms. Zhang has been an expert entitled to special allowance granted
by the State Council since August 2005. She also obtained a
certificate of Star Teacher in Higher Education Institutions (=% &
REHEZ AN ) issued by the Ministry of Education of the People’s
Republic of China in September 2009. Ms. Zhang was accredited as
a professor by Jiangxi Title Reform Committee (L7FE%& BEAE R

& /\4H) in March 1999.
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Mr. Xie Yongming (#7k8), aged 44, has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director with effect from July 28,
2023. Mr. Xie is member of the Audit Committee, member of
the Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Xie has 18 years of experience in consumer and retail industries.
Mr. Xie has been acting as the executive vice chairman of Shenzhen
Smart Retail Association (RIITEZEZEW L) since 2017. From
2009 to 2017, Mr. Xie acted as the deputy secretary general at
Shenzhen Retail Trade Association (R EEFETERS).
From 2005 to 2009, Mr. Xie acted as the deputy general manager
at Shenzhen Jianeng Culture Technology Co., Ltd. (FIIT{ERE
bR ER A R], previously known as Shenzhen Jianeng Costume
Technology Co., Ltd. (R ERERERHE B R A R)).

Mr. Xie graduated from Xinjiang University (¥ X2) with a
bachelor's degree majoring in fashion design and engineering.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhao Lin (##M) is our Chief Executive Officer. See the
paragraph headed "Executive Directors” above for details of his
biography.

Ms. Peng Xin (¥1) is our General Manager. See the paragraph
headed “Executive Directors” above for details of her biography.

Mr. Deng Bin (B#) is our chief operation officer. See the
paragraph headed "“Executive Directors” above for details of his
biography.

EFREREEEEESS

BKBASE - 445% 0 FA2023F 7 A28HEZE
EABIERITEE - HEEAERZES
ME  FTMEESKNERIRZELEEBEKE -

WEERHEBERTETERA18F LR - #f
EER2017FE-—BEEERITEERZTED
SHHMITEIG R ° N2009F £2017F » &
REREERITEEBRETERSNEINE
£ ° R20055F £ 20094 » R EEERYI™T
EREXERIXBR A A (RITHERY| HERE AR
REBR AT M EIRLE -

BEEBERNFBAL  MSBLBM -
ERERETRE -
aREERE

HMEESERMNEFNTE - BRAEEE
HE - BEHLEXATESR K-

LT BEMNEEE BREBERF
B BEHLEXTRITESR K-

BERERSRMNEFELE - BREEE
HE - BAHLEXSTES K-



44 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZEHZIERAR A A

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFRSREEEEESS

Ms. Chen Shengyu (FRE#E), aged 46, is our senior human
resources director and joined our Group in September 2017. Ms.
Chen is responsible for the management of human resources and
administrative matters.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen served as human resources
director of Guangzhou Jiumaojiu Restaurant Management Co., Ltd.
(BMNENEREEERAF]) from April 2014 to December 2016.
Ms. Chen served as a human resources supervisor of Guangdong
Sanyuan McDonald's Food Co., Ltd. (ER=TtZEE4RAEERE
£Ad]) from June 2004 to August 2009 and a human resources
manager from August 2009 to April 2014.

Ms. Chen received a diploma in economics from Guangdong
Ocean University (ER/&F A2, formerly known as Zhanjiang
Ocean University (& T8 KXE)) in June 2000. Ms. Chen received
a bachelor’s degree in human resources from South China Normal
University ((EFSRM#IAZ) through the completion of the adult
higher education program in January 2013.

Ms. Chen obtained the professional qualification of senior human
resources management specialist (A& A T ERE ERN) from the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC in
March 2018.

Mr. Shen Hao (B &), aged 35, is our co-chief financial officer,
general counsel and board secretary. Mr. Shen joined our Group
in July 2019 and is responsible for the capital market and legal
matters of our Group. Mr. Shen has been acting as a director of
Shanghai Chatian since February 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Shen worked at SZ DJI Technology
Co., Ltd. (XY RBEIF B AR A A]) from June 2013 to June
2019, where he served as legal manager and head of legal
department from June 2013 to June 2016 and the head of legal
department and corporate development department from July
2016 to June 2019. Mr. Shen also served as a director of Victor
Hasselblad AB from November 2017 to May 2019 and a director of
Koenigsegg AB from May 2017 to May 2019.

Mr. Shen received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shenzhen
University O&YIKEZ) in June 2010 and a master's degree in
international economic law from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2012.
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Mr. Liang Feiyan (R M%), aged 41, is our co-chief financial officer
and joined our Group in October 2019. Mr. Liang is responsible
for overseeing financial operations and capital management of our
Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liang worked at Meten Education
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (EBZE ORI BR2AF]) from October 2011
to August 2019, where he lastly served as co-financial officer.

Mr. Liang received a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Shandong Agricultural University (LB R KZ) in July 2006.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Shi Chao (¥£#) was appointed as one of our joint company
secretaries on February 5, 2021. Ms. Shi joined our Group in
January 2019 and has served as the deputy director of corporate
finance and legal department. Ms. Shi worked at Baoneng
Department Store Limited (Bt B EZTE G A F]) from November
2017 to January 2019, where she lastly served as the senior legal
manager. Ms. Shi worked at Wal-Mart (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
CREIS (B ®EBRRA A from February 2014 to November 2017,
where she lastly served as the legal consultant.

Ms. Shi received a bachelor’s degree in law and economics from
Minzu University of China (R R & AZE) in July 2007 and a master’s
degree in economic law from Minzu University of China in July 2012.
Ms. Shi also received a postgraduate diploma in international and
European law from Université Jean Moulin Lyon 3 in March 2012.
Ms. Shi passed the National Judicial Examination (AR a)/A& )
in the PRC and obtained her legal professional qualification in
March 2010. Ms. Shi also received the Certification of Fund Practice
Qualification (RS M EEKFEZE) from the Asset Management
Association of China (FEIRZBHIEEE S ZHE) in July 2017.

Ms. Ho Yin Kwan (fI##¥), was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of our Company on June 22, 2022. Ms. Ho
is a Vice President of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited. She has over 20 years of professional experience
in corporate secretarial field and has been providing corporate
secretarial services to both listed and private companies
incorporated in Hong Kong and overseas. Ms. Ho holds a
bachelor’'s degree in business and finance from the University of
Portsmouth and a master’s degree in corporate governance from
the Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong
Metropolitan University). Ms. Ho is a member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of Directors and chief executives of the Company since
the publication of the interim report for the six months ended June
30, 2023 of the Company and up to the date of this annual report
are set out below:

On November 4, 2023, Ms. Zhang Rui was appointed as an
independent director of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd. (E{E&F# A&
M BMR AT, a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002736).

On November 24, 2023, Ms. Zhang Rui was appointed as a director
of Shenzhen Pufanglimin Technology Co., Ltd. (&I & 75 2 REHE
& BBRAA]).

On December 22, 2023, Mr. Pan Pan resigned as a non-executive
Director due to other work arrangements.

On December 22, 2023, Mr. Wei Guoxing was appointed as a non-
executive Director.

Save as disclosed above in this annual report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

GLOBAL OFFERING AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
September 5, 2019 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Company'’s
Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company of the Group.
The Group operates Nayuki teahouses, a leading premium modern
teahouse chain in China serving freshly-made tea drinks.

The activities and particulars of the Group and an analysis of the
Group's revenue and operating profit for the year by principal
activities are set out under the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The
principal business activities of the subsidiaries of the Group are
set out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

A review of the Group’s business, major risks, use of net proceeds
from the Global Offering, uncertainties faced by the Group, and
the future development of the Group's business could be found in
the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
"Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. The review
and discussion form part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out on pages 110 to 228 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE
OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to
be held on Friday, June 28, 2024, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, June 25, 2024 to Friday,
June 28, 2024 (both days inclusive) during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending the
AGM, all share certificates with completed transfer forms must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 24,
2024.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group has implemented environmental
protection measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity
and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize unnecessary waste. Discussion on the
key relationships with the Group’s major stakeholders, the Group’s
environmental policy and performance as well as compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact
on the Group are set out in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2023 (the "ESG Report”). The
ESG Report will be published separately on the websites of the
Company (www.naixuecha.com) and the HKEXnews' website
(www. hkexnews.hk)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out
in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate amount of distributable
reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law, amounted to RMB5,986,012,000 (as of December
31, 2022: RMB5,757,296,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Peng Xin
Mr. Deng Bin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Guoxing (appointed on December 22, 2023)
Mr. Wong Tak-wai
Mr. Pan Pan (resigned on December 22, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yiwei

Ms. Zhang Rui

Mr. Xie Yongming (appointed on July 28, 2023)
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (resigned on April 30, 2023)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as of the date of this annual report are set out under
the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with our Company with an initial term of three years
with effect from the date of the appointment, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other (subject always to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract/letter
of appointment with our Company. Each of our non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
with an initial term of three years commencing from the date of
their respective appointments and subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant services contracts/
letters of appointment. Under these service contracts/letters of
appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors will
receive a Director’s annual remuneration of HK$120,000.

Save as aforesaid, none of our Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with our Company or any members of our Group
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTOR'S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the material related party transactions as disclosed in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
and the connected transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this directors’ report, no Director
or any entity connected with them had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Company to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party for the
year ended December 31, 2023.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management receive compensation from
the Group in the form of fees, salaries, bonuses, contributions to
pension schemes, allowances and benefits in kind. The emoluments
of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Note 8 and
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

The emoluments before tax paid to the senior management of the
Company whose names are listed in this report are set out by band
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as follows:
Number of senior
management for
the year ended
December 31,
2023
HZE2023F
12B31BLEE
Band £1E HNEREEEAY
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T 2= 2,000,000 7T 4
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 75 £ 2,500,0007 7T 1

For the year ended December 31, 2023, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has
waived any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in a defined contribution basic pension
insurance in the social insurance system established and managed
by government organizations. The Group makes contributions to
basic pension insurance plans based on the applicable benchmarks
and rates stipulated by the government. The local government
authorities are responsible for the pension obligations payable
to the retired employees covered under the defined contribution
basic pension insurance. There are no forfeited contributions
for the defined contribution basic pension insurance in the PRC
social insurance system as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately. There are no forfeited contributions for the the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes as the contributions are fully
vested to the employees upon payment to the scheme.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other payments have
been made or are payable, during the Reporting Period, by our
Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In respect of the non-compete undertaking (the “Non-compete
Undertaking”) made by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin,
being the ultimate beneficiaries and holders of the voting rights
to the controlling interests of every other Controlling Shareholder,
the Company has reviewed the annual declaration from Mr. Zhao
Lin and Ms. Peng Xin on the compliance with the terms of the Non-
compete Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the compliance with the Non-compete Undertaking
and are satisfied that Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin have complied
with the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking during the
Reporting Period.
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POSITIONS HELD BY DIRECTORS IN
SHAREHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Pan Pan (#%Z%) was a director
of Hunan Chayue Cultural Industry Development Group Co., Ltd.
(HERNXEEXZEREEERAT) ("Chayue”), a tea drinks
provider in China. We are of the view that the business of Chayue
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
our business.

During the Reporting Period, Chayue was held as to approximately
14.54% by Tiantu Dongfeng. As confirmed by Tiantu Dongfeng, Mr.
Pan Pan represents Tiantu Dongfeng, which is entitled to appoint
a director to the board of Chayue due to its investment in the
company, on the board of Chayue. Mr. Pan Pan’s role in Chayue
is non-executive in nature and he has not assumed any day-to-day
management responsibilities since the commencement of his term
of directorship at Chayue. Furthermore, Mr. Pan Pan represented
Tiantu Entities on our Board and his role was also non-executive
in nature. He had not participated in our Group's day-to-day
management since joining our Group.

Furthermore, Chayue is a tea drinks provider operating mainly
in Changsha, Hunan Province, while our Group has an extensive
network of teahouses across China. In addition to geographical
coverage, the store locations and product offerings of our flagship
premium modern teahouse brand Nayuki and Chayue are different.
We provide a wide variety of products including handcrafted baked
goods and other lifestyle products, while Chayue’s products are
generally limited to tea products. As such, our Directors are of the
view that the competing interest disclosed above is unlikely to give
rise to any material conflict of interest.

In addition, Mr. Pan Pan resigned as a non-executive Director on
December 22, 2023.
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Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group, other than being a director of the Company and/or its
subsidiaries under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report, to
the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors is a director
or employee of a company which has an interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in this annual
report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had any
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR PLEDGED
SHARES

As at December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Company,
none of the Controlling Shareholders pledged their shares
pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Our Group has entered into several connected transaction
agreements with certain connected persons of our Group as
described in the paragraphs below.
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Non-exempted Continuing Connected Transactions

Continuing
connected
transactions

RERERZ

Parties

HEY]

Term of
agreement Contents of transaction

iEE RHRE
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FREFERERS

Pricing policies

EEBE

Packaging Materials
Sales Framework
Agreement

BRMBHEER
i

Our Company

and Zundao"

ARAREED

The term shall Our Company agreed to purchase
commencing tea cups and certain packaging
from the materials for our tea drinks (the
Listing Dateto ~ "Packaging Materials”) from
December 31, Zundao.

2023

EEREMANR ARAREREEREANRRANE

8220035128 TRRME ([ BHA]) -
1AL

The assessment and selection of packaging materials suppliers

and the exact sales prices of the Packaging Materials under
any definitive individual sales contract shall be determined
taking into account a variety of factors on a case by case basis
with reference to the types, quality and specifications of the
Packaging Materials to be purchased. The Group only enter
into individual sales contracts with Zundao when purchase
prices are in line with the prevailing market prices and not less
favorable to us than what we are able to receive from other
comparable independent suppliers.

Negotiations between the parties of the Packaging Materials

Sales Framework Agreement are conducted on an arm's
length basis, taking into account factors including but not
limited to the comparison of quotations from Zundao and
those submitted by no less than two packaging material
suppliers who are Independent Third Parties, prevailing
market prices of open-market packaging raw materials,
quality of products, processing skills to meet our customized
specifications, capacity to meet our increasing demand of the
Packaging Materials, length of settlement period provided,
the logistics capacity of suppliers to deliver products to our
teahouses located around the country and prior cooperation
relationship.

BEMHHEBNTERERI LENSREBHEQNNAEH

HOBHERE RRTARRERZRSBRRLAZER
REOBXMHNEL  EERARKIET  AREERKE
ERERTHE-REHAMANE FEREFEMER AL
BURERESHERE 1 eRBETUEBHEAN

BEMBAEERBARHRATARENRR YERTUTE

Z(BEETRR) : SENFERTIRWEBRIHIES
(RBUS=) RRBEOLE  AXRMHRAHTE0ER
f1fEH  EnZE  RRAMEHRROMIRE  BRAM
HAKMHBREROBRNE  RENESHRER &
EBREREANRMUN2EOFRENDRE KBRS
fERRIA -
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Continuing
connected Term of
transactions Parties agreement Contents of transaction Pricing policies
HARERS HEY [iE R RENR EEBE
Delivery Platform Our Company The term shall Fucheng will provide management Service fees to be charged shall be determined based on
Management and Fucheng? ~ commencing and consultation services (the a percentage of the revenue generated through third-
and Consultation from the "Delivery Platform Consultation party delivery platforms and a percentage of the revenue
Service Agreement Listing Dateto Services”) to our Group, including, generated from the Company's Weixin/WeChat and Alipay
December 31, among other things, (i) advising mini program facilitated and managed by Fucheng. The
2023 on the management of our abovementioned percentage is negotiated by the parties
merchant accounts on third-party after arm's length negotiations with reference to (i) the
delivery platforms, (ii) advising on nature, complexity and value of the Delivery Platform
the integration of our operating Consultation Services to be provided, and (ii) the prevailing
systems and such third-party market rate in respect of similar services and such percentage
delivery platforms, (iii) advising on is in line with the industry standard.
the operation of online deliveries of
our products through our Weixin/
WeChat and Alipay mini program,
and (i) compiling and analyzing
the relevant order reports.
HETEERR ARERERY  FHRLTRER BRRRAKERMEERZARE  EAROREERRBRAE-NETELNUENAS LA
AR nE23%F12  (HEFARARE))  Ahafki)  BERBNERHARDMERXNE MEFELENKENE
R31BIE HERAMES=-ANETRLNE  DHET LEASLMEN2Z(RIRHMINETY &R
PRPRILES : (MHBAAMNE  HRE EREENEER: ROEUREORTHEEGATY
1’?%?&%32%%775% FaltE  BERET  MABAARNATERELY -
F (||I)ﬂﬁk1 ST
BFEEAMERNERNERIEE
& RvVERNSTEEE RS -
Notes: i

M

Zundao is held as to 50% by Shenzhen Xinlin Culture Communication Co., Ltd.

(FYIT O EBEREER

Al), which is held as to 50% by Mr. Zhao Lin and

50% by Ms. Peng Xin, each of whom is our executive Director and Controlling
Shareholder, respectively.

Fucheng is held as to 51% by Mr. Peng Zhen Yu (&

#&=F), who is the brother of Ms.

Peng Xin (our executive Director and Controlling Shareholder) and an executive
director of two of our Company’s subsidiaries, namely Shenzhen Pindao Food
Co., Ltd. (FYITfRERMABR AR and Xiamen Naixue Catering Management
Co., Ltd. (EFITRZEREEBRAR).

M

BEANTOMRCEREREERR (HERA
’&Tiﬂﬁ%%%? REREBEMEERZ LR LS
F50% 4 ) 5 A 50% X AE

ﬁEWiEE ZLR T (RARMITESFRIERRR) 28

EIRFEE(EERRBRKME A BRYTRE
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi&%ﬂm%géﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂiﬂﬁiﬂ
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Transaction caps and actual transaction amounts for
the Reporting Period

Actual transaction amounts and transaction caps of the above-
mentioned non-exempt continuing connected transactions for the
Reporting Period are as follows:
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For the year ended
December 31, 2023
BZE2023F12A31BLFE
Actual

Proposed transaction
annual caps amounts
EBRXELR EBEBRXZEHE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBT
Packaging Materials Sales Framework BEMHEHEERGZ
Agreement 110,000 -
Delivery Platform Management and INE T BB KA AR W
Consultation Service Agreement 9,800 3,644

The Company has followed the pricing policies as disclosed in
the Prospectus and this annual report in respect of the above

continuing connected transactions for the year ended December
31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid non-exempt
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;
(i)  on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
Company and Shareholders as a whole.

HE2023F12831HILFE » ARG Ll
BERBEXSEETHERERRAFRATE
ERNTEEBUR °

HE2023F12A31BILFE » BaUIFEMITE
EEEM AR CFERER H U ERZ

ER5
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued a qualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group from
page 54 to 57 of this annual report in accordance with Listing Rule
14A.56. The auditor concluded that except for the fresh goods
storage and transportation services agreement (the "Existing
Fresh Good Storage and Transportation Services Agreement”)
with Bangyixia (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Co., Ltd., (FAZ=E CFYI) 4
FE$E B R 2 &) which was not approved by the Board and no annual
cap was set when the payments were made,

(i)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and

(i) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the disclosed
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap as set by the Company.

ARBCBMEZEARBEEGHMAE
M 2 BB ZER ISR 530005k (B£IER])
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions carried out
in the normal course of business are set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the paragraph headed "Connected Transactions”
above and the transactions under the Existing Fresh Good Storage
and Transportation Services Agreement (please refer to the
announcement of the Company made pursuant to Rule14A.60 of
the Listing Rules dated April 26, 2024 for details), none of these
related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules, and the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and disclosed
in this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or in existence as of the end of the
year or at any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares,
were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, we positively assume our social
responsibilities. During the Reporting Period, the Group made
various kinds of charitable donations amounted to approximately
RMB3.4 million in total.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding
during the Reporting Period.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Human resources are one of the valuable assets of the Group.
The Group intends to be an attractive employer for competent
employees. The objective of the Group’s human resource
management is to provide employees with competitive
remuneration packages and to promote career development and
progression of employees by appropriate training and providing
opportunities within the Group for career advancement. The Group
has also adopted Equity Inventive Plans to reward, motivate and
retain Directors and employees for contributions to the growth and
development of the Group.

We are committed to offer high-quality and healthy freshly-made
tea drinks and related products to our customers. A customer
service and customer complaint handling mechanism are in place
to collect, analyse and study complaints from customers and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving quality of
our products and services.

We have developed long and good relationships with a number of
suppliers to maintain steady supplies of materials and outsourced
products. We carefully select our suppliers and require them
to satisfy certain criteria including track record, experience,
reputation, ability to produce high-quality products and quality
control effectiveness in order to ensure that our suppliers share our
commitments to quality and ethics.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan
or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the
Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling
Shareholders or their respective connected persons.

FINANCIAL, BUSINESS AND FAMILY
RELATIONS AMONG DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” and “Corporate Governance
Report”, Directors are not related to one another with respect to
finance, business and family, or other material relations.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which he/she was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the

(b) were

register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest

Annual Report % 2023 61

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

%E& R EITBRABRESHNE

HE2023F12A31H » ARFIEFER&E=TT
BABRARE REEMAAEEZE(EEREF
HMEEEFIEXVED) MG - BRERG
BREBFTESQ)IRESR %&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬂ%xv%
FIRFESHBIEXBMG AR 5 X T Y
BmoRE (BIEREES LY iﬂ\ﬂﬁuﬁf‘aﬂ%
Xf&#%ﬁ”‘{’mﬁ%%ﬁﬁm%ﬁn& B Bk
b)IRIEE S MG 1|7K1§U%’352{|7.<¢Euaﬁm2
ﬂ%ﬁﬂami‘uaﬂﬁmm’é‘ KB () IRIE
EREFRIZBAE zk@?&éﬁ:ﬁﬁﬁﬂg N
BT

Approximate

Number of percentage of the
Shares interested Company’s issued
in the Company!" share capital

RAEARFEEEZEN EFXRFAESRTRE

EEHA B, EEuE BoEgEO BHABE DL
Mr. Zhao Lin @@® Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 1,007,281,120 58.73%
corporation; interest of spouse
FE AR S A @@ EniEn RYWEB R IBER
Ms. Peng Xin 2@ Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 1,007,281,120 58.73%
corporation; interest of spouse;
executor or administrator
T e Emile  NEEE 2 Ex  REER
HITAHEREA
Mr. Deng Bin ® Beneficial interest 1,726,300 0.10%
BM S G B
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Notes:
(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Linxin Group, a company incorporated in the BVl on December 29, 2020, is a
holding company wholly-owned by Linxin International, a holding company
incorporated in the BVI, which is in turn wholly owned by Linxin Trust. Linxin Trust
is an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey on December 30,
2020, the beneficiary of which is Linxin Holdings, a holding company ultimately
controlled as to 50% by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin, respectively. The
voting rights of the Shares held by Linxin Group are exercised by Mr. Zhao Lin
and Ms. Peng Xin, a married couple. Accordingly, each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms.
Peng Xin is deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares held by Linxin
Group.

(3) Ms. Peng Xin is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Lin and is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Mr. Zhao Lin. Moreover, each of Mr. Zhao Lin
and Ms. Peng Xin has been granted Options with respect to 220,781 outstanding
Shares under the 2020 Share Option Plan.

(4)  Crystal Tide Profits Limited, a company incorporated under the Laws of the British
Virgin Islands, is a platform holding Shares for future benefit to employees,
advisors and consultants as the Board deems fit. As of December 31, 2023, Crystal
Tide Profits Limited was wholly-owned by Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited,
an independent third party who serves as trustee, and is administered by Ms.
Peng Xin. The voting rights of the Shares held by Crystal Tide Profits Limited were
exercised by Ms. Peng Xin.

(5)  Mr. Deng Bin has been granted options with respect to 1,726,300 outstanding
Shares under the 2020 Share Option Plan.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, as of December 31, 2023, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company has any interests and/or short
positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

() FAFSIESHRER -

(2) Linxin Group * — R 20204 12 A 29 H £ % &
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202012 A30B ERAS RN AT RE 2 EE
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AR BENEERELZ D RIEKIESI50% -
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(4)  Crystal Tide Profits Limited * —RIBEEBHE R
HEEEAMKINRE  RREFERA/EEN
B8  BERRZAANRKBZHEROOFTR -
#Z=2023%12A318 ' Crystal Tide Profits Limited
HBYE=FEHRER(FE)BRAAEERT
AN Z2EHRE  WHZLXLTER ° Crystal Tide
Profits Limited i A {7 IR RAEME O L LT ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2023 so far as is known to any Director or chief
executive of the Company, as recorded in the register of interest
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
the following persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the
Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying
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Shares:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of Interest

Number of
Shares interested
in the Company""

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

REQARFEEEZN EXAFSRITRAR
BRREE B,/ REEME BeEBEM BAES
Linxin Group @ Beneficial interest 977,344,414 56.98%
BEafEm
Linxin International @ Interest in controlled corporation 977,344,414 56.98%
ISR T
Cantrust (Far East) Limited @ Trustee 977,344,414 56.98%
XA
Linxin Holdings @ Beneficiary of a trust 977,344,414 56.98%
MERR@ EEXEA
Forth Wisdom Limited @ Beneficial interest 88,289,803 5.15%
BafEm
Zedra Holdings (Cayman) Limited @ Interest in controlled corporation 88,289,803 5.15%
REEEE 2
Zedra Trust Company Trustee 88,289,803 5.15%
(Cayman) Limited @ ZEEA
Ms. Nong Xiu Xia © Interest jointly held with another person 88,289,803 5.15%
EFELLTO HE—FZATHEEE 2R
Ms. Zou Wei Wei @ Interest jointly held with another person 88,289,803 5.15%

Pt to
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Name of Shareholder

64 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2B HZIERA R A 8

Capacity/Nature of Interest

Number of
Shares interested
in the Company™

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

REQARFEEEZN EXATRSRITRAR
REZRE B,/ REHEME ROEE® BAES
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital Interest in controlled corporation 169,252,016 9.87%
Management Center
(Limited Partnership)
("Shenzhen Tiantu Capital”) “
RYRBEAERPL(AREAEY) RIEEBzZER
(TRYIXEER])@
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 169,252,016 9.87%
(NEEQ stock code: 833979) @
RYMAEREEEROAERAR RIEEEz ER
(FT=IREH I - 833979)@
Mr. Wang Yong Hua © Interest in controlled corporation 169,252,016 9.87%
FoKELES REEE 2 s
PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited ©® Beneficial interest 90,622,345 5.28%
gy
PAG Asia lll LP © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEE 2 s
PAG Asia Capital GP lll Limited ©® Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEEE 2 s
PAG Capital Limited © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEE 2 s
Mr. Shan Weijian © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
BRERLEC NN T
Pacific Alliance Group Limited © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEEE 2 fea
PAG © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%

REEE 2 e




Notes:
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All interests stated are long positions.

Linxin Group, a company incorporated in the BVl on December 29, 2020, is a
holding company wholly-owned by Linxin International, a holding company
incorporated in the BVI, which is in turn wholly-owned by Linxin Trust. Linxin
Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey on December
30, 2020, the trustee of which is Cantrust (Far East) Limited, an independent
third party, and the beneficiary of which is Linxin Holdings, a holding company
ultimately controlled as to 50% by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin,
respectively. The voting rights in the Company held by Linxin Group are
exercised by Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin, a married couple.

Forth Wisdom Limited, a company incorporated in BVI, is our Company’s offshore
employee incentive platform for the Equity Incentive Plans. Forth Wisdom
Limited is wholly-owned by Zedra Holdings (Cayman) Limited. Zedra Holdings
(Cayman) Limited is wholly-owned by Zedra Trust Company (Cayman) Limited,
an independent third party who serves as trustee. The voting rights of the Shares
held by Forth Wisdom Limited are controlled jointly by Ms. Nong Xiuxia and
Ms. Zou Weiwei. Accordingly, Zedra Holdings (Cayman) Limited, Zedra Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited, Ms. Nong Xiuxia and Ms. Zou Weiwei are deemed to
be interested in all of the Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited.

Tiantu Xingli, a limited partnership directly holding 59,332,283 Shares of our
Company, is directly owned as to 99.96% by Beijing Tiantu. Shenzhen Tiantu
Capital is the general partner of Tiantu Xingli. Accordingly, Beijing Tiantu and
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital are each deemed to have an interest in all of the Shares
held by Tiantu Xingli.

Chengdu Tiantu, a limited partnership directly holding 50,780,155 Shares of our
Company, is directly owned as to 46.67% by Shantou Dongfeng Printing Co., Ltd.
CILZE R R ENFIA D B PR A F)) (the Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code: 601515),
26.67% by Chengdu Tianfu Innovation Equity Investment Fund Centre (Limited
Partnership) (KEPRFEIFTIREIREE SR L (BRER) ), 10.00% by Shenzhen
Yaoyin Information Advisory Partnership Enterprise (General Partnership) (&3l
BRESFHAGRLE (TBEE) ), 5.00% by Mr. Yuan Jin Hua (R##5), 5.00%
by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital, 3.33% by Shenzhen Iread Foundation (FITIE R A
#=#£ ), and 3.33% by Shantou Dongfeng Consumer Goods Industry Co., Ltd.
CILSE R IEH & ME¥BR A A]). Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is the general partner
of Chengdu Tiantu. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is deemed to have an
interest in all of the Shares held by Chengdu Tiantu.

Tiantu Xingpeng, a limited partnership directly holding 29,570,069 Shares of
our Company, is directly owned as to 20.00% by Shenzhen Government Guiding
Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (RIIT5|EE LK EHFR AR, 18.05% by Shenzhen
Tiantu Xing An Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) (AJII KB L ERZE (B
fR&%) ), 10.53% by China Merchants Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(HREEFEEEREGRAF), 10.00% by Shenzhen Fu Tian Government Guiding
Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (FJITEHS|EE LR EBRAA]), 7.89% by Greatwall
Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (REASZRBIMDER AR, 7.52% by ICBC (Shenzhen)
Equity Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (L (%
) BIEZEESEELE (BREE) ), 7.52% by Xing Ye Wealth and Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (BEMEEEEEBRAR]), 4.51% by Qianhai Equity
Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) (AR EREE S (FRARE) ), 3.95% by
Wuxi Construction Finance Industry Co., Ltd. (FEZTEMEXER A A), 2.63%
by Shenzhen Tiantu Xingfu Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. (“Tiantu
Xingfu”) ORYIXEEERIEREERFRAA), 2.63% by Shenzhen Kun Peng
Equity Investment Co., Ltd. (RIITTEENEAR#EIZ E B R A |]), 2.50% by Bosera
Capital Management Co., Ltd. (BREAEEFRAF]) and 2.27% by Southern
Capital Management Co., Ltd. (BAEAREEAMRAF]). Tiantu Xingfu is the
general partner of Tiantu Xingpeng, is owned by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital as to
99%, and by Shenzhen Tiantu Xingcheng as to 1%. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu
Capital and Tiantu Xingfu are deemed to have an interest in all of the Shares held
by Tiantu Xingpeng.
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Tiantu Xingnan, a limited partnership directly holding 17,741,930 Shares of our
Company, is directly owned as to 39.50% by Shenzhen Tiantu Xing An Investment
Fund (Limited Partnership) (RYIKBEZ R AT E (BREE) ), 25.00% by Hubei
Chu Si Fang Da Investment Co., Ltd. (it B EREBR A A, 25.00% by
Shenzhen Government Guiding Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (FIITH S| EERIEER
fR A7), 10.00% by CMB Cigna Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (FBEE#EAFREERA
A]) and 0.50% by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital. Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is the general
partner of Tiantu Xingnan. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is deemed to
have an interest in all of the Shares held by Tiantu Xingnan.

Tiantu Dongfeng, a limited partnership directly holding 11,827,579 Shares of
our Company, is directly owned as to 41.67% by Shenzhen Tiantu Dongfeng
Investment Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (RJIKERIEZEZH AR L (B
REF) ), 29.17% by Shenzhen Government Guiding Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (&
YITEIEELHEBRAT), 16.67% by CICC Qi Yuan National Rising Industry
Entrepreneurship Investment Guiding Fund (Limited Partnership) (f&RTE X
MEEFAIZILESIBES (BRAR) ), 11.67% by Shenzhen Qian Hai Industry
Guiding Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd. (RYITAGEZ S| EREREELH
fR A7) and 0.83% by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital. Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is the
general partner of Tiantu Dongfeng. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is
deemed to have an interest in all of the Shares held by Tiantu Dongfeng.

Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is wholly-owned by Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. (“Tian Tu
Capital”; NEEQ stock code: 833979). Accordingly, Tian Tu Capital is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by each of Tiantu Xingli, Chengdu Tiantu, Tiantu
Xingpeng, Tiantu Xingnan and Tiantu Dongfeng under the SFO. As such, Tian
Tu Capital and Shenzhen Tiantu Capital are each deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 169,252,016 Shares of our Company.

Mr. Wang Yong Hua directly holds 209,748,220 ordinary shares of Tian Tu Capital,
representing approximately 40.35% of the total number of issued shares of Tian
Tu Capital. Moreover, he is the general partner of Shenzhen Tian Tu Xing He
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (RYIKBIEFIEE % (BRE%) )
and Shenzhen Tian Tu Xing Zhi Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (&Il
KEIFERERE (BRE5%) ), each of which directly holds 8,750,000 ordinary
shares of Tian Tu Capital, representing approximately 1.68% of the total number
of issued shares of Tian Tu Capital. Hence, Mr. Wang Yong Hua is entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of approximately 43.71% of the voting power at
general meetings of Tian Tu Capital. Ms. Li Wen (%) is the spouse of Mr. Wang
Yong Hua.

PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited directly holds 90,622,345 Shares of our
Company. The entire share capital of PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited is owned
by PAG Asia Il LP; PAG Asia Il LP is managed by PAG Asia Capital GP IIl Limited,
the entire share capital of which is wholly owned by PAG Capital Limited. PAG
Capital Limited is owned as to 100% by Pacific Alliance Group Limited, which is
in turn wholly-owned by PAG (formerly known as PAG Holdings Limited). PAG is
owned by Mr. Shan Weijian as to 34.67%. Accordingly, PAG Asia Il LP, PAG Asia
Capital GP Il Limited, PAG Capital Limited, Mr. Shan Weijian, Pacific Alliance
Group Limited and PAG (formerly known as PAG Holdings Limited) are deemed
to be interested in the total number of Shares held by PAGAC Nebula Holdings
Limited.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the

Directors, as of December 31, 2023, no person (other than the

Directors or chief executives of the Company) had registered an

interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the

Company as recorded in the register of interest required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

We have adopted the Equity Incentive Plans, including the 2020
Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, by resolutions
in writing by the Board on May 15, 2020. Unless otherwise duly
approved by the Board, the total number of Shares underlying
the Equity Incentive Plans shall not exceed 126,262,308 Shares,
representing approximately 7.36% of total number of issued Shares
of our Company as at the date of this report. As at December
31, 2023, the total number of Shares available under the Equity
Incentive Plans is 115,318,882, representing approximately 6.72%
of the total issued Shares of the Company as at December 31,
2023. These Shares are held by Forth Wisdom Limited (holding
85,823,738 Shares) and Crystal Tide Profits Limited (holding
29,495,144 Shares) and the Board has the discretion to allocate
these Shares to 2020 Share Option Plan and/or 2020 Share
Incentive Plan. The Equity Incentive Plans are share schemes
involving the Company'’s existing Shares as the Shares underlying
the Equity Incentive Plans have been issued and allocated prior to
the Listing Date, and the Company will not issue any new Shares
upon the exercise of Options and/or awards granted under the
Equity Incentive Plans.

2020 Share Option Plan

The 2020 Share Option Plan was adopted to recognize and reward
the employees of the Group for their contribution to our Group,
to attract suitable personnel and to provide incentives to them
to remain with and further contribute to our Group. Our Board,
or a duly authorized committee of the Board, may grant awards
of Options to subscribe for Shares to those core personnel (other
than those in the IT division of our Group) that it determines to be
eligible participants at its sole discretion (the “Option Grantees”).
Unless otherwise set forth in the option award agreement between
the Company and Option Grantees (the “Option Agreement”),
Option Grantees are normally not required to pay any monetary
amount for the acceptance of the Options.
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As at December 31, 2023, the Shares underlying the 2020 Share
Option Plan were held by Forth Wisdom Limited, which is indirectly
wholly held by Zedra Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, an
independent third party who serves as trustee. If all the outstanding
Options granted under the 2020 Share Option Plan are exercised,
there will not be any dilution effect on the shareholdings of our
Shareholders nor any impact on the earnings per Share arising
from the exercise of the outstanding Options since all the Shares
underlying the 2020 Share Option Plan are indirectly held by Zedra
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, an independent third party
who serves as trustee. Pursuant to the 2020 Share Option Plan, no
Option shall be further granted to any person such that the total
number of Shares subject to the Options and any other schemes
over the Shares granted and to be granted to such person in any
12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of
the Shares in issue from time to time.

The 2020 Share Option Plan will be valid and effective for a period
of ten years, commencing from May 15, 2020 (the “Option Scheme
Period”), unless terminated early by the Board. As of December
31, 2023, the remaining Option Scheme Period was approximately
six years and five months. Unless otherwise agreed in the Option
Agreement, Options granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Option
Plan shall be exercised by the Option Grantees within 10 years after
the grant of the corresponding Share Options.
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Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Share Option Plan, such plan is
subject to the administration of a duly authorized committee of the
Board. As of December 31, 2023, such committee was consisted of
Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin. As of December 31, 2023, the voting
rights of the Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited are controlled
jointly by Ms. Nong Xiuxia and Ms. Zou Weiwei.

As the Shares to be received by the Option Grantees under the
2020 Share Option Plan upon the exercise thereof are from the
transfer of existing Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited, which is
a company incorporated in BVI and acts as the Company’s offshore
employee incentive shareholding platform, no new Shares of the
Company would be issued under the 2020 Share Option Plan.
Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares of the Company will
not be affected by the operation of the 2020 Share Option Plan.

The committee may at any time during the term of the 2020 Share
Option Plan make a grant to any participant, as the committee
may in its absolute discretion determine. The number of Shares
underlying an Option may be determined at the sole and absolute
discretion of the Board and may differ among selected participants.
As of December 31, 2023, Options granted to subscribe for
23,331,507 Shares were outstanding, representing approximately
1.36% of the total issued Shares of our Company.

Subject to the terms of the 2020 Share Option Plan and unless
otherwise specified in the terms and conditions applicable to each
Option as provided in the applicable Option Award Agreement,
a participant’s Share Option shall be vested according to the
following schedule:

(i) For an Option granted to a participant whose employment
with the Company commenced prior to the year of 2020: 20%
of the Option shall vest and become exercisable on the first
anniversary of the date of grant; 20% of the Option shall vest
and become exercisable on the second anniversary of the date
of grant; 20% of the Option shall vest and become exercisable
on the third anniversary of the date of grant; 20% of the Option
shall vest and become exercisable on the fourth anniversary of
the date of grant; and 20% of the Option shall vest and become
exercisable on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant; and
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(i) For an Option granted to a participant whose employment with
the Company commenced in or after the year of 2020: 20% of
the Option shall vest and become exercisable on the second
anniversary of the date of grant; 20% of the Option shall vest
and become exercisable on the third anniversary of the date of
grant; 20% of the Option shall vest and become exercisable on
the fourth anniversary of the date of grant; 20% of the Option
shall vest and become exercisable on the fifth anniversary of
the date of grant; and 20% of the Option shall vest and become
exercisable on the sixth anniversary of the date of grant.

The exercise price in respect of any Option shall be set forth in the
applicable option exercise notice. The Board may determine any
further discount to the exercise price upon or after the grant of the
Option, provided that the exercise price in respect of any Option
granted shall be not less than the highest of (a) the nominal value of
the Share; (b) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date, which must be
a business day; and (c) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the grant date.

During the Reporting Period, (i) Options representing 3,130,000
Shares were granted; (ii) Options representing 1,122,255 Shares
were exercised; and (iii) Options representing 1,612,485 Shares
were forfeited. As at December 31, 2023, Options representing
11,529,697 Shares have been vested and exercisable upon the
satisfaction of the vesting conditions.

Details of the Options granted under the 2020 Share Option
Plan and the underlying Shares, as well as the movement of such
Options and Shares during the year ended December 31, 2023
were as follows:
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Changes during the year ended December 31, 2023
BENBEFI2ANBLEENE
Approximate
percentage
Outstanding Outstanding of ssued
Shares Shares Shares
underlying underlying underlying
the Options as the Options as the Options
Name/Category at January 1, Options Options Options  at December 31, as at December
of Option Grantee Date of Grant Exercise price” 2023 granted®  exercised” forfeited 2023 Vesting period 31,203
R0
18188 H2023% #2023
ERLERE 12831848 12831 ARER
BREARA RBR RiRRERE EBRTENR
#4880 RaBH freg" EARG  CREBREY CARBRE® CRUBRR  RMEARR  BRE VLEHER ]
Directors
£
Mr. Zhao Lin October 1, 2020 HKDOS! 20781 - - - 20781 OnJuly 31,201 0.01%
i3 WE0A1A 08147 RUNETANA
Ms. Peng Xin QOctober 1, 2020 HKDO§1 20,781 = = = 20781 OnJuly 31,201 0.01%
gt 0F1041R 0817 RONETA3NE
Mr. Deng Bin July 31, 2000 and HKDOS1 1,526,300 200,000 - - 1726300 From July 31, 2021 to 0.10%
July 1, 2023 July 1, 2028
P AE1RNBR 08757 BN EIAAE
R NAHETATR
Connected persons of
the Company
KAANEEAL
Mr. Zhao Yinglong October 1, 2000 HKDO.8! 8,500 - 5950 255 - NA -
BxERE NWFI0A1R 0817 TR
Mr. Peng Zhenyu October 1, 2020 HKDO.81 6,000 - 420 1,800 - NA -
YRTRE AWEI0RIA 08137 T
Three Option Grantees who From July 31, 2020 to HKDO.81 987,600 800,000 - - 1,767,600 From July 31, 2021 to 0.11%
are five highest paid July 1, 2003 July 1, 2028
individuals (excluding the
Directors) during the year
ended December 31,
20239
ZHERRENDLF12R31R HANETAYAE 081 BETRYIEE
HEENTARAFMAL ABEIAIR NBETA
HEREARA(TARE
)
Other Option Grantees  From July 31, 2000 to HKDO81 19,946,265 2,130,000 1,112,105 1,608,135 19376045 From July 31,2021 to 113%
July 1, 2023 July 1, 2028
RBRERRA BANETAYIEE 081A7 BANEIAYIEE
ABETHIR AB57R1A
Total 293,47 3,130,000 1,122,255 1,612,485 23,331,507 1.36%

it




72 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZZEMHZIERER D 7

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

Notes:

(1) The exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to, among
other things, the roles and responsibilities of the relevant Option Grantees, the
contributions brought and to be brought by the relevant Option Grantees, and
the business performance and financial condition of the Group at the relevant
time.

(2) Options representing 3,130,000 Shares during the Reporting Period were granted
to the Option Grantees on July 1, 2023. The weighted average closing price of
the Shares immediately before the date on which the Options were granted was
HKD5.42 per Share. The fair value of the Shares underlying the Options granted
within the Reporting Period was approximately RMB4.30 per Share. Please refer
to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report for
details of the related accounting standard adopted by the Group.

(3) The Options were exercised by the Option Grantees during the period from
January 4, 2023 to November 24, 2023 at their respective exercise price. The
weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on
which the Options were exercised was HKD6.37 per Share.

(4)  All of the Option Grantees were employees of the Group, and three of them
were five highest-paid individuals (excluding the Directors) for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

(5)  No Option has been cancelled and/or lapsed during the year ended December
31, 2023.

2020 Share Incentive Plan

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan was adopted to enable our Group
to reward the grantees (the “Share Award Grantees”) for their
services and contribution to the success of our Group, and to
provide incentives to them to further contribute to the Group. The
2020 Share Incentive Plan provides for awards of RSUs, restricted
shares, or other awards involving Shares or are valued in whole
or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based upon or settled
in, Shares, including unrestricted Shares, performance units,
share appreciation rights, dividend equivalents and convertible
debentures.

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any person belonging to any
of the following classes of eligible participants to take up an award:

(@) any full-time executives, officers, managers or employees
of our Group, or any entities designated by them, who had
attained the requisite seniority and performance grade and/or
targets as may be determined by the Board from time to time;

(b) any directors and supervisors (including non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of our
Group, or any entities designated by them; and

B EE -

N TEEDHERSLSE (AT eE) AR REREE
BANARREME - AEBREARADEL RS
EHRRRIARA RN BRER RN EB KRR KL
B MEEE

(2) MIEHM - 8E R 3,130,000 8% A 17 19 B8 B AE R
20237 AVHBETHBBREARA - REBRERT
B AT e B iR P e T B R B0 5.428 7T
BEHRRAREOBRERERNNARBERD
BRRM ARKE4307T - EREASERBHERE
R FE - FR2HAFRE S EREAM 26 -

(3) HERRAEAIRAB202341 84822023411 A24 A 8
FR BRI TEEITERERE - RONBEEREE
771 B HIRT R D T (B A TR 1D 6.37 7T ©

@) FEBREARAYAAELEEE  BHP=fIhA
HZE2023F12A3MBILFENRAZHEFTMA LR
BIEESR) -

(5) REZE2023F12A31BILFE - BEE A0 AE
HUH R SRR -

20205 I& 10 Bt 3l

R4 2020 4F AR 88 D 5T 8165 7 £ (8] ] #E R
BATRAEBEBA )Y AREBRNKI AT
RER R RAELNER - WS E A
EEEE T L EE o 20205 R 1% B s 8118
TRE TG B - FRERG - RE
#h35 R B9 5 2 2Pk BB (4 E 2 BR1D A
H 75 2B B RRA 3k LA R 4 o 858 (0 5
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B S R AR ES) o
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b) AEENEAEEREZ(BEIFENT
EERBYFATES)  ABFHT
MERER &



(c) any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint venture
business partners, strategic partners, service providers
or other third parties who the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or will contribute to our Group.

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years, commencing from May 15, 2020 (the “Share
Award Period”), unless terminated early by the Board. As of
December 31, 2023, the remaining Share Award Period was
approximately six years and five months. Unless otherwise set forth
in the share award agreement between the Company and Share
Award Grantees (the “Share Award Agreement”), Share Award
Grantees are normally not required to pay any monetary amount for
the acceptance of the awards under the 2020 Share Inventive Plan.
Awards granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Incentive Plan shall be
exercised by the Share Award Grantee pursuant to the Share Award
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, the number
of Shares available for each Share Award Grantees under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan shall be determined by the Board subject
to its discretion and shall not exceed the total number of Shares
available under the Equity Incentive Plans.

Subject to the terms of the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, the RSUs shall
be vested and settled, and the restricted shares shall be vested and
no longer subject to forfeiture, as set out in the offer. If a change
of control shall occur, such RSUs shall be vested and settled, and
restricted shares shall be vested and no longer subject to forfeiture
(as applicable).

The price to be paid for the grant of any RSU, and the purchase
price of any restricted share shall be such amount in such form as
may be determined by the Board from time to time as set out in the
offer.

During the Reporting Period, (i) no further awards under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan has been granted; (ii) RSUs representing
1,934,475 Shares have been vested; and (iii) RSUs representing
384,425 Shares have been forfeited.

Annual Report 2§ 2023 73

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

() {EMEMR - BHABR  2HE  &E
B wP - e IR X
BEEBEBH  BEEBH  MBREMH
B XEFEERBBRADTIEEAR
SEFELERMOEME=TT -

BREZEESIZATRIEIN - 2020F P (0 22 Eh =t 2
18 B202095 5158 #10F AR ([ R & B
BB EBKRAEMS - HE2023F12 731

A o BRIEA A A E R B R AR A RT SLA AR
B = (I RORBIHRE) A&7 - &
AR 7 B A IR A — AR 7R BRI 9 2020 F X
0 B A 8118 T /Y BB ST HEM B0 - RIE
20204F B 7 B2 BT &1 1% h 1O 2R B 8 12 R P £
BED 197 % P RO 40 mH AR (D SRBD AR ATTE o
RIR2020F B {7 B Bh At &) - 1020204 B0 8%
Bt 8l TR T BB BB AR A Z RO B8R
RHRESFSE2RTE - BT REARE
RS R B BE

R % 2020 FF Bz 17 22 Bh a1 &1 A9 R 3R - X IR
BPEMERREATORE TARE R
BE MERGIKMOETARERETEH0R
Yo o BRI EE - AIRSZREIRN
BUETUARBREE MIXREIKRNDET
NEBE TR (WER)

B 2R SIS D B AV ERS RE
MXRHIEPNBEEREREFTE RN
ZHHINANTABENESER -

REREHERR ¢ ()BE & — 29 H 20204 B 15
SRR EIE THYEERED ¢ ()HEE 1,934,475
B BRHRDEMEFE © Riii)EER
384,425 8% [ 17 Y 2 R 1l B 10 BB B 4S8 UK o



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

Details of the RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan
and the underlying Shares, as well as the movement of such RSUs
and Shares during the year ended December 31, 2023 were as
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follows: B
Changes during the year ended December 31, 2023
BENBE12RNALEENED
Approximate
Outstanding Qutstanding percentage of
Shares Shares issued Shares
underlying underlying underlying the
the RSUs as the RSUs as at RSUs as at
Category of Date of Exercise at January 1, RSUs RSUs RSUs  December31,  Vesting December 31,
Share Award Grantee Grant price @ 2023 granted ™ exercised ¥ forfeited 2023 period 2023
H2023%
H2023% 12023 128318
AL 1283188 ARHEAEL
ZRHRAEN SRARAHENL ]
EBET  CRUSRE  CAESRE  ERUSEH G RGN
RE%BARASH RHiAS frkE" EARS LUENE Regae ReEf EARG  GRE L EEV
Two Share Award Grantees  From June 1,2000t0  From HKD2. 24 to 1,289,150 - 644,575 - 644,575 From June 1, 2021 to 0.04%
who are five highest paid ~ November 16,2020 HKD6.58 November 16, 2024
individuals during the year
ended December 31, 2023
REFARENNEI2AA RANEAIEE  2UETE B2 F6R1RE
LEENEERREMAL 20005117168 6567 WENR16H
HRAXRARA
28 Share Award From June 1, 2000t From HKD2.24 to 2863950 - 1,289,900 384425 1,189,625 From June 30, 2021 to 007%
Grantees'” August 12022 HKD19.80 August 1, 2027
BERBRRARA" BONEORIRE  2UERE B2 FORNAE
22258718 1980AT 20758718
Total 4153100 - 1934475 384,425 1,834,200 0.1%
it
Notes: Bt 5

M

All of the Share Award Grantees were employees of the Group, and none of them
were Directors while two of them were the five highest-paid individuals for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

AR RBEARAGRAEERRES - BREILIE
RAKEEE  MEADMABBEE2023F128318
LEERARHHMAL -

(2) The Exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to, among other 2 TEEINHEZEEKRZE(Ehaik) BHERY EE)
things, the roles and responsibilities of the relevant Share Award Grantees, the EEANACREBE - HEARMEEREARABIED
contributions brought and to be brought by the relevant Share Award Grantees, MEELHOEBRARAEBRBRRRENEBERE
and the business performance and financial condition of the Group at the R mEE
relevant time.

(3)  No further RSUs has been granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan during the (3) REEHM - BIEE— PR 20206 R 17 2B FT &
Reporting Period. B TR R $Il AR 19 B AL -

(4) The RSUs were vested by the Share Award Grantees during the period from June (4) R EEEIERAB2023F6 818 E£2023F12H20H
1, 2023 to December 20, 2023 at their respective exercise price. The weighted BT EERBEBYRHRMERMN  BOREES
average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the PRSI (D AL EITE B AT METFH R T EAE
RSUs were exercised was HKD5.24 per Share. R AR 5.2478 TT °

(5)  No RSU has been cancelled and/or lapsed during the Reporting Period. (5) RIEEM - B EE AR SR D B A% EUS

B/ R o



PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company, at the time of its
Listing, a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1) of the
Listing Rules (the “Public Float Waiver”). Pursuant to the Public
Float Waiver, the Company’s minimum public float shall be the
higher of (i) 24.86% of the Company’s Shares upon completion of
the Global Offering (prior to any exercise of the Over-allotment
Option); and (ii) such percentage of Shares to be held by the
public immediately after the completion of the Global Offering
(as increased by the Shares to be issued upon any exercise of the
Over-allotment Option), provided that the higher of (i) and (ii)
above is below the minimum public float requirement of 25% under
Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing
Rules” in the Prospectus and the announcement dated April 6, 2022
of the Company. Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public float as
required by the Public Float Waiver as of the date of this annual
report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the Reporting Period, the Group's largest supplier accounted
for 6.25% of the Group's total purchase. The Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 17.53% of the Group's total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or customers for the Reporting Period.

As a retail-based teahouse network, our customer base is highly
diversified. Therefore, we were not subject to any material
concentration during the Reporting Period. For the Reporting
Period, revenue from our five largest customers accounted for less
than 1.0% of the Group's total revenue.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the Director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as its own code to govern its corporate
governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the
Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules

(1) pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is currently the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company; and

(2) following the resignation of Mr. Chen Qunsheng as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from
April 30, 2023, the Company only had two independent
non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive Directors was less than the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, and
the composition of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee did not comply with
the requirements under Rules 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules.
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Mr. Xie Yongming has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee with effect from July 28, 2023.
Following the appointment of Mr. Xie as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee, the Company has fully complied
with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25
and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practice adopted by
the Company is set out under the section headed "Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2023 have been audited by KPMG,
certified public accountants. KPMG will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
AGM.

There is no change of auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhao Lin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Shenzhen, PRC, March 27, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles
of integrity, accountability, transparency, independence,
responsibility and fairness. The Company has developed and
implemented sound corporate governance policies and measures,
and the Board is responsible for performing such corporate
governance duties. The Board will continue to review and monitor
the corporate governance of the Company, as well as various
internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to
those applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements so
as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the
Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules

(1) pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is currently the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company; and

(2) following the resignation of Mr. Chen Qunsheng as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from
April 30, 2023, the Company only had two independent
non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive Directors was less than the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, and
the composition of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee did not comply with
the requirements under Rules 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules.
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Mr. Xie Yongming has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee with effect from July 28, 2023.
Following the appointment of Mr. Xie as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee, a

TEERELRE
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member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the E3.10(1) 1 ~ B3.10AK ~ F£3.211{&

Remuneration Committee, the Company has fully complied F3.2516 R EI.27AKMRE °
with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25

and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

See "Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” and “Independent HBEB2H T ZEAEERTEIR
[BYIERITESE] -

EREBRE
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the Company is set out as follows: T

Non-executive Directors” below for details.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

For the Reporting Period, the corporate governance structure of
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND VISION

As a leading manager and operator of premium modern teahouse
brand in China, we establish a dual category model featured with
“tea drinks + European soft bread” in line with meeting two kinds
of pleasures by enjoying a nice cup of tea and a bite of European
soft bread, and are committed to becoming a global teahouse
brand loved by everyone, with creating and promoting the tea
culture to the world as our brand vision. We make high-quality,
healthy freshly-made tea drinks and build a lifestyle suitable for
modern people through tea drinks.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through
its committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place. The Board has general powers for the management
and is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the
management of the Company, who will implement the strategy and
direction as determined by the Board.

All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties in
good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Board confirms that corporate governance shall be the joint
responsibility among Directors and the corporate governance
functions include:

(i)  to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practice
in the aspect of compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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(iii) to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(iv) to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practice
in corporate governance, and make recommendations and
report relevant matters to the Board;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report; and

(vi) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
whistleblowing policy of the Company.

The Board has performed the functions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period.

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, namely Mr. Zhao
Lin (Chairman of the Board), Ms. Peng Xin and Mr. Deng Bin as
executive Directors, Mr. Wei Guoxing and Mr. Wong Tak-wai as
non-executive Directors, and Mr. Liu Yiwei, Ms. Zhang Rui and
Mr. Xie Yongming as independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Zhao Lin is the spouse of Ms. Peng Xin. Other than that, none of
the Directors or senior management has a relationship (including
financial, family or other substantial or related relationship) with
each other. The Board has a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

There were two new Directors have been appointed during the
Reporting Period: (i) Mr. Xie Yongming has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on July 28, 2023 and
has obtained the legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on August 15, 2023; (ii) Mr. Wei Guoxing has been
appointed as a non-executive Director on December 22, 2023
and has obtained the legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on the same day. Each of them has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Members of the Board come from different industry backgrounds
and have extensive experience in the food and beverage industry,
investment and finance, corporate management and financial
accounting.
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The Board has three executive Directors responsible for specific
management duties, representing 37.5% of the total number of
the Board members. This helps the Board to closely review and
monitor the management procedures of the Company. Mr. Zhao
Lin, the Chairman and Chief Executive Director, Ms. Peng Xin, the
General Manager and Mr. Deng Bin, have extensive experience in
the food and beverage industry and are responsible for business
management, formulating and implementing important strategies,
making day-to-day business decisions and coordinating overall
business operations.

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing 37.5% of the total number of the Board members.
The Company is of the view that the three independent non-
executive Directors have extensive experience in the industry or
financial matters and qualifications to perform their responsibilities.
The three independent non-executive Directors held office in
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is
currently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Zhao has served as a director of Shenzhen Pindao Management
from February 2017 to October 2020 and a Director of our
Company since June 2020. He is the founder of our Group and has
extensive experience in the business operations and management
of our Group. Our Directors believe that it is beneficial to the
business operations and management of the Group that Mr. Zhao
Lin serves as both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
This structure will enable our Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. Our Directors consider that
the balance of power and authority will not be impaired due to
this arrangement. In addition, all major decisions are made in
consultation with members of the Board, including the relevant
Board committees, and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board will review the corporate governance structure and
practices from time to time and shall make necessary arrangement
when the Board considers appropriate.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Following the resignation of Mr. Chen Qunsheng as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from April
30, 2023, the Company only had two independent non-executive
Directors. The number of independent non-executive Directors
was less than the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and the composition of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee did not
comply with the requirements under Rules 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Xie Yongming has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from July 28, 2023. Following
the appointment of Mr. Xie as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, a member of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, the Company has fully complied with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this annual report, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors, representing at
least one-third of the Board, of whom Ms. Zhang Rui is the Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.
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Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input from any Director are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an
objective and effective decision making:

1. Three out of eight Directors are independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence
of a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent
non-executive Director and the contribution to the diversity
of the Board according to the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company from time to time before appointment and
also the continued independence of existing independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments
annually. On an annual basis, all independent non-executive
Directors are required to confirm in writing their compliance
of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of offices
held by them in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.
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4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board and/or board committee meetings.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other
proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving the same.

7.  The Chairman meets with independent non-executive
Directors annually without the presence of the executive
Directors and non-executive Directors.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

All Directors attended various trainings in the Reporting Period,
including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The
Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their
continuous professional development.
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Participation of

training types

Training types

Name of Director EENA SEMZIER FIER

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhao Lin WA A, B, C A. Training provided by

Ms. Peng Xin Ny dan A, B, C regulators

Mr. Deng Bin B S A, B, C EEERENEI

Non-executive Directors FHITES B. Attending seminars/forums

Mr. Wei Guoxing (appointed on BREY HR 5 A (7020234 A, B, C ML, HwiE
December 22, 2023) 12A22B & ZE)

Mr. Wong Tak-wai EERELE A, B,C C. Reading economic, financial
Mr. Pan Pan (resigned on A (FR20234F A B,C and business articles, as well
December 22, 2023) 12322 B &HE) as articles and information

related to the duties of
Independent non-executive BYFHTES a director and the Company

Directors

Mr. Liu Yiwei BIREBESE

Ms. Zhang Rui SRt

Mr. Xie Yongming (appointed on oK BA 55 A (72 2023F
July 28, 2023) 7 A28 B E()

Mr. Chen Qunsheng (resigned on BREEAE S 4 (1R 20235F
April 30, 2023) 4/30R BHE)
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with our Company with an initial term of three years
with effect from the date of the appointment, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other (subject always to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract/letter
of appointment with our Company. Each of our non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
with an initial term of three years commencing from the date of
their respective appointments and subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service contracts/
letters of appointment. Under these service contracts/letters of
appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors will
receive a Director’s annual remuneration of HK$120,000.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
submit himself for re-election by the Shareholders at the first
annual general meeting of the Company after appointment and
new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself for re- election by the Shareholders at the next following
annual general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning
for Directors.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly
on a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall
be delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with
the matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board
or committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or
members of the committees at least 3 days prior to the convening
of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable
to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the chairperson prior to the meeting. The minutes are kept by
the joint company secretaries of the Company and the copies are
circulated to all Directors for reference and record purpose.

The Directors are free to express their views at the meetings.
Important decisions will only be made after due and careful
discussion at the Board meetings. The Directors confirm that they
have responsibility to act in the interests of the public and the
Company, particularly in the interests of minority Shareholders. In
the event of a conflict of interests between Shareholders’ interests
and any other interests, Shareholders’ interests shall prevail.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings
thoroughly were recorded in detail and include all matters under
consideration and decisions made including any problems raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and
committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors are free to communicate with the secretary to the Board/
company secretary who is responsible for ensuring and advising
on compliance of all procedures in connection with the Board and
all applicable rules and regulations, and have a right to review the
minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company held five Board
meetings and one general meeting. During the Reporting Period,

at the Board meetings and general meeting, the attendance record EEZESR

of each Director are set out in the table below:

RBEHE > ARARABITTAREEES
BAM—RBERAE - RBEHRHE - FEER
RERAGHHEERHNTX

Number of Number
Board of general
meetings Of which: meeting(s)
eligible to attendance eligible to
Name of Director attend Attendance by proxy attend Attendance
P& E Y B P& E Y
Exg EBRZE BRRAXE
EEnA 2R¥AE R RERHE =] R
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhao Lin 5 5 (0) 1 1
HME A
Ms. Peng Xin 5 5 (0) 1 1
ZOh T
Mr. Deng Bin 5 5 (0) 1 1
B k&
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Wei Guoxing (appointed
on December 22, 2023) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0)
BRER 5T A4 (020234F
12A22BEEE)
Mr. Wong Tak-wai 5 5 (0) 1 1
HEESLE
Mr. Pan Pan (resigned on
December 22, 2023) 5 5 (0) 1 1
BT (020235
12A22A )
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFYITES
Mr. Liu Yiwei 5 5 (0) 1 1
BIREBRLE
Ms. Zhang Rui 5 5 (0) 1 1
RIS L
Mr. Xie Yongming
(appointed on July 28, 2023) 2 2 (0) (0) (0)
KBRS
(7202357 B 28 HEZEE)
Mr. Chen Qunsheng
(resigned on April 30, 2023) 2 2 (0) (0) (0)

BREFE L
(72023454 A30H BHE)
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At the Board meetings held in the Reporting Period, the Board
discussed a wide range of matters, including the Company’s
financial and operational performances, approved annual results
and interim results of the Company, business prospects and other
significant matters.

In addition to the above Board meetings, during the Reporting
Period, the Company held a separate meeting for the Chairman
and independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the
code provision C.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each of the Board committees operates
under its terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists
of three members, namely Ms. Zhang Rui, Mr. Liu Yiwei and
Mr. Xie Yongming, all of them are independent non-executive
Directors. Ms. Zhang Rui, with appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise, has been appointed as the chairperson of
the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to manage relationship with the Company’s auditors, review
financial information of the Company and oversee the Company's
financial reporting system and internal control procedures. Details
of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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uring the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee convened E iR

two meetings. The attendance record of each member of the

committee is set out below:

HiF BRZEQRARMAREH -

®
BERKELFEREHIIMT

Major works performed by the Audit Committee during the

R

1.

Number of
meetings Of which:
eligible to attendance by
attend Attendance proxy
B
EHE EBREAR
ERERE R B R
Ms. Zhang Rui 2 2 (0)
RIS
Mr. Liu Yiwei 2 2 (0)
FRERE
Mr. Xie Yongming (appointed on July 28, 2023) 1 1 (0)
KBRS 4 (FR202367 A28 B EE1E)
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (resigned on April 30, 2023) 1 1 (0)

PREYAE %5 4 (PR 202354 A30H BHE)

eporting Period includes:

announcement for the year ended December 31, 2022;

announcement for the six months ended June 30, 2023;

effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures

and internal control system;

or drew management'’s attention to relevant risks; and

reviewed the Group's annual report and final results 1.

reviewed the Group’s interim report and interim results 2.

assisted the Board in making independent assessment of the 3.

supervised internal audit work of the Company; 4.

provided opinions on the significant matters of the Company 5.

evaluated the performance of the Group's auditor. 6.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhao Lin, an executive
Director, Mr. Xie Yongming and Mr. Liu Yiwei who are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhao Lin has been appointed as the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee include (i) reviewing the structure,
size and composition of our Board; and (ii) reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors and
the management of the Board succession. Details of the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee convened
two meetings. The attendance record of each member of the
committee is set out below:
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Number of
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Mr. Zhao Lin 2 2 (0)
ML
Mr. Xie Yongming (appointed on July 28, 2023) (0) (0) (0)
KBRS A (FR20234F7 A28 B EEAE)
Mr. Liu Yiwei 2 2 (0)
BIREBEE
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (resigned on April 30, 2023) (0) (0) (0)

PR B AE 2 A (R 20234E4 A 30 A BHT)

Major works performed by the Nomination Committee during the
Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and the board diversity policy of the Company;

2. made recommendations to the Board on the retirement and re-
election of Directors at the annual general meeting for the year

of 2023;

3. assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

4. made recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Director.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely, Mr. Liu Yiwei, Mr. Xie Yongming
who are independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Zhao Lin,
an executive Director. Mr. Liu Yiwei is the chairperson of the
committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (i) making recommendations to the Board regarding the
Group's policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management and on
employee benefit arrangements; and (iii) to review and/or approve
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. Details of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
convened three meetings. The attendance record of each member
of the committee is set out below:
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Major works performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of the Group
and the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management of the Company;
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2. made recommendations on the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

3. reviewed and approved matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (including the options
with respect to 200,000 Shares granted to Mr. Deng Bin, the
executive Director, under the 2020 Share Option Plan). The
Remuneration Committee was also of the view the grants
aligned with the purpose of the 2020 Share Option Plan. Mr.
Deng Bin had contributed directly and significantly to the
overall operations and long-term and sustainable growth of
the Group by his leadership and management experience. The
grants could align the interests of the grantees with that of the
Company and its Shareholders and encourage the grantees to
continue to contribute to the future development of the Group
to enhance the value of the Company and its shares.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in order to enhance the effectiveness of our
Board and to maintain high standard of corporate governance. The
Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting candidates
to our Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to our Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the diversity of the Board and monitoring and evaluating
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy from time to time
to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the following table and paragraph
illustrates the composition and diversity of the Board in terms of
three objective criteria, namely (i) gender, (ii) age group, and (iii)
industry and professional experience.
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Gender
4 5l
Male
B

Female

prg

75%

Age Group
FHRAER

25%

31-40 41 -50
31£2405% 41 Z505%
25% 50%

51 and over
ST R E
25%

Industry and professional experience

TERERER

Investment and corporate

Accounting and financial

Food and beverage management management
B8R RERGEER S RUBER
37.5% 50% 12.5%

The Board considers that the existing composition of the Board
is diversified, taking into account: (i) the business model of the
Group; (ii) the specific needs of the Group; (iii) the different
background of the Directors; and (iv) the Board already has two
female members. As of the end of 2023, the Group had a total of
7,199 full-time employees (including senior management of the
Company), of which female employees accounted for 53.0%.

With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Company
recognises the particular importance of gender diversity and will
continue to promote gender diversity of the Board. To ensure
gender diversity of the Board in the long run, the Company will
identify and select several female individuals with a diverse range
of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to
time, and maintain a list of such female individuals, which will be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee periodically. The Company
also intends to promote gender diversity when recruiting staff at
the mid to senior level so that the Company will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the Board.
The Group plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female employees
whom we consider to have the suitable experience, skills and
knowledge of our operation and business, including but not limited
to, business operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and compliance and research and development. The Group
is of the view that such strategy will offer chances for the Board to
identify capable female employees to be nominated as a member
of the Board in future.
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NOMINATION POLICY

Nomination of executive Directors is mainly through the internal
selection and identification of the Group's staff who are familiar
with the industry in which the Group operates with extensive
management experiences; while nomination of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is based
on their independence, their experience in the industry in which the
Group operates and business management and their professional
expertise, and reference is also made to the requirements of the
laws and regulations in the jurisdiction where the Company is
listed, and the reasonableness of the structure and composition of
the Board when selecting eligible persons for Directors.

Directors to be appointed and re-elected at the general meeting
shall be first considered by the Nomination Committee. A
recommendation from the committee would then be put forward
for the Board'’s decision. Once approved, the proposal will be put
forward to the general meeting. Subsequently, all those Directors
are subject to the shareholders’ approval for appointment or re-
election at the general meeting pursuant to the requirements of
the Articles of Association. In considering the new appointment
or re-election of Directors, the Nomination Committee shall make
its decision based on their attributes such as integrity, loyalty,
industry experience and professional expertise together with the
commitment to the Company, efficiency and effort to carry out their
duties.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the fees paid/payable to KPMG for audit
services are approximately RMB2.9 million. There were no non-
audit services provided by KPMG for the Reporting Period.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Shi Chao and Ms. Ho Yin Kwan were appointed as the
Company's joint company secretaries. Ms. Ho Yin Kwan serves as
a Vice President of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited. Ms. Shi Chao is the primary contact of Ms. Ho Yin Kwan
in the Company. The biographical details of Ms. Shi Chao and Ms.
Ho Yin Kwan are set out under the section headed "“Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.
Each of Ms. Shi Chao and Ms. Ho Yin Kwan participated in not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings in 2023 in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
the requirements under Rule 3.28 and Rule 8.17 of the Listing
Rules in relation to the qualifications of one of our joint company
secretaries, Ms. Shi Chao. Ms. Shi Chao will be assisted by Ms.
Ho Yin Kwan for a period commencing from the date of the
appointment of Ms. Ho Yin Kwan as a joint company secretary (i.e.
June 22, 2022) to June 29, 2024 (i.e. three years after the Listing
Date).

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the Reporting Period. A statement from the auditor
about its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”
in this annual report. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2023, the Directors of the Company
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimated that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group's assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and
risk management systems in place are adequate. The Board has
also reviewed and recognized the effectiveness of such systems
for the Reporting Period. Such systems are designed to manage
and mitigate risks inherent in the Group's business faced by the
Group to an acceptable level, but not eliminating the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company has established the Audit Committee to monitor the
implementation of risk management policies across the Company
on an ongoing basis to ensure that the internal control system is
effective in identifying, managing and mitigating risks involved in
our business operations. The Company also maintains an internal
control team, which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness
of internal controls and reporting to the Audit Committee on any
issues identified. The internal control team members hold meetings
from time to time to discuss any internal control issues we face
and the corresponding measures required to be implemented
to resolve such issues. The internal control team reports to the
Audit Committee to ensure that any major issues identified thus
are channeled to the committee on a timely basis. The Audit
Committee then discusses the issues and reports to the board of
directors, as necessary.
The Audit Committee, internal control team and senior
management together monitor the implementation of our risk
management policies on an ongoing basis to ensure that our
policies and implementation are effective and sufficient.

The Board reviews the Group's risk management and internal
control systems at least on a yearly basis. Based on its latest review,
the Board considers that the Group's risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective for the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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Internal policies are also put in place to ensure that inside
information is adequately controlled. To ensure the confidentiality
and the timely disclosure of inside information, all employees
are provided with learning materials and guidelines regarding
the handling and dissemination of inside information on a yearly
basis. IT system controls are implemented to ensure the access to
sensitive data is restricted to authorized personnel only.

Business Risk Management

The Group faces business risks including but not limited to
reputation risks, market risks, food safety risks, corporate
responsibility and sustainability risks. The Board meets regularly
and reviews the expansion strategies, business plan, financial
results, and key performance indicators of the Group to ensure that
the business risks are controlled and managed, and potential risks
can be identified.

Financial Risk Management

The Group has adopted financial risk management policies to
control the Group's financial risk exposure, such as taxation risks,
currency risks and financial reporting risks. Also, the Board from
time to time, monitors the financial results and key operating
statistics with the assistance of the Group's internal financial
reporting department.

Human Resource Risk Management

We provide regular and specialized training tailored to the needs
of our employees in different departments. We have in place
multiple employee policies, including an employee handbook
and the code of business conduct, approved by our management
and distributed to all our employees, which contains internal rules
and guidelines regarding best commercial practice, work ethics,
fraud prevention mechanisms, negligence and corruption. We also
have in place an anti-corruption policy to safeguard against any
corruption within our Company.

Information Risk Management and Data Protection

Sufficient maintenance, storage and protection of user data and
other related information is critical to our business operation. We
have implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected, and that leakage and loss of
such data is avoided.
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Legal and Compliance

We have designed and adopted strict internal procedures to
ensure the compliance of our business operations with the relevant
rules and regulations and provide related special training to our
employees. We continually review the implementation of our risk
management policies and measures to ensure that our policies and
implementation are effective and sufficient.

Inside Information

Internal policies are put in place to ensure that inside information
is adequately controlled. To ensure the confidentiality and the
timely disclosure of inside information, all employees are provided
with learning materials and guidelines regarding the handling and
dissemination of inside information on a yearly basis. IT system
controls are implemented to ensure the access to sensitive data is
restricted to authorized personnel only.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to Articles of Association and all applicable laws and
regulations, the Company in general meeting may declare
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. Any dividends the Company
pays will be determined by the Board, taking into account factors
including the Company'’s actual and expected results of operations,
cash flow and financial position, general business conditions and
business strategies, expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, legal, regulatory and other contractual
restrictions, and other factors that the Board deems to be
appropriate.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board proposed to amend the Memorandum and Articles
of Association to conform with the core shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules on March
30, 2023, which has been duly passed by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on June 21,
2023. Save as disclosed above, there was no significant change in
constitutional documents of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association is available
on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

TEERELRE

ERNER

BFIERFT REAEBOANRBERF - LAE
BRRHUtEMEI - UWRREHELNTAHH
ERIOER - BRI BRI REREERR R
FEMEEEN  BREMANBKREERS
MIE °

ANEER

ARBIERY AR - AHEREEE E 25
NEER - TAREBFORREHAREKIE
REMABERNSEER RIS - AR
AEEHBTENERRE - NAAREE
HeS SR RATHES] - ATERE R RERE
AT TFIEURRIE -

R EBER

ERPEESERARARAAEBERE
B AREERRAE LRI NEMEEEIR
BE - ERETSEBESFSEANNE -
ARRIRNHEARESHETEEELAL
AN ERMEHRLERE B2 RMPBR
o —RAFRENBERE  BHEER
SHELMARERANE AE  BEEREM
BHRE - AREFER/ENEMREER
BIRTE -

ERIARE

MR2023F3A308 EECEREFEES
T2 K 4B Bl - LAER | 7in 28 BI B 8 A1 BT 3K
iz OB RREIZERE — 2 MBREER
2023F6 A2 BRITHARRIRREAFAS
FEXBREDNEZ - B EXHEESRN R
REHBE  ARRMERX G EEMEAN

AR A A2 XA N A B Y B AR AT AN 2 A R B
R8I ER] o



100 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2B g1 AR A 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREQHE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, as of the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings, on a one vote per Share basis in the share capital of the
Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The
requisitionist(s) may add resolutions to the agenda of a general
meeting requisitioned under this Article 64.

The Company regard the annual general meeting as an
important event as it provides an important opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the Company’s
Shareholders. All the Directors and senior management of the
Company shall try their best to attend the meetings. External
auditors present at the meeting are also obliged to answer
Shareholders’ queries. All Shareholders will be given at least
21 days’ notice of the annual general meeting and are invited
to attend the annual general meeting and other Shareholders’
meetings.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association regarding
procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as Director.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.
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Investor Relations

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining
effective communication with the Shareholders and ensures the
Shareholders and the investors are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to current and relevant information about the
Company. The Company ensures that all material information is
disclosed on a comprehensive, accurate and timely basis on the
websites of Stock Exchange and the Company, so as to enable
the Shareholders to make informed decisions in respect of their
investment in the Company.

The Group Shareholders communication channels primarily
including (i) publication of financial reports, announcements,
circulars and press releases; (ii) shareholders’ meetings; (iii)
websites of the Company and HKEXnews; and (iv) analyst briefings,
conferences and roadshows.

The investor relations team of the Company is responsible for
information disclosure of the Company. The Company had
formulated information disclosure management system and
the system for the investor relations management to ensure
information disclosure on an open, fair and impartial basis.
Investors and the public are welcome to visit the “Investors”
section on the Company’s website (www.naixuecha.com) for the
latest news and announcements. Information about the latest
business development and news of the Company are also available
to Shareholders on the website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address:  Zone F, 2F, Building 3, Huangguan Science Park,
Chegongmiao Industrial Zone, Futian District,
Shenzhen, PRC

Attention: Investor Relations Team

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. The Company will arrange designated persons to
respond to the relevant written enquiries in a timely manner.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered the
various existing channels of communication and the feedbacks
from the Shareholders and investors, the Board considers that
the Shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented and effective during the Reporting Period.
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Nayuki Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Nayuki Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 110 to 228, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at December 31, 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.

BIAZBENR S
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Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

MERRBUREREEERENG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2 (k)(ii).

BRI E BN 11 R I 2(k)(i)F 89 & 5HBOR

The Key Audit Matter
HEETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETNAEEZSE

Local economic conditions and higher levels of
competition from other industry competitors have
impacted the performance of some of the Group's
teahouses. As a result, there is a risk that the carrying
amount of property and equipment and right-of-
use assets in certain teahouses may not be fully
recoverable. As at December 31, 2023, property
and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group
were RMB1,419,221,000 and RMB1,609,188,000,
respectively.
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The Group’ s management reviews the performance
of individual teahouses at the end of each reporting
period to identify if any teahouse experienced
operational difficulties and suffered from prolonged
negative financial performance indicators which could
indicate potential impairment.
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Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property and equipment and right-of-
use assets included the following:
HAATEDERREAREREEEE
EFeEnTERr

ERELE SR

e understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

T R N R AR (E AT 4 o B O BRI O R T R BTT IS

A

e evaluating management’s identification of CGUs
and allocation of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets to each CGU with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
2RATEHEYNNRE  FLEEBHREELSE
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e evaluating management’s identification of
impairment indicators with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards;
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Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

VIR RBURERBEERENMG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2 (k)(ii).

B 2R A TS ER R MG 11 R G 2(k)1)F B & 5B

The Key Audit Matter
HEETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETNAEEZSE

Each of the teahouses of the Group is identified
as a cash generating unit ("CGU"). The Group's
management determine the recoverable amount of
each teahouse with impairment indicators based on
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use. Based on the assessment of the recoverable
amounts, the Group recognized an accumulated
impairment loss of RMB15,773,000 as at December 31,
2023 and an impairment loss of RMB13,299,000 for the
year then ended.
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e assessing the methodology adopted by
management in its preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

SRBTGTLENNRTE  FHEBENRERITRE
TREBTRREFFERBR A

e comparing the key assumptions included in the

discounted cash flows forecasts prepared by
management in the prior year with the current
year's performance to assess the accuracy of
the prior year's forecast, making enquiries of
management as to the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether these had been
considered in the current year’s discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering if there was any
indication of management bias;
REEEBR LFERETBERSAANTAESHEH
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Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

VIR RBURERBEERENMG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2 (k)(ii).

B 2R A TS ER R MG 11 R G 2(k)1)F B & 5B

The Key Audit Matter
HEETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETNAEEZSE

The value-in-use model used to assess the recoverable
amount of each CGU with impairment indicators
involves significant management estimation and
judgement, in particular in determining the key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, cost of materials, staff costs
and the discount rate applied.
ARFAEEFAERETFRNE CELEMLAWDOE N
CAEBEEAPREANEBEEMG LA  LEE
EHETHReRERATAEANFARBR  BFRRK
o MBI - BIRARAERMITHRE -

We identified the impairment of property and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter in view of the significance of their balances in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2023 and the significant management
estimation and judgement involved in determining the
recoverable amount of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets.
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e assessing the discount rates used in the cash

e performing a sensitivity analysis of key

e assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures

e evaluating the key assumptions adopted by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
by comparing the significant inputs, which
included future revenue, cost of materials and
staff costs with the historical performance of the
relevant teahouses, management’s budgets and
plans for the operations in 2024 and beyond, and
available industry statistics;
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flow forecasts by benchmarking against other
companies in the same industry;
FREMERITENEM A RETLEBRAT GRS RE
BIFPPTE REVITIR X

assumptions in the discounted cash flow forecasts
and considering the resulting impact on the
impairment charge for the year and whether there
were any indicators of management bias; and

U RRERERATOERRRETHRES T
TEZRHHFEREERMEENTEREEFEE
MERERILNITR 0 &

in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fong Kwin.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 27, 2024
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FeRaR
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 5E AR¥ETF T ARETTT
Revenue W zs 4 5,164,056 4,291,586
Other income HA WA 5 186,490 124,950
Cost of materials MBS (1,699,442) (1,416,094)
Staff costs 8 T A 6(b) (1,403,868) (1,362,115)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 6(d) (411,588) (434,930)
Other rentals and related expenses HEmiHe RiEERXT 6(d) (306,258) (228,962)
Depreciation and amortization of E B ERITE R
other assets 6(d) (304,439) (263,183)
Advertising and promotion expenses  JE&E MHEER (165,804) (142,933)
Delivery service fees Ao X RS & (392,638) (380,520)
Utilities expenses KEFZ (143,899) (113,556)
Logistic and storage fees MnkE#E (140,833) (123,112)
Other expenses Hihp X 6(c) (261,301) (249,578)
Other net losses Hith BB F 5 6(e) (45,912) (130,865)
Finance costs B AN 6(a) (65,873) (80,326)
Share of losses of associates JE(L B2 N A E 18 13 (38,722) (1,288)
Fair value changes of financial assets AR EEFEHEZSHTA
at fair value through profit or loss EHBEE(UAREETE
("FVTPL") BEZFHHTAEHRRE]DH
SRMEEN AR EBEES 36,141 (2,603)
Fair value changes of financial NARBESEBEEZEHTA
liabilities at FVTPL EHEZMNEREEMNAR
BEH = (2,989)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATEF,(B518) 6 6,110 (516,518)
Income tax FTiS#i 7(a) 5,056 40,712
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREFN,(BE) 11,166 (475,806)
Attributable to: PR & IE FEAL
Equity shareholders of the Company NN B REZSPIRER 13,224 (469,327)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M £ (2,058) (6,479)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRER(EFE) 11,166 (475,806)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER, (&E)
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAXNEE(ARE) 10 0.01 (0.27)

The notes on pages 118 to 228 form part of these financial
statements. There are no dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the profit for the year as set out in
note 27(d).
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RARaRAMZAKEE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBET T

Profit/(loss) for the year FERHERN,(EE) 11,166 (475,8006)

Other comprehensive income for FREMEZEKE
the year (after tax and (RBREEH D ERER)

reclassification adjustments)

Item that will not be reclassified to TEEHSER
profit or loss: B HE -
Currency translation differences EHEN =5 29,645 281,025
Item that may be reclassified HigapgeEH T EE
subsequently to profit or loss: EaAIIER -
Currency translation differences BHE X ERE 631 1,110

Total comprehensive income for FRE2ENEHETE

the year 41,442 (193,671)
Attributable to: AT B IEEL,
Equity shareholders of the Company AN GI#E AR 43,500 (187,192)
Non-controlling interests IEIEAR R (2,058) (6,479)

Total comprehensive income for FAEHEWELLE
the year 41,442 (193,671)

The notes on pages 118 to 228 form part of these financial E118H E 228 AWM sH B AN A TS KR 80 —
statements. B e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MEikAR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

December 31,

December 31,

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12A31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment Y RE 11 1,419,221 1,024,087
Right-of-use assets FREEE M 1,609,188 1,273,285
Intangible assets EEEE 124 290
Interests in associates REEE N RINIRE 13 537,574 24,292
Deferred tax assets EETRIBE E 25(b) 88,046 81,464
Rental deposits HEZES 160,196 163,930
Term deposits TFEAFH 19 56,662 =
Other non-current assets HMIEmeEE 14 607,283 402,673
4,478,294 2,970,021
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at FVTPL UAnBEFT=EEEZH:TA
EREENEmEE 15 147,675 159,597
Inventories FE 16 147,208 126,284
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEKZTE 17 183,227 284,901
Prepayments TR FRIE 17 67,135 91,561
Restricted bank deposits SR BIIRITIF K 18 = 995
Cash and cash equivalents HE MBS EEY 18 444,346 1,387,495
Term deposits TEHRTF K 19 2,072,479 1,818,846
Other current assets HitmEh & E 14 = 100,000
3,062,070 3,969,679
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H b fE R IE 20 635,762 478,514
Contract liabilities BHEE 21 257,803 217,667
Financial liabilities at FVTPL AR EBET=ZBEZSFH:T A
EHETNERAE 22 - 3,121
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 428,842 472,805
Provisions B 24 421 1,282
Current taxation BREAFR 18 25 28,218 29,180
1,351,046 1,202,569
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022

20234 20224

12A31H 128318

Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

=g ARET T ARBETIT

Net current assets REBEEFHE 1,711,024 2,767,110

Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABERS 6,189,318 5,737,131
Non-current liabilities FRBERE

Lease liabilities HEBa®E 23 1,341,646 949,493

Provisions B 24 23,320 20,634

Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBRE 25(b) 2,580 1,420

1,367,546 971,547

NET ASSETS EEFE 4,821,772 4,765,584
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERKHE

Share capital AR AR 27 558 558

Reserves ke 4,824,419 4,771,173

Total equity attributable to equity ZANARERBREGESHETE

shareholders of the Company 4,824,977 4,771,731

Non-controlling interests FERES (3,205) (6,147)

TOTAL EQUITY ERsE 4,821,772 4,765,584

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on EE2R2024F3 827 B E R ERET)EE o
March 27, 2024.

Zhao Lin Peng Xin
i\ 2
Chairman of the board Executive Director
EER HITEE

The notes on pages 118 to 228 form part of these financial FN8EE228E MM T B AN Bz 8 —
statements. #o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReEEDR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders

BERRER
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other  payments  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total  interests equity
Py}
-4

Bx  RMEE  EbEE  XGEE  EXBE 2R At FERER  AER
Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

e ARMTR ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR

note 27(a)  note 27(c)(i) note 27(c)(ij) note 27(c)(ii)

Ki2r(a)  HEE27(c)0) BE27(c)i) - HRE27(c)Gi)
Balance at January 1, 2023 R2023E1B1AMES 558 9,842,268 (5,087) 29,533 26070 (5341611) 47111731 (6,147) 4,765,584
Changes in equity for 2023: N23ENERED
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - 13,24 13,224 (2,058) 11,166
Other comprehensive income E2EkE - - - - 30276 - 30,276 - 30,276
Total comprehensive income FENREE S S S S 30,276 13,204 43,500 (2,058) 41,442
Capital injection from non-controlling HEARFARELTA

interests of  subsidiary - - - - - - - 5,000 5,000

Eouity-settled share-based transactions ~ MEELEHRARS % - - - 9,746 - - 9,746 - 9,746
RSUs vested BEBXRARHEN = 8,323 = 8,323) S S - - -
Share options exercised BiTfEERE = 5,305 - (5,305) - - - - -

Balance at December 31, 2023 H2023512A31 B EH 558 9,855,89 (5087) 25651 276346  (5328387) 4824977 (3205 482112
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RaEEDR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAARHEFIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders

BERRER
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other  payments  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve Josses Total interests equity
Py
2

BE - BOEE  AbBR  XORE  EXBR  2dER &t bR SER
Note RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBODO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RWB'0O
W& ARETr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR

note 27(a)  note 27(c)f) note 27(c)ii)  note 27(c)ii)

Wke)  HR WEE2) BRI
Balance at January 1, 2022 R2022E1B1RMES 58 9826205 (5,087) 31,101 (36065 (4872284 494448 (1018 4943430
Changes in equity for 2022: N2ENERED
Loss for the year EREE = s = = = {6932 (4e9300) (6479 (475,800)
Other comprehensive income E2EkE - - - - 2213 - 2213 o 2213
Total comprehensive income FENREE = = S S 8213 (469.327) (187.192) (6479) (193671)

Capital injection from non-controlling

HEARFARELTA

interests of a subsidiary = = = = = = = 1,350 1,350
Eouity-settled share-based transactions ~ MEELEHRARS % = = = 14475 = = 14475 = 14475
RSUs vested BEBXRARHEN - 8054 - (8,054 - - - - -
Share options exercised BiEERE = 7989 = (7989) = = = = =
Balance at December 31, 2022 2022512531 AlEH %8 9842208 (5,087) 558 Uo0T0  p3TLY) 4T3 (o147) 4765584

The notes on pages 118 to 228 form part of these financial 1188 £ 228 5 KT iEfE A AN B ISR A) —
statements. 7B o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeRenER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

116  Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZE#)%52 ARG R 2 A

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Liks3 ARBTT ARETT
Operating activities RETEE
Cash generated from operations FRETIEE Iﬁfﬁ 18(b) 829,149 306,397
Income tax paid BT ATEH 25(a) (1,485) (1,314)
Income tax refunded RIBFTSM 25(a) 826 1,545
Net cash generated from RETHAESHRLSTH
operating activities 828,490 306,628
Investing activities BRETE
Payments for purchases of BEMERREONR
property and equipment (540,923) (448,316)
Proceeds from disposal of B EY KRB TS RIE
property and equipment 5,540 4,955
Payments for provisions BB I8 24 (157) (75)
Release of guarantee deposits of R ERIME 1 & KV IRTE
forward foreign exchange contracts iR iR - 9,201
Proceeds from settlement of HEINNEEBSL
foreign exchange contracts B FT1S 508 3,345 =
Purchase of financial assets BESmMEE (30,697) (720,000)
Proceeds from disposal of HESREENRERIE
financial assets 142,648 341,600
Payments for purchase of BEESESFRNR
equity securities 15 (63,190) (6,000)
Payments for acquisition of AT B A RIHR B B RUIR
investments in associates (552,004) (25,580)
Loan to an ongoing investment MIZEEBEHEK = (50,000)
Loan repayment from an associate B N RIERNE R 50,000 -
Purchase of term deposits HEE THEX (3,104,280) (3,101,796)
Proceeds from disposal of H & F HiTE SR P8 58
term deposits 2,756,257 1,366,872

Net cash used in investing activities

RETBFAREFE

(1,333,461)

(2,629,139)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meReRER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ifss AR¥TR ARBTFIT
Financing activities MEEE
Proceeds from exercise of TERRENATSSIR
share options 293 -
Payments of capital element and iﬁf‘gﬁ&%%%ﬁ’\]ﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁj\&
interest element of lease liabilities A28 18(c) (451,645) (479,129)
Capital injection from non-controlling  HTE A RIZFE R T &
interest of a subsidiary 5,000 1,350
Listing expenses paid Eff EHmAX - (219)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFIAREFE (446,352) (477,998)
Net decrease in cash and ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
cash equivalents DR (951,323) (2,800,509)
Cash and cash equivalents at RIA1ENRER
January 1 RESEY 18(a) 1,387,495 4,052,806
Effect of foreign exchange EXBEOHRE
rate changes 8,174 135,198
Cash and cash equivalents at R12AMENRER
December 31 RESEY 18(a) 444,346 1,387,495

The notes on pages 118 to 228 form part of these financial

statements.

F1M8EE228AMM XA AN BIRKR AN —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

1 GENERAL INFORMATION 1 —BEs

Nayuki Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on September 5, 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and has not
carried on any business since the date of its incorporation. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together as “the Group”) are
principally engaged in the sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
baked goods and other products and services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “"PRC").

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
("IASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

EENRERERQB([A2E]) R
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7 e
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AN (e RBeEERS ERZ
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A1) (BB S ERN(TEEFE S5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements (b) IR 2 RBIE%E

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in associates.

ltem included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to the entity (the “Functional
Currency”). The financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand
except earnings or loss per share information.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

— Financial assets at FVTPL (see note 2(f)); and

— Financial liabilities at FVTPL (see note 2(g));

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

HE2023F12A31BILFEWNLEZEE
HHERRPELAEE AR RNERR

B 2 F RO S -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and amended
IFRSs issued by the IASB to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

e |FRS 17, Insurance contracts

e Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes
in accounting estimates and errors: Definition of
accounting estimates

e Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial

statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Making

materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

e Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

e Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: International tax
reform — Pillar Two model rules
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

SETHRREFH(E)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Except for the Amendments to IAS
12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction, none of these
developments have had a material effect on how the
Group's results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented. Impacts of
the adoption of the new and amended IFRSs are discussed
below:

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and
decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred
tax assets and liabilities are required to be recognized
from the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognized as an
adjustment to retained earnings or other components
of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the
amendments are applied to those transactions that occur
after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the
initial recognition exemption to lease transactions and had
recognized the related deferred tax, except that the Group
previously determined the temporary difference arising
from a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability on a
net basis on the basis they arise from a single transaction.
Following the amendments, the Group has determined the
temporary differences in relation to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. The change primarily impacts
disclosures of components of deferred tax assets and
liabilities in note 25(b), but does not impact the overall
deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related deferred tax
balances qualify for offsetting under IAS 12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERESTTHEGE)

(continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests CIENENEINE 2t 3
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The MBARIESXASEEHNELRS -
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights BARE l?ﬁé%ﬁi%ﬁ B2EB %/:E'f
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and sSEREESA LR  NEREHY
has the ability to affect those returns through its power Eﬁffﬂ%ﬁﬁéﬁ My 2EEEE R -

over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is

no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
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and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any SE=K I }SZET—ME 8 ) JE 4 I RE
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any mAMEADE S ERER D o E 1] BT E
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at EH&@?E‘ETEEATEﬁnﬁF‘ MR o Al

fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
|losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERESTTHEGE)
(continued)
(e) Associates (e) BN AE

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method. They are initially recognized at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCl") of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate, after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(k)(i)).

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains, but only to the extent there is no
evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERESTTHEGE)

(continued)

(f) Other investments in securities () HFHEE
The Group's policies for investments in securities, other REBEBEBEFRE (RIBARR
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set out B N AR ERINBBEAT o

below.

BRRENAEBAXEE HE

Investments in securities are recognized/derecognized

on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at FVTPL for which transaction
costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 28(e). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i) Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are

classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest income calculated
using the effective interest method (see note
2(v)(ii)), foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

() EtEHRE(E)
() FERARE(E)

(i) Non-equity investments (continued)

— fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortized cost. The difference
between the fair value and the amortized cost
is recognized in OCI. When the investment is
derecognized, the amount accumulated in OCl is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortized cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.

(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an irrevocable election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognized in OCI. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election
is made for a particular investment, at the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings and not recycled through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9) Derivative financial instruments

=

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host
contract and accounted for separately if the host contract is

not a financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with changes
therein recognized in profit or loss.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Construction in progress represents property and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment
have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as
separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and
equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows, and is generally
recognized in profit or loss:

Over the shorter of
the lease term or
the estimated useful

Leasehold improvements life of the asset

Kitchen equipment 3 -5 years
Furniture equipment 3 -5years
Electronic equipment and others 3 - 5years

Right-of-use assets Over the lease term
Office building situated on
leasehold land 45 years
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if

appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() BEYEE

(i) Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or
loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalized
only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost
less accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible
assets less their estimated residual values using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, if
any, and is generally recognized in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Software 5-10 years
Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values

are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

() Leased assets () HEEE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether AREBREHABRRIEZELZ

the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases
that have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and
leases of low-value items such as apartments, storage and
printer. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value item, the Group decides whether to capitalize
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalized, the
associated lease payments are recognized in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortized cost and interest expense is recognized using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets (continued)

() HEEE(E)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease is
capitalized is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortized cost (see notes 2(f)(i), 2(v)(ii)
and 2(k)(i)). Any excess of the nominal value over the initial
fair value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets (continued)

() HEEE(E)

As a lessee (continued) EREAF T (&)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease EHBREEESN  NHEHEHBELE
modification, which means a change in the scope of a BB E SRR LW EARE AR
lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally EREBEEE(L  WZBHRKREAR

provided for in the lease contract, if such modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case,
the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which
satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS
16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage
of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognized
the change in consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

As a lessor

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(j),
then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

k) FEBBRREERE
() £BIANEEEA

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECL"s) on the financial assets measured
at amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets and trade and other receivables are discounted
using the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof where the
effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that
are result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that are result
from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

AEERIZE KA EN TR
BEBRERELREEFEY
B 5 I WA I B A Wk IR )
MEHMEEER([BHMEES
BEREBREE -

BHEEEEE

B EERREEERRBRIHE
MR - —RME - EEER
NEEBMEMEE N
ERPRe T eENRERE -

MR EEX BTN XS
BEENE S R EAMREKFIEN
EHIR ST R BER A ER IR
REEENERN XL EAEUE
BEIR o

RiGFHRBEEEERZ BN &R
RPRAAEEAREERRY
RRAXHME

RS B 18 20 5 R R — (B
RAGHE ¢

- 1R2EAEHEEEE : K&
EHER12EA AR EELE
MEHNEMH (T ANES
BHHBPLRI12(H - BIAE
RRHIRETE) M E MM IE
HEEERIHD : Rk

- =HEHEERE KRR
HEEHREANIERER
A A A AL B £ /)&
MEAMEBNBHEES

1’



132 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2E#%2 ARG R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

AANREEDITR)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which

are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to have

low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments for which credit risk

(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected

life of the financial instrument) has not increased

significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial

instrument has increased significantly since initial

recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group

considers reasonable and supportable information

that is relevant and available without undue cost or

effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment,

that includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial

asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30

days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () =@ ITAMEZEEREE)

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

— the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realizing security (if any is held);
or

— the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due ;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

— itis probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganization; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

(i) BfbIF R EERE

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that
the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss
had been recognized.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 2k(i) and 2k(ii)).

Impairment losses recognized in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognized had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.

(I) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(m) &HRIR

(m)Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognizes
the related revenue (see note 2(v)). A contract liability is
also recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognized (see
note 2(n)).

(n) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. All receivables are subsequently stated
at amortized cost (see note 2(k)(i)).

(o) Software-as-a-service (SaaS) arrangement costs

A Saa$S arrangement is a service arrangement where the
Group has a right to access to the supplier’'s application
software running on the supplier’s cloud infrastructure
during the term of the arrangement, but not control over
the underlying software asset.

Costs to implement a SaaS arrangement, including those
incurred in configuring or customizing the access to the
supplier’s application software, are evaluated to determine
if they give rise to a separate asset that the Group controls.
Implementation costs that do not give rise to an asset are
recognized in profit or loss as incurred, which may be over
the period the configuration or customization services are
received to the extent that such services are distinct from
the Saa$, or over the term of the SaaS arrangement to the
extent the configuration or customization services are not
distinct from the SaaS.

Payment made in advance of receiving the related services
is recognized as prepayment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL (see note 2(k)(i)).

(9) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company's
equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted from
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders as
treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued.

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Refund liabilities arising from volume rebates are
recognized in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(v).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(s) BE®@F

(s) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognized
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance
system established and managed by government
organizations. The Group makes contributions to
basic pension insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the government.
The local government authorities are responsible
for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the defined contribution
basic pension insurance. There are no forfeited
contributions for the defined contribution basic
pension insurance in the PRC social insurance system
as the contributions are fully vested to the employees
upon payment to the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
There are no forfeited contributions for the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes as the contributions are fully
vested to the employees upon payment to the scheme.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(s) BEBFI(E)
(i) BEREIEF

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognizes restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(iii) Share-based payments

The Group operates share incentive plan, under which
it receives services from directors and employees
as consideration for equity instruments (including
share options and Restricted Share Units (“RSUs")) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in
exchange for the grant of the equity instruments (share
options and RSUs) is recognized as an expense in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Share options

For grant of share options, the total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted by using option-pricing models:

— including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions; and

— including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions.
It recognizes the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(s) EERA (&)
(iii) DR BERZ (13 (F)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Share-based payments (continued)

RSUs

For grant of RSUs, the total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
Group's shares at the grant date.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of RSUs that are expected to vest based
on service condition. It recognizes the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Share-based payment transaction among group
entities

The grant by the Company of share incentive plan over
its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognized over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiaries undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in separate
financial statements of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income, or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized
for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the extent
that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

— taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organization
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

) FISHL (&)

The Group recognized deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

(t) Income tax (continued) (t)

AEEREHAEABEREREEE
DRERIELERIEE EMEERIE
BfE-

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, FAHERBEEBE  APEHEERR
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences AN E2ARERIEE

to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
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will be available against which they can be used. Future W T LARERR o R IRMER B & FI
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of REMEERREREZENED

relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of BRET WERHEREZERN
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize RHEIAENRERRELERIE ﬁ

a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(u) BB NMERAE

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the —BME BELSEBAEXRMER

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognized for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods and the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group's business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognizes revenue on a gross basis, including
the sale of goods and equipment that are sourced
externally. In determining whether the Group acts
as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it
obtains control of the products or services before
they are transferred to the customers. Control refers
to the Group's ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products or services.

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties such as value
added tax on other sales taxes. The Group's revenue is
derived from the following sources:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(v) Weas R H A A (48)
() EF& KM ()

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and (a) BBAREHERBIR - M5

other products and services through teahouses
Revenue from sales through teahouses are
primarily related to (i) the sales of various freshly-
made tea drinks such as fruit tea drinks; (ii)
sales of baked goods such as breads, cakes and
desserts which complement the freshly-made tea
drinks; and (iii) sales of seasonal gift boxes and
other products. Revenue from the sales through
teahouses is recognized at the point in time when
the customers accept the ordered products and
the control over the products is transferred to the
customer. For orders from online food delivery
applications, revenue is recognized at the point
in time when the goods are delivered to the
customers, which is the point of time when the
control over the products is transferred to the
customer.

Discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks and baked products

From time to time, the Group offers its customers
discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products. The discount vouchers and free vouchers
for complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products can be obtained through three channels:
(i) from qualified purchases when the customers
reach certain amount of spending; (ii) from
redemption of membership points accumulated
from the membership programs of the Group; (iii)
distributed for free of charge by the Group through
various promotional and advertising activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

) ek R E MU ()
() BFEKYE ()

(v) Revenue and other income (continued) (v)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and (a) BBAREHERBIR - M5

other products and services through teahouses
(continued)

Discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks and baked products
(continued)

As the discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products obtained through channels (i) and (ii)
are issued concurrent with a revenue transaction,
the Group estimates the value of the future
redemption obligation based on the estimated
value of the products for which the discount
vouchers and free vouchers for complimentary
drinks, baked goods and other products are
expected to be redeemed, and recognizes
the estimated fair value as contract liability.
Subsequently, contract liability is recognized as
revenue at the point in time when the customer
redeems the discount vouchers and free vouchers
for complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products in future purchases, or when the Group
is legally released from its obligation based on the
expiration date of the discount vouchers and free
vouchers.

For discount vouchers obtained through channel
(iii) for which the granting of such discount
vouchers does not occur concurrently with a
revenue transaction, the discount vouchers are not
accounted for when such vouchers are granted and
can only be applied to future purchases of certain
specified products of the Group. The Group
recognizes as a reduction in revenue when the
customers apply the discount vouchers in future
purchases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(v) Weas R H A A (48)
() EF& KM ()

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and (a) BBAREHERBIR - M5

other products and services through teahouses
(continued)

Prepaid cards

The Group also offers prepaid cards to its
customers and the cash consideration received
from the sales of prepaid cards are recognized as
contract liabilities. Revenues are recognized upon
the usage of the prepaid cards.

Membership program

The Group offers customers a membership
program for which its customers can earn
membership points from qualified purchases.
The membership points can be used to redeem
discount vouchers, cell phone accessories and
other accessories related to the brandings of the
Group.

Customers membership points earned through
qualified purchases are considered as a separate
performance obligation arising from transactions
with customers. The Group estimates the value
of the future redemption obligation based on
the estimated value of the products for which the
membership points are expected to be redeemed
based on historical redemption patterns, including
an estimate of the breakage for points that will not
be redeemed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

) ek R E MU ()
() BFEKYE ()

(v) Revenue and other income (continued) (v)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b) Sales of ready-to-drink beverage (b) $EEMEERE

Revenue from sales of ready-to-drink beverage is
recognized at the point in time when control of the
product is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the goods.

Volume rebates

The Group typically offers customers of ready-
to-drink beverage retrospective volume rebates
when their purchases reach an agreed threshold.
Such rights of volume rebates give rise to variable
consideration. The Group uses an expected value
approach to estimate variable consideration based
on the Group's current and future performance
expectations and all information that is reasonably
available. This estimated amount is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
resolved. At the time of sale of products, the
Group recognizes revenue after taking into
account adjustment to transaction price arising
from rebates as mentioned above. A refund
liability is recognized for the expected rebates,
and is included in other payables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(v) Weas R H A A (48)
() EF& KM ()

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(c) Sales of goods and equipment and provision of

services to franchisees

Sales of goods and equipment

The Group enters into a series of agreements with
each franchisee, which mainly include a license
agreement and a sales agreement (collectively
“Franchise Agreements”), whereby the franchisees
are licensed to operate the franchised stores and
are authorized to sell, in their own stores, the
freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and other
products made by certain equipment and raw
materials purchased from the Group. Revenue
from sale of goods and equipment to franchisees
is recognized at the point in time when the goods
and equipment are delivered to the customers,
which is the point of time when the control over
the goods and equipment is transferred to the
franchisees.

Provision of franchise services

For income from initial franchise fees, franchisees
are required to provide non-refundable upfront
payments in exchange for the franchise right,
which represent primarily their right to access
the Group's brand name and trademarks and
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
expected franchise period, typically of 3 to 5
years. In addition, franchisees are also required
to pay franchise service fees including (i) pre-
opening comprehensive service fee for market
and location analysis and opening operation
guidance; and (ii) pre-opening training service.
Revenue is recognized when the related services
are rendered as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group. The pre-opening comprehensive
service and pre-opening training services provided
to the franchisees are considered to be distinct as
the service contents are largely unrelated to the
Group's brand name and trademarks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(c)

Sales of goods and equipment and provision of
services to franchisees (continued)

Provision of franchise services (continued)

For income from continuing support service fees,
the franchisees receive ongoing operational
support services, which are highly interrelated
with the franchise right from the Group during
the franchise period, and pay continuing support
services fee, which is determined based on a
fixed percentage of the applicable franchisee’s
actual income. Continuing supporting service fee
is recognized as revenue when the related sales
occur.

Franchisees are required to make a deposit, which
is refundable at the termination of the Franchise
Agreement, to guarantee its proper performance
of contractual obligations during the franchise
period. The Group determines that the payment
terms for non-refundable upfront initial fee and
the deposit were structured primarily for reasons
other than the provision of finance to the Group.
Accordingly, the Group has determined that
Franchise Agreements do not include a significant
financing component.

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
assets to the gross carrying amount of the financial
assets. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(b)

Government grants
Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognized as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same years in which the
expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognized in profit or loss over the useful life of
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

Service income

Service income relates to the Group's offer of
certain spaces to portable mobile phone charger’s
provider for the instalment of the portable mobile
phone charger facilities within the Group's
teahouses for the conveniences of its customers.

Service income is recognized overtime when
the Group satisfies the performance obligation
according to the service contract.

Trademark licensing income

Trademark licensing income relates to the Group's
granting of permission to certain collaborated
parties to use its brands on certain agreed
commercial products. Trademark licensing income
is recognized overtime when the Group satisfies
the performance obligation according to the
licensing agreement.

AANREEDITR)

2 EXREFEEE)

(v) Weas R H A A (48)
(i) EALTRREAMA b 25 ()

(b)

A 1 B
BB A & B RER AN
1) % Mo B KA 8 B B S <7
HL PP 75 2 AR 1R B TR B 5 R
AR HER

AREEAKREEELRX
ZHBRASELZR—F
EERGHNIEETERR
WA e

MEAREEEKRAN
TIREEZREESIE -
HENZREBE 2\ AT
AR DI B 2 7 AR
B BRER -

AR5 WA

AR WA AL B RERERN
FHREEREEREHRET
ERNERRERREARR
KEBEATFHITESRRER
mMArEEFPER -

EAKERERBENE
TEHNZEBE - ERREK
A °

AR T AT A

EIERT AT A AR E I T
ETRESTEE THENR
XEmEERERENE
B - BEAATRAERS
BIREET A R B TRAE
R HERR



Annual Report 2§ 2023 153

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(e) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases consists of
variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognized as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognized in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x)

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses comprise all
expenses that are directly attributable to research
and development activities or that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to such activities. Research and
development expenses are recognized as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

(z) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Notes 26 and 28(e) contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of financial assets, fair
value of RSUs and share options granted under share incentive
scheme. Other significant sources of estimation uncertainty in
the process of applying the Group's accounting policies are as
follows:

(i) Impairment of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to assess whether there
is any indication that property and equipment or right-of-
use assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the property and equipment
and right-of-use assets is estimated. Changes in facts and
circumstances may result in revisions to the conclusion of
whether an indication of impairment exists and revised
estimates of recoverable amounts, which would affect
profit or loss in future periods.

(i) Recognition of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of
deductible temporary differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognized to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilized, management'’s judgment is required to assess
the probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is revised as necessary and additional deferred
tax assets are recognized if it becomes probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(iii) Depreciation (i) #T &

3 ERFHE R (&)

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group's
historical experience with similar assets. The depreciation
expense for future years is adjusted if there are material
changes from previous estimates.

(iv) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(j), the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease
term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favorable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The lease term
is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant
change in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognized in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The Group principally generates its revenue from (i) the
sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and other
products and services through its operating teahouses,
online food delivery applications and franchisees; and
(i) the sales of ready-to-drink beverage. Further details
regarding the Group's principal activities are disclosed in
note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products and timing of revenue
recognition is as follows:

4 WERDEBERE

) s
$E.E'JH$Z sEZRBR()EBEL
EHRERE ?LM\EW)EH%EJ_\_&
MBEEEERRERR HEERMN
NEMEmERD © R(i)HEME
Kk e BEAEEE2EBAE —
HHIBRMTE4(b) R -

(i) a4
BEFEERMREEREEE S
HEFPEHBEPANT

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with BRI EERIE155
customers within the scope of BEEANEFEHAWE
IFRS 15

Disaggregated by major products REZEMSH

— Sales of freshly-made tea drinks — $HEIH B AR 3,776,943 3,135,326
— Sales of ready-to-drink beverage — SHE R R 266,619 157,031

— Sales of baked goods and — SHE M B R LA R E A ez
other revenue 1,120,494 999,229
5,164,056 4,291,586

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group
did not have any customer with which transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group's total revenue (2022: nil).

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE -
AEFBWETAEFLZRSHBIB
REB WS 2 FE10% (20224
) o
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued) (a) Wz (4B)

4 Wmk o E®E (F)

(i) Performance obligation and revenue recognition
policies
Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a
good or service to a customer. Information about the
nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance
obligations in contracts with customers and the related
revenue recognition policies are set out in note 2(v).

(iii) Revenue expected to be recognized in the future
arising from contracts in existence as at the end
of the reporting period

Contracts within the scope of IFRS 15

As at December 31, 2023, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts is RMB7,844,000 (2022: RMB9,617,000). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognized
in the future when the Group satisfies the remaining
performance obligations, which is expected to occur
over the next 1 to 12 months (2022: 1 to 12 months).

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
view of the increased scale and business activities of ready-
to-drink beverage business, and to help investors better
understand the Group's revenue structure and margin
trends, a new segment named “Ready-to-drink beverage
business” has been separated since 2023, both in the
internal reports to the most senior executive management
and in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
The comparative figures have been restated to conform
with the new presentation. The Board believes that the
above changes in segment information better reflect
current market trends, as well as resource allocation and
future business development of the Group.

(i) JER) 2275 Rz TR R

Wat iR B P ET S H) A K AT 51 BR
MEESE - ARERATEFE
o B n 1 ) 4 2 AR 7 B RE SR R
&= BRENEFANTRNE
50 1 K By ) K% A B e e T R
BR B0 E R EE2(v)

(ii)) BRI B R FEE KT EE
R B 1 TR s

BB B 53R 5 2RI E 1S5RS E A
HIE 4

MR20235E12A31H - KEE
BEAGHNTOIREHRTRELNZ
BHRSGERBSERARE
7,844,000 7T (20224 : AR
9,617,0007T) ° &R K H %
AEBEBITHR T BHEBFRTER
HERER R - TEEE R AR K
Z12B A AEE(2022F 1&212
@A) -

(b) 7 BB E

%

$§lﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ 4

KEMEBORBREEH AR
ﬂ BERmpREETIERM TR
AEBMESEBERNBRBE
B2023F 8 B8 [RERHE
% Mo MEBLY L - BET
BRAKSTHREEZASBRHKNA
MBERAEBENGA P BERE
HEBRBFEEEINTAHZS -
EZER/ DHWEMM LA E
TR R R B AT IS BE A K
AEEOERDERRKER %
R o
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

In a manner consistent with the way in which information

is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment, the Group has identified two

reportable segments. No operating segments have been

aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

(i)

Freshly-made tea drinks business and franchise
operations: this segment mainly offers freshly-made
tea drinks, baked goods and other products and
services through operating teahouses, online food
delivery applications and franchisees.

Ready-to-drink beverage business: this segment mainly
offers ready-to-drink beverage through distribution

network.

Segment results

The Group’s most senior executive management
assess the performance of the operating segments
mainly based on segment revenue and operating profit
of each operating segment. Logistic and storage fees
and other expenses are common costs incurred for
these operating segments as a whole and therefore,
they are not included in the measure of the segments’
performance which is used by the Group’s most senior
executive management as a basis for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Other income, other net losses, finance costs, share
of losses of associates, fair value changes of financial
assets at FVTPL and fair value changes of financial
liabilities at FVTPL are not allocated to individual
operating segment.

The revenues from external customers reported to
the Group's most senior executive management are
measured in a manner consistent with that applied in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

AANREEDITR)

4 Wmk o E®E (F)

EBE D BRERSEMKRRFMEM
RAARERSTREEABAE R

SEHMONTAER  NEEZ S
PER 28 &F - BB S G2

7
')

ERLAMERC T 5 RT 2D &P

(i)

RERREBRNBEES « It
DEE BB BELERIRASE -
mESNERARF RINBRERMH
RERHK  HEERREMER
K BR# °

BRI RTS - WD MEREB
7 SHARAR PR UM ARAY

7 EbEAE

AEERSTHEEABLTER
BEREEN BN B hahgE
MEFEEEDHBNRE - R
kERENANEMAX RZERL
EOMBRELNARKAE &
ZEERTEREARERST
BEEABREERDERERR
AHAEEN D BRIATEAN - &
A - BB RFEE - BEK
- RBIEEERRIER UAR
EBEEAEESHTAEHESR
MEREENAABEES UKL
NArRBEASAEEHFAE
HEZNERBENAAEBEE
BN ED R EERE D o

ARAEERSTHREEAERS
KEINEE P W T EeR & B
RFFEMMGFET R 2 -
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WEkoESERE (&)
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) D Ef IS (&)
(i) Segment results (continued) (i) EERAEE

Other information, together with the segment MASRESERTHREREABRME
information, provided to the Group's most senior MEMER GERSIHER) I
executive management, is measured in a manner B S ERRAERANE
consistent with that applied in these consolidated EFR B - BEAREERS
financial statements. There was no segment assets or THEBRABREBLSIEELD
segment liabilities information provided to the Group's HEaBEER -

most senior executive management.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with H E2023%2022F12A318 1

customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as FE - RUEHEREHEEINET
well as information regarding the Group's reportable Fa#tlzs WA EERS

segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for

THREBEABRBNARERD
FEMEHE D BR G BRAKE
Al 2D BMAOERBANT o

the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is set out

below.
Freshly-made tea drinks
business and franchise Ready-to-drink
operations beverage business Total
RRASEBRMEEEE REHBER st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2022 20235 2022F 20235 20225
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARMTT ARBTR ARETR
Disaggregated by timing of RYEEANEEHD
revenue recognition
~ Point in time — g, 4,884,244 4126021 266,619 157,031 5,150,863 4,283,058
- Over time — beks A 13,193 8,528 - - 13,193 8,528
Reportable segment revenues DL k1 4,897,437 4134555 266,619 157,031 5,164,056 4,291,586
Reportable segment operating A 2H AL
profit/(loss) ME/ (58) 794,843 447,090 (10,365  (40,274) 784,478 406816
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 W@k oEBHE (&)
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) o EBHE (&)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or (i) AIZ2#H 518w $T8R
loss

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBET T

Reportable segment operating profit 7] 25 ZB48 & K| 784,478 406,816
Other income E A 186,490 124,950
Logistic and storage fees MRk E#E (140,833) (123,112
Other expenses Hihfx (261,301) (249,578)
Other net losses H B (45,912) (130,865)
Finance costs RN (65,873) (80,326)
Share of losses of associates JEMREEE AR ES1E (38,722) (1,288)
Fair value changes of RAREETEEEZESHFTA
financial assets at FVTPL EHEENCREEN
NREBEEED 36,141 (2,603)
Fair value changes of AR EEGTEAHEEZEHFTA
financial liabilities at FVTPL EfEENeRAEN
NREEED - (2,989)
Unallocated head office and RAOBRPERENMCERY
corporate expenses (448,358) (457,523)
Consolidated profit/(loss) MR RIS = A ()
before taxation 6,110 (516,518)
(iii) Geographic information (iii) #tjE BH
As substantially all of the Group's operations and AN ANEBLTEEGREE
assets are in the PRC, no geographic information is BRI HE W EZYHEE

presented. e
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5 OTHER INCOME 5 HfugA
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Interest income on: AT ZIBERH BUA -
— bank deposits —RITIERK 14,223 26,492
— term deposits —EHFR 112,063 26,905
- rental deposits —HE%e 5,994 6,820
— other financial assets —HemiEE - 4,996
Government grants (note (i) R 4R B (PR EE (7)) 35,333 49,561
Additional deduction of HEIRIRENR
input VAT (note (i) BN (R EEGi)) 18,877 10,176
186,490 124,950
Notes: BEE -
()  Government grants mainly represented unconditional cash awards granted () BITMBhIEhEMBTHER FHEFTRE

by the government authorities in the PRC. During the year, government
grants received by certain subsidiaries were mainly related to foreign
investment incentives.

BE) o FA A THE R RUREE B # B =
REFINRERE R o

(i)  The amount represented 10% additional deduction of input VAT in (i) ZEeEEEBETERITHREBHERNRES TE
consumer service industry upon satisfaction of certain applicable regulatory AEERERY EERE YN EEEERD
criteria pursuant to the current tax policies in the PRC. 10%RESMNARL ©
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6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/

6 BRBLATEF(E18E)
BBAEN, (BR) Bk (G

(crediting):

(a) Finance costs

A) LT BREESH

(a) BEE KA

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARETTT

Interest on lease liabilities (note 18(c)) HEBGEF B (MFE18(c) 64,797 79,182

Interest on provisions (note 24) B B (M5E24) 1,076 1,144

65,873 80,326

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) b) EIXA(BEESIHE)

2023 2022

2023F 20224F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMER 915,618 975,443

Contributions to defined contribution TE R FORIRET B 3R

retirement plan (note(i)) (BEEG)) 64,057 83,117
Equity-settled share-based payment LAREZS A S AR (0 AR 8Y

expenses (note 26) R > (P EE26) 9,746 14,475

989,421 1,073,035

Outsourced staff costs SNEL B TR AR 414,447 289,080

1,403,868 1,362,115

Note:

GEX

MRS EERNEERZH - MEER
FEIRS 2 SRR AT IR 5T 81 1 502 Yo f
A& B IR L SR

(i) Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred and not (i)
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
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(continued)

(c) Other expenses

6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

6 BRBANEFR,(BE) (&)

(c) X

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Administrative expenses THHEX 150,558 142,016
Travelling and business development ERREBRERY
expenses 49,785 40,825
Other-party service fees HAith 7 RS & 13,626 23,257
Impairment losses BIEEE
— property and equipment (note 11(a)) —WENEEME11Q) 8,811 10,467
— right-of-use assets (note 11(a)) —(EAEEEME11)) 4,488 6,424
Write-down of inventories (note 16(b)) WosFEE (MaE16(b)) 745 1,477
Commissions Uitk 13,191 7,730
Bank charge RITE A 6,838 5,983
Auditors’ remuneration 1% EX A B <&
— audit services — % ARTS 2,200 2,200
— interim review — A Hf R 700 700
— other non-audit services — B IEEZIRE - 38
Others Hib 10,359 8,461
261,301 249,578
(d) Other items (d) EMI8 H
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARETIT
Amortization cost of intangible assets 471274 S 3 8 Rk N 165 167
Depreciation (note 11) e (FsE11)
— property and equipment I E YL 304,274 263,016
- right-of-use assets —(FREEE 411,588 434,930
715,862 697,946
Other rentals and related expenses HiF4€ RBEBRX 306,258 228,962
Cost of inventories (notes (i), 16(b)) TFERRA (KIS ~ 16(b)) 1,699,442 1,416,094

Note:

(i)  Cost of inventories mainly represented raw materials and consumables
consumed during the sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods

and other products.

() FERAEZENEERMARK - HIEE
AR DA B L i 22 i B 0 AR B IR A BB AR

on
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6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 6

7

(continued)

(e) Other net losses

BRBiADR A, (BE8) (&)

(e) EAhE 1B FER

2023
20234
RMB’'000

2022
20224
RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Loss on disposal of non-current assets HEFRBEENERE 44,077 48,053
Loss on stores closures IEHEENER 6,020 9,671
Net gain on reassessment of EREEEREERED
right-of-use assets and lease BEFRE
liabilities (9,162) (13,469)
(Gain)/loss on forward foreign exchange i=HRYNEA X (W), B
contracts (6,466) 60,917
Loss on foreign currency exchange HNEE [ SR g5 18 5,983 17,870
Others Hith 5,460 7,823
45,912 130,865
INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 REEEEBEBRZAER
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit (a) R ERRZHIAA ¢
or loss represents:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

Current tax BNEA B8
Provision for the year (note 25(a)) F R B (H13E25(a)) 366 121
Deferred tax EERIE
Reversal of temporary differences B EIE 2%
(note 25(b)) (F5E25(b)) (5,422) (40,833)
(5,056) (40,712)
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 RiREEaRkZFEH(E)
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax credit and (b) ? ERAMERFAE CHIERE K
accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates: eHHA S (EE) 2 H9EWD
o
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBTT

Profit/(loss) before taxation AR R A, (E5i8) 6,110 (516,518)
Calculated at the rates applicable LRERBARAEEEE 2

to profit/loss in the jurisdictions wmA BB R E

concerned (19,951) (127,048)
Effect of preferential income tax rates of ZETHBARAER

certain subsidiaries ST =087 (6,643) (387)
Additional deduction for qualified B BRI AR EESNOBR

research and development costs (4,893) (7,456)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A FIF B L I FA TS &8 5,987 6,340
Tax effect of unused tax losses and RERARBARIBAEE R

deductible temporary differences not AR EENRETE

recognized 36,923 69,591

Tax effect of utilization of tax losses and %A EE R HER I A
deductible temporary differences not TR 75 B 48 Ko AT B 0 B B 14

recognized in previous years ZENNBEE (6,825) (1,213)
Recognize the effect of tax losses and TR LA R F 2 AR MR R IR T

deductible temporary differences FriSTH B EN T EE &

for which deferred tax asset was not AENEREEENTE

recognized in previous years (29,243) (638)
Reversal of previously recognized B 0] 7L BT HE R A

deductible temporary differences AENEEER 19,589 20,099

Actual tax credit ERFRIBK R (5,056) (40,712)
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7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax credit and
accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is subject to Hong Kong's
two-tiered profits tax regime, under which the tax rate is 8.25% for
assessable profits on the first Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") 2,000,000
and 16.5% for any assessable profits in excess of HKD2,000,000. The
Group's subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any assessable profits
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: nil).

Taxable income for the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC is subject to
PRC income tax rate of 25% for the year ended December 31, 2023
(2022: 25%), unless otherwise specified below.

Certain subsidiaries fulfilled the criteria required for preferential
income tax rate granted to small and low profit-making enterprise
in the PRC and were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
5% on taxable income for the first RMB3,000,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2023 (2022: 2.5% and 5% for the first RMB1,000,000 and
the subsequent RMB1,000,000 to RMB3,000,000, respectively).

The subsidiaries in the United States of America and Japan of
the Group did not have any assessable profits for the year ended
December 31, 2023 (2022: nil).

Under the competent Thailand tax laws and regulations, the subsidiary
incorporated in Thailand is subject to a tax rate of 20% on its
assessable income.

AANREEDITR)

7

REERERZAEH(E)

(b) ERAT R E 2 HIAE R K
SR A (B1R) 2 ¥R

o

(#&)

BYEE -

(iii)

REASHESRABEMRES ([ LB
BRESDNRARER  AEBHE
BRENHERERABERREEMS
B o

EENEHAREENESHEMRSIFTIR
% H P 2,000,000 T ([T ])
FER B FIIA8.25% M Bl R BB R B i
2,000,000/ 7t B £E{7] P& R B2 08 A1 LA 16.5%
MR - AEERBEAOHB R AR
HZE2023F12831 B L FEAW EAT &
SRR F (20226 ¢ ) o

BTXBEREIN  BE2023F 12831
BIEEE - AEE P BB 58 ERB
W A 7832 Bl FR 15 B B R 25% M i (2022
& 1 25%) °

HZE2023F12831BLLEE - ETWE
ARIFEHLTHRENE REFBEEEE
BREHMEORCEE  WEERE
RB U A E AR 3,000,0007T F H 5%
MEBRMERBR(2022F : §ARK
1,000,0007T & £ % 9 F A KR # 1,000,000
TTZE AR 3,000,000 D DRI ER
2.5%K%5%) °

HZE2023F12A31MHILFE - AEER
EFNRE RE & B K M BB A 7]
FERBUEF(20224F + 4&) -

BREFETETOERER - REEZMAK
SZEY TS A B R Bt B AR TR MR A 32 20% ¢
ES Al
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EEHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) BIBEFB R AEHIE3831E(1) A A (]
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BEENREMRIIE2BREBENES
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of E2i b (ul NI

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2023

BZ2023512A31ALERE
Salaries,

allowances Retirement Share-based

Directors'’  and other Discretionary scheme  payments
fees benefits bonuses contributions (note (v) Total

e SRR A

EHR Bfhe ERNME
¥ 0k HipER BiETa SEfE (FEWV) @t

RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR AREBTR ARETR

Chairman EER
Mr. Zhao Lin il Ve - 1,264 319 92 - 1,675
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Peng Xin ZORT - 1,511 444 67 - 2,022
Mr. Deng Bin e - 922 456 42 461 1,881
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Pan Pan (note (i) AR (i) - - - - - -
Mr. Wei Guoxing (note (ii) BRBIE & A (B EEGh) = = = = = =
Mr. Wong Tak-wai EEEEE = = = = = =
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (note (iii) R BEAE 2 A (B2 Gii)) 36 = = - - 36
Mr. Liu Yiwei HRBRE 108 - - - - 108
Mr. Xie Yongming (note (iv)) 31K BB 4 (W3 Gv) 46 - - - - 46
Ms. Zhang Rui RELT 108 - - - - 108

298 3,697 1,219 201 461 5,876
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

AANREEDITR)

8 EEHM(E)

Year ended December 31, 2022

BE02F12B31BILER
Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Share-based
Directors'  and other Discretionary scheme  payments
fees benefits bonuses contributions (note (v)) Total
He- AR A
ZE R Bhe  ERMER
EEHE HitiER Wi HEG5 (PzEW) @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT AREFT ARETR
Chairman EZR
Mr. Zhao Lin izl e = 1,250 = 86 = 1,336
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Peng Xin ZLhRT = 1,250 = 86 = 1,336
Mr. Deng Bin B - 886 = 41 443 1,370
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Pan Pan (note (1)) B A (P EEG) = = = = = =
Mr. Wong Tak-wai BERLE = = = = = =
Independent Non-executive BUFGTES
Directors
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (note (i) BR B A S A (ki) 103 = = = = 103
Mr. Liu Yiwei FRREL 103 - - - - 103
Ms. Zhang Rui R AT 103 = = = = 103
309 3,386 - 213 443 4,351
Notes: MieT -

i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Pan Pan resigned from his position as a non-executive director on
December 22, 2023.

Mr. Wei Guoxing was appointed as a non-executive director on December
22,2023.

Mr. Chen Qunsheng resigned from his position as an independent non-
executive director on April 30, 2023.

Mr. Xie Yongming was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on July 28, 2023.

These represent the estimate value of share options granted to the directors
under the share option plan (note 26). The value of these share options
is measured according to the Group's accounting policy for share-based
payments as set out in note 2(s)(iii).

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no amounts paid or
payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals
set out in note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as a compensation for loss of office (2022: nil). There was no arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: nil).

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

EBLER2023F 12 A 22 B BHEFERITE S ©

g%?ﬁiﬁézozﬁuﬂ 22 A EZ A BIERIT

ggi%iﬁ@zomim 30 A BHEB N IEAT

HoK PR SE AR 202367 A28 HIEZ T BB IE
HWITES -

BESHEREBIE B2 BT EE
2 IR (A - SUAMM 2T B -
ol 2 (B (E YR A R B AR D BER 2 (131
2 WHBORA & -

REZE2023F12A31BILFE - AEEBER
R T X AT T Al = 3 B A £ fd 5k
FERIERIFRIEE B ANA SN A RS B 1% 7 42 E)
I B BER A (20224 « ) - WEAHES
MREZE2023F 12831 B L FERESX R B RE
EIFT A Bk (20224 : &) -
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i & M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2022:
nil) of them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 8.

REHMAL

AZEEHMALHR  —H(2022F + &=
BIEEMNES R -

HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000
HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000

3,500,001 7£-4,000,000# 7T
6,000,001 76,500,000/ 7T -

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the four (2022: BEBBTINE(20224F « Af) AT KB
five) individuals are as follows: SHBEWT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Salaries and other emoluments FehEMmie 5,585 7,149
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAL 2,871 =
Share-based payments VARR £ 4 ZE B ) 3K 2,189 4,351
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET SR 132 79
10,777 11,579
The emoluments of the four (2022: five) individuals with the PO (20224 « A ) fx = 57 B A 2= A B
highest emoluments are within the following bands: SNFTHIEHR :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7t—2,000,0007% 7T = =
HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 7£-2,500,0007% 7T = 2
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,001% 75—3,000,000/%8 7T 2 2
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 7t-3,500,0007% T 2 -
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10 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

10 8REF, 7 (&HR)
() BREAREF(BE)

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per
share is based on the profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB13,224,000 (2022:
loss of RMB469,327,000) and the weighted average of
1,715,126,147 ordinary shares (2022: 1,715,126,147 ordinary
shares) calculated as follows:

BREREF,(EE) THRAR R
e AR R FE (G i A A R85 13,224,000
JL(20224F : 1B A R¥469,327,000
TC) }1,715,126,147 & 38 Bk (2022
G 01,715,126,147 B & B A% ) &9 A4
- WEIEWT ¢

2023 2022
20234 20224
Number of Number of
shares shares
idvip gE| BiDE B

Issued shares at January 1, BT ATEMBEETRG 1,715,126,147  1,715,126,147

Weighted average number of M12A31BRYE AR

ordinary shares at December 31, IEFEHE 1,715,126,147  1,715,126,147
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (o) EREEE AT, (EE)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

There were no diluted potential ordinary shares for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Accordingly,
diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 are same as basic earnings/
(loss) per share.

FREBRN(BR)DEBRHE
BTSN E B NEFGRE - A
RREGPABEEBEE BT

=
Ea

H 2 2023F M 2022F12A31H IEF
EWEEEEELT K - Al - &
E2023F 2022612 A3 B ILEFE
WEREBERF,(EE) BTRE
KRB, (EE)ER -
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- 1MYERRERFERAEESE
OF-USE ASSETS
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREE Z 18R
Office
building ~ Subtotal of
Electronic situated on Property Property
Leasehold Kitchen Furniture  equipment  Construction leasehold and  Right-of-use
p JUif Juif and others  in progress land  equipment assets Total
fIEE
il 153 1 g ES LES
VEE BERE KERE  REREM HEIR R RENt  RREEE gt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRFR  ARBTZ  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

Cost: A

At January 1, 2022 R02%1 818 699,528 295,596 47,580 131,771 34409 - 1,208,924 2,165,788 337412
Additions "B

- Purchase -B8 = 97,780 24918 66,199 193,379 166,17 548,993 537,869 1,086,862
- Transfer from construction in progress  ~EHAEETRE 21,771 = = = 1,11 = = = =
Disposals HE (106,985) (16,259) (11,183) (10,532) - - (144,955) (496,689) (641,644)
Exchange adjustments ERBE 344 4 10 38 - - 439 931 1370
At December 31, 2022 R202212A318 804,658 377,168 61,325 187,476 16,057 166,717 1,613,401 2,207,899 3,821,300
At January 1, 2023 R20235151R 804,658 377,168 61,325 187,476 16,057 166,717 1,613,401 2,207,899 3,821,300
Additions HE

- Purchase -#8 - 122,692 32,436 100,572 501,872 221 757,793 814,443 1,572,236
~ Transfer from construction in progress  ~E&AEETHE 311,737 - - - (311,737) - - - -
Disposals k-3 (144,733) (35,334) (14,128) (17,434) - - (211,629) (372,722) (584,351)
Exchange adjustments EXBE 80 8 2 2 3 - 95 194 289
At Decerber 31, 2023 R023E12831R M2 45 79835 200616 206195 166938 2,159,660 269814 4809474
Accumulated depreciation: AR

At January 1, 2022 R02EIA1A 283,041 48,615 5493 61,192 - - 404,941 848,230 1,253,171
Charge for the year ERHIER 151,871 62,783 11910 34,764 = 1,688 263,016 434930 697,946
Written back on disposals HERRE (67,079) (9.547) (5913 (5,864) - - (88,403) (355,666 (444,069
Exchange adjustments EiAE 186 18 4 9 - - il 69 913
At December 31, 2022 R2022512A31R 368,019 101,869 11494 96,701 - 1,688 519,11 928,190 1,507,961
At January 1, 2023 R023%F1817 368,019 101,869 11,494 96,701 - 1,688 579,171 928,190 1,507,961
Charge for the year ERfR 158,177 74,884 15971 51,725 - 3,517 304,274 411,588 715,862
Written back on disposals 1 EREE (109,072) (25,529) (8,492) (11,849) - - (154,942) (303,795) (458,737)
Exchange adjustments ER5E 43 7 1 - - - 51 155 206

At December 31, 2023 #20235124318 417,161 151,231 18,974 136,577 - 5,205 729,154 1,036,138 1,765,292
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- 1MYERZERFEAREEE(E)
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) BREIMEZHR(E)
Office
building ~ Subtotal of
Electronic situated on Property Property
Leasehold Kitchen Furniture  equipment  Construction leasehold and  Right-of-use
improvements  equipment  equipment  and others i progress land  equipment assets Total
fIEE
HE g7 I ES LES
NERE BERR BERE  REREM RRIE £ RN RRBEE &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARBTZ  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARETR  ARBTR

Impairment: HE:

At January 1, 2022 R02EIA1E 2620 - - - - - 2,620 424 6,844
Addition HE 9,481 197 40 349 - - 10,467 642 16,891

Written back on disposals HERED (3.544) - - - - - (3,544) (4.224) (7.768)
At December 31, 2022 #2022512A318 8,957 197 40 349 - - 9,543 642 15,967

At January 1, 2023 RABEIA1A 8,557 197 440 349 - - 9,543 6,424 15,967
Addition hE 4,289 2,356 592 1574 - - 8,811 4,488 13,299
Written back on disposals HEREE (4,856) (876) (580) (757) - - (7,069) (6,424) (13,493)
At December 31, 2023 #2023512A318 7990 1,677 452 1,166 - - 11,285 4,488 15,773
Net book value: EEFE:

At December 31, 2023 R023%12A318 546,585 311,626 60,209 132,873 206,195 161,733 1,419,221 1,609,188 3,028,409

At December 31, 2022 R02512A318 428,082 275,102 49,391 90,426 16,057 165,029 1,024,087 1,213,285 2091312
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

MUERRERERAEEE (&)

(a) FREE 2 HRR (%)

Impairment loss

The recoverable amount of each teahouse (cash-
generating unit (“CGU")) with indication of impairment is
estimated at the end of each reporting period. As at the
end of each reporting period, in view of the unfavorable
future prospects and poor performance of certain
teahouses, there were indications that the CGUs may
suffer an impairment loss. The management of the Group
has conducted impairment testing for teahouses with
impairment indications. The recoverable amount of each
CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations
by preparing cash flow projections of the relevant CGU
derived from the most recent financial forecast approved
by the management covering the remaining lease term.
The cash flows are discounted using discount rate of
10.84% as at December 31, 2023 (2022: 11.59%). The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU.

As at December 31, 2023, the carrying amount of certain
CGUs exceeds their recoverable amount, therefore,
an impairment loss of RMB13,299,000 for property and
equipment and right-of-use assets within the CGU was
recognized in “"Other expenses” in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss for the year ended December
31, 2023 (2022: RMB16,891,000).

JBL BT 18
REREHRSHEFTERETEH
ERBEReEFEM([REE
ABMD))NAREEE - RE®RE
R - ERE TRKIERRKTS
LRIBRE BRRETRRESELE
BAAESIRERE AEEE
BEEDETRENR SBREESE
BRI ESBERIEFEREER
HEREETE  AEA REER
B EN SR BB OCRERT
TEH)HEHBReELEMNIE
& mETER - B2023F 128318 -
WL REFM10.84% AL IR R BLIR
(20224 : 11.59%) - Fr{E AR BAIR
RNBAIY RMERABRSELS
BB ERRE

2023128318 EFREESE
BAUMNEEDEBBEAKESEE
Hit - MBREELEEVANMER
REARFEAEEENREBSEA
R #13,299,0007T (20224 : AR#
16,891,0007T ) Ty &L = 2023 12 A
NBEFEMNGEERRA [ EMmFHE
X PR o
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

MPRRBREREAEEE (F)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EREEE
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases HREEERNEEAEENRTIE
recognized in profit or loss is as follows: BeViranT :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use REBEEESRNEREEE
assets by class of underlying asset: MITERY :
Property — Right-of-use assets ME—(FREEE 411,588 434,930
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEBENN R (HzEs)) 64,797 79,182
Expense relating to short-term leases HL5S BRAE S AERE YR 2 63,638 44,003
Expense relating to leases of low-value  EEKEEEEMREHBH
assets, excluding short-term leases HY o TERFBEEREEEEN
of low-value assets EHHE 1,551 1,540
Variable lease payments not included Rt AHEBEFED
in the measurement of lease liabilities AIEAE MK 108,442 65,443
Covid-19-related rent concessions E 5/ Covid-1948 7
received HEER = (11,442)

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(d) and 23,

respectively.

ﬁcﬂ’/%fiﬁ G Rl

BhHEAGED S
DITEEED J%Xﬁéfﬁ?m

d) %23 °

The Group applied the practical expedient in paragraph
46A of IFRS 16 to all eligible rent concessions received by
the Group in 2022. Further details are disclosed in (i) below.

2022 - ANEEE BN HER
EAREERF 1697 F46AER B A 1T
EEZAEARAEERSNAE
B TR o #E—FFBFR T X0 HE

Eo
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

MUERRERERAEEE (&)

(b) EREEEE)

(i) Property — Right-of-use assets () W% —(@FRApsE

The Group has obtained the right to use properties as
its teahouses and offices through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 5 to 8
years.

The Group leased a number of teahouses which
contain variable lease payment terms that are
based on sales generated from the teahouses and
minimum annual lease payment terms that are fixed.
These payment terms are common in the PRC where
the Group operates. In 2022, the Group received
rent concessions in the form of a discount on fixed
payments as a result of severe social distancing and
travel restriction measures introduced to contain the
spread of COVID-19. The amount of fixed and variable
lease payments for the year is summarized below:

AEECREBHERARGEEE
ERERERRERBREROE
F o AV B ERBTE R5ES
E'E o

AEBHELRAERE HBHE
ERRREMEEHER 2 TE
HEeEREFREEERES AR
B FIER o ZEMRIEHRER
EEKEREMTEBER - B
20224 + AR ABHICOVID-19
B EREm L 6 MRS B
MEATRBIER - ANEBETE
MNETHNFRNESHESER °
FREIMEE & 0] S8 &~ B
I

2023
2023%F
Variable
payments
and other COVID-19
Fixed related rent Total
payments expenses concessions payments
CIE-ZRE
kHfM  COVID-19
& E &K MHREARA X HEER REE
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBTRT AR%®TRT AR%®TR AR%TxR
Lease assets HEEE 451,645 175,126 - 626,771
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

MPRRBREREAEEE (F)

(b) EREEEE)

(i) Property — Right-of-use assets (continued) () Y% —(EHEZEE)
2022
20224
Variable
payments
and other COVID-19
Fixed related rent Total
payments expenses concessions payments
EIE-SNE:N
Ko EoAh, COVID-19
& TE 3K MHEER HEER B
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR®ETT
Lease assets HEEE 490,571 113,024 (11,442) 592,153

(i) Rental deposits

The refundable rental deposit itself is not part of
the lease payments and is in the scope of IFRS 9.
Therefore, the rental deposit should be measured at
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the
deposit is an additional lease payment made by the
Group and it is included in the measurement of the
right-of-use assets.

(i) #HEZE

AREHERESAFWIFBEN
R —&D - MEBERTERS
ZHFEIRMEE - At - HE
B RIERRERROAAE
BFtE - MEWIBE AR BER
EERNEZR SR EEFEREIN
MENKAEFAERREEEN

5
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12INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Investment in subsidiaries — the Company

i & M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

12 RHEA TG
(a) RHB AT E — A AT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Investment costs (note (i) B R (MTEEG)) 118,013 116,046
Deemed investments arising from LA B EE B H S 3k
share-based payment expenses X EERRERE
(note (ii) CIEDY 62,940 54,051
Capital loan to subsidiaries (note (iii)) A B ATIRENERER
(B EGii)) 3,705,504 3,055,231
3,886,457 3,225,328

Notes:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

Investment cost consist of (i) the initial fair value of the warrants issued
by the Company in connection with the onshore loans provided to a
subsidiary of the Group, and (ii) the interest on redeemable capital
contribution that were converted along with the capital contribution
principal in January 2021 for the subscription of series A, A+ and series
B-1 convertible redeemable preferred shares of the Company.

The amount represents share-based payment expenses arising from
the grant of share options and RSUs of the Company to employees of
the subsidiaries (note 26) in exchange for their services provided to
these subsidiaries, which were deemed to be investments made by the
Company into these subsidiaries.

All these balances are unsecured and their repayments are neither
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

GEE

(i

(i)

(i)

BERABEOANR AR T AEE—
KK B A R R R E R T 31T R R &
BE A EE - R(i)R2021F1 AR &
AEARSER  URBAARARY - A+
F5I K& B-1XK 5 A] &4 7] §& 0] (& 5t AR A 7]
fE R BT S -

ZFIRAE AR B MM B A RME B & AR
T T B2 IR 6 B ) B (PR 26 ) PAMRER R 5
)% 5 Y B8 2 3 A AR S T 2 A ) DA R £
RERNNFES - BIEAR B RZEN
BARELNIRE -

% E A RS AR B0 ST EIEE
AR BRI REEE -
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 12 AMBARNIRE (&)

(b) Subsidiaries of the Group (b) NEE 7B A A]
The following list contains only the particulars of TREBEHAEEESE  BE
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or BEBXERE I WBRAIMNG
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary 1B -BRESEHEAEIN  FIFRHE
unless otherwise stated. AREBER -

Proportion of ownership interest

L
Place of
incorporation
and operation/
date of Registered Held by Held by
Name of company establishment share capital the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
ARAILR
ARER EE4Y/RIAE KA HARARE HMELANE IEED
Shenzhen Pindao Group Co. Ltd. ** The PRC RMB2,810,000,000 - 100%  Investment Holding
17/12/2019
AT REEEERAR: i AR %2,810,000,0007 RERR
20195128178
Shenzhen Pindao Food & Beverage The PRC RMB455,000,000 - 100%  Store operations management,
Management Co., Ltd. * 12/05/2014 supply chain management
AP REEREEERAR E AR 455,000,007 and other service
A1455R12A FREREE  HEEEERAMRY
Shenzhen Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. * 21/04/2016 baked goods and other product
MITREEREEARAT hEl AB#10,000,0007 HERRAY  HREERRAMER
01654A21A
Beijing Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. * 131172017 baked goods and other product
IRREERERERAT el ABH5,0000007C HERRAY  HEERRAMER
01711 A138
Shanghai Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. * 051212017 baked goods and other product
LEREEGERRRDA HE AK%1,0000007 and franchise operations
17%12A58 HERSOR  RERRALER
HRMEEES
Wouhan Tai Gai Food & Beverage The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. * 09/11/2017 baked goods and other product
RETAERANERARAT hE AB#5,000,0007C HERRAR  MRERREMER

2017F1179H
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries of the Group (continued)

i & M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

12 AN B ABNIRE (&)
(b) AEE ZHIBAE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

BRRRMIAL
Place of
incorporation
and operation/
date of Registered Held by Held by
Name of company establishment share capital the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
ARRIR
ARER EEHY/HIRY ERRE HANARE HMELENE IEED
Chengdu Tai Gai Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. * 28/08/2017 baked goods and other product
E RS LN hEl ARH1,0000007C HERRAY  HEERRAMER
2017587288
Guangzhou Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. * 201112017 baked goods and other product
ENTRSEHERARAT el AB#1,0000007 HERRAR  MRERREMER
17F11A208
Shenzhen Nayuki Beverage The PRC RMBS50,000,000 - 90%  Sales of flavored bottled sparking
Technology Co,, Ltd. * 20071201 water
RTRERHMRERAT hE 50,000,007 HERKRERR
0015728
*  The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English translation * ZEEBNEAEWATX  KXERE
of the name is for identification only. S o

# The subsidiary is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

o ZKBA
®,

AR —HERFENIEEE D
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13 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 13RBEQRTNRE
The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of REBRBE RN ER (R EHREE
which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market FARESEAR)FBOT ¢

price is not available:

Proportion of
ownership interest

REEEREY
Place of Group's
incorporation Registered effective Held by
Name of associate and business share capital interest  asubsidiary  Principal activity
KEEW B-%
BENRER EMRUREEHE TMRE ERE: HWEAABE TEEE
Shanghai Chatian Catering The PRC RMB57,797,321 43.64% 43.64%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. baked goods and other products
(“Shanghai Chatian”)
(notes (i)(ii)(iii))
ERBERERERAT Gl ARE57,797, 3217 43.64% 4364% HERHAY  MREDLEMER
(T L8 % 1) (FHEa) i)
Shanghai Ultimate Food Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB2,545,000 21.4% 21.4%  Sales of coffee and other products
(note (i)(ii)
FERFXRMERARAMEOG) PE ARE2,545,0007C 21.4% 24%  HEMEREMER
Shanghai Jiu Wen Qian Food & The PRC RMB1,248,447 19.9% 19.9%  Sales of fresh fruit teas and other
Beverage Management Co., Ltd. products
(note (i)(iii)
FENIEERERERAA il ARE1,28447TC 19.9% 199% HEFEKEXREMER
(PZEG) i)
Shenzhen Xing Fu Kai Brand The PRC RMB1,661,723 10.62% 10.62%  Sales of coffee and other products
Management Co., Ltd.
(note (i)(iii))
MM ERREREEEER AR i AR¥1,661,7237 10.62% 10.62%  SHEMBERAMER

GiE0m)
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13 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(i)  The official name of these entities are in Chinese. The English translation of
the name is for identification only.

(i)  During the year ended December 31, 2023, through acquired interest in
Lelecha Group Inc., a Cayman Islands registered company, the Group had
an effective interest of 43.64% in Shanghai Chatian.

(i) Based on the investment agreement, the Group has the right to appoint
certain number of the board members which allow the Group to exercise

significant influence over the investees’ operational and financial directions.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

13RBEQTNRE(E)

Wi
S RBOEHAMATX - BXBB LS

°

W
I
i

>0 B

(i) B=2023F12A31ALEFE - AEEBBAE
—XRAEFSEMAI R FlLelecha Group Inc.
ZEREER DR AMA3A%E RS -

(i) REBREHZ AEEERZETETHENE
EFERE CAEETHBRENRNEE R
BHRITEEREES -

HiifrEBERARNGEEMBRRGEAER
AN ©

BRI TEROEE AT ZELER -

Aggregate carrying amount of individually
immaterial associates in the consolidated
financial statements

Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of
those associates’
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT T ARETT

[EIRIZE N0k N BT TR

FHERMALE
537,574 24,292
REEEIEZEHERATNRASE

FAEBEBREERGRERE (38,722) (1,288)
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e MBI R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

14 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS AND OTHER 14 EMRBHEERBEMIERDE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS E
2023 2022
2023%F 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBT T
Current mE
Certificates of deposit REFE - 100,000
Non-current FETEED
Certificates of deposit REaTFE 410,000 170,000
Prepayments for purchase of property BB ¥ TBN 718 - 204,115
Prepayments for purchase of equipment B8 B XA FE T 718 21,702 26,892
Others (note (i) HoAh (B 3EG)) 175,581 1,666
607,283 402,673
Note: Bt
()  Others mainly represented input valued-added tax recoverable that are () EMEXEEBEASE12EAREIERFEA

IR SRR Ay AT U B HE TR (BT

1I5UAREBEFEREEEZFHTA
EEENEREE

expected to be realized or refunded over a period of 12 months or longer.

1S FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Listed equity investment (note(i)) T IRAERRE (M EEG)) 130,833 43,200

Unlisted equity investment IE E TR E 16,738 6,000

Wealth management products (note (ii)) 3287 & 5 (Fi7E(ii)) 104 110,397

147,675 159,597

Notes: Bt

(i)  During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group newly invested in a (i) HBZE2023F12A31BIEFE - AEEFHKRE—

FEB R A ER EA QA - %% EHRER
BNARBETEBSERENE -

company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Fair value of these
listed equity investment is measured by referencing to the stock price.

(i) Wealth management products, including wealth management products (i) BHERBEEMERREBIETFR  APE
and structured deposits, are issued by financial institutions and banks in AR S RMIE RIBITETT - AFFBNE -
mainland China with a floating return which will be paid together with the BREA—FAZIHAEEERNAE—R
principal unsecured with the maturity date within 1 year. EEN
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e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

16 INVENTORIES '|67f?-m
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statements of a) MEMBIMRAIARANZEFE
financial position comprise: ¥
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Raw materials R 98,145 72,976
Bottled drinks mEE AR 3,533 3,193
Packaging supplies and others BEAMREM 45,530 50,115
147,208 126,284
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories kAW_%%ﬁgwuZ%§ﬁ§ZJID+)\ =
recognized as an expense and included in profit M RSO
or loss is as follows:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBT T

Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFENEREE 1,699,442 1,416,094
Write-down of inventories WoRTFE 745 1,477

1,700,187 1,417,571
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7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

AANREEDITR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

17 EZ REMBUVRAELR AN

PREPAYMENTS FIE
The Group REH
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Trade receivables E 5 WA 17,374 3,178
Input valued-added tax recoverable A] iz (O] 3 T AR E F 53,536 158,805
Income tax recoverable EEERES 1,101 1,770
Amount due from a related party JE KT BBt 5 5K IE 18 13
Loan to an ongoing investment (note (i)) A% & FBHAE R (M EG)) - 50,000
Interest receivables JRE LR B, 51,156 28,694
Rental deposits MEZe 57,429 33,618
Other receivables H b jE G IE 2,613 8,823
183,227 284,901
Prepayments B RIA 67,135 91,561
The Company Vi N/NE]
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREFIT
Other receivables H b fE U 3R TE
— interest receivables — EWF] B 48,567 21,008
48,567 21,008
Note: Mizx

(i)

During the year ended December 31, 2022, pursuant to a working capital

loan agreement entered between one of the Company’s subsidiary and
Shanghai Chatian, which operates the “"LELECHA" brand, the Company's
subsidiary has provided a loan of RMB50,000,000 to enhance the short-
term liquidity of Shanghai Chatian. The loan is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable within 180 days. The loan had been fully received upon the
completion of the acquisition transaction during the year ended December

31, 2023.

All of the current portion of trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognized as expense within one

year.

HZE2022F12A31ALLFE - REBEAQRHF
—RXWBATR EEAE - HAE [
MENLEESERE ARARIKNKTEAR]
B A S A E#50,000,000 T E K AR
FESFENEHREE - ERAEEERR
180 H AfE3E - # £ 202312 8318 ILEE IR
BRI TMRE  ZERCBEES °

FTEE S MEAMEUKRENRE DA
HI R — AR T U E KRR o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 17EGREMBVRREUAR AN
PREPAYMENTS (continued) F;IE (8)
Ageing analysis BRI AT
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RMERR - HEZHHNE S ER
trade receivables based on the invoice date, is as follows: IEHRWR O -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETIT

Within 1 month — @A AR 7.884 1,233
1 to 3 months —Z=1{@A 9,290 1,845
3 to 6 months =E N @A 104 100
Over 6 months NEA B 96 -
17,374 3,178
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of B SEBIEEREAAR30E90A RN
billing. Further details on the Group'’s credit policy and credit E\JH;ﬁ BREAANEBENEEBR &EKER
risk arising from trade debtors are set out in note 28(a). REENEZERRMNE —THBHRN

u£28( ) e
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (FrRBHHIAI - UAREZITR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18HERBRESEEBEYWUREMIER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RENMREEZEBMEIE -
The Group REHE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERS 2,954,494 3,450,394
Deposit on online payment platform BENFTaEE
(note (ii) CEID) 28,993 26,942
Less: restricted bank deposits (note (iii)) & @ SR HIER1T1E K (B EEGii)) - (995)
Less: term deposits — current (note 19) S EEATER — BVEA (R EE19) (2,072,479) (1,818,846)
Less: term deposits B EEER
— non-current (note 19) — 3ERNHA(FI3E19) (56,662) =
Less: certificates of deposit W KRBT E
— current (note 14) —BIHA(B3E14) = (100,000
Less: certificates of deposit B KRR E
— non-current (note 14) —FEBNEACRIEE14) (410,000) (170,000)
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 444,346 1,387,495
Cash and cash equivalents presented in RMB are NARBZ2IMNRERBEEEY
denominated in: TiATB B EHE -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

RMB AR 406,376 719,504
usD = 31,287 593,760
HKD B IT 5,811 73,794
Japanese Yen H 344 437
Thai Baht ZREK 528 =

444,346 1,387,495
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18HERBRESEEBEYWUREMIER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREEHR(E)
(continued)
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BekREEEWRE : ()
(continued)
The Company PN
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBTT

Cash at bank and on hand RITAFHERS 1,966,873 2,516,336
Less: term deposits B EEER (1,928,641) (1,818,846)
Cash and cash equivalents Be KBS EEY 38,232 697,490
Cash and cash equivalents presented in RMB are UARBZZHIESERESZEEY
denominated in: THLA TG B EHE -

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

RMB AR 4,562 33,733
usb e 28,640 591,475
HKD BT 5,030 72,282
38,232 697,490
Notes: Bt
(i)  As at December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents placed with (i) M2023F12A31H ' BERHFEK
banks in mainland China amounted to RMB366,794,000 (2022: ERITHRERBESEBYMEEAA
RMB785,359,000). Remittance of funds out of mainland China is subject R ¥ 366,794,000 7 (2022 F : AR ¥
to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control. 785,359,0007T) © R AREEEHE ST
SINGEE B i) 1) A B 5 Rl BOE AR PRl
(i)  As at December 31, 2023, the Group had cash held in accounts (i) 2023 12A318 » NEBEME SN
managed by online payment platforms such as Wechat Pay and Alipay. MENEEREINFEEENRERE
BRE -
(ili) As at December 31, 2023, the Group had no restricted bank deposit (i) M 2023FE 124318 » <5 B £ & 2R 4
(2022: RMB995,000 restricted for litigations). RI7F M (20224 : AR#995,0007T % 7

FARR ) o
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

18RERAEEEYURHEMBR
EREER (H)

(b) BRAEAE A, (B 1R ) B & Ay

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to

cash generated from operations: [N HER
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®T T ARBTIT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BERTEF(EE) 6,110 (516,518)
Adjustments for: M BIRIERE -
Depreciation e 6(d) 715,862 697,946
Amortization of intangible assets A 6(d) 165 167
Impairment loss on property and W ZE N R A DA B A PR RE
equipment and right-of-use assets BERBERE 6(c) 13,299 16,891
Write-down on inventories WEEFEs 6(c) 745 1,477
Finance costs A& KA 6(a) 65,873 80,326
Interest income F B WA 5 (112,063) (31,901)
(Gain)/loss on forward foreign RERINEA K (k)
exchange contracts &5 18 6(e) (6,466) 60,917
Net loss on disposal of property and & ¥ K & 5 A K&
equipment and right-of-use assets FREEEMNFEIR 6(e) 34,915 34,584
Share of losses of associates FEMREE & A EES1E 13 38,722 1,288
Equity-settled share-based EREE ARG A
payment expenses ERm X 6(b) 9.746 14,475
Fair value changes of financial RAnEBEFE2AE
assets at FVTPL FH)Et A Hianm
PMEENLAAEBE
i (36,141) 2,603
Fair value changes of financial RAnEBEFEAA
liabilities at FVTPL FE T A HEEN
TRBENAREE
bk - 2,989
Covid-19-related rent concessions B /&5 H)Covid-19
received HEESER 11(b) = (11,442)
Changes in working capital: BBELEE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEm H (21,669) 46,329
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 N H bR IE
other receivables, prepayments FENREAREE Tiz
and rental deposits & (3mSR (69,900) 34,602
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 N H b e I8 LA
other payables and provisions N, Ol ) 148,821 (127,336)
Increase/(decrease) in contract AfasEm, Cud)
liabilities 40,135 (387)
Increase/(decrease) in restricted S2PR SR 1 TAE HR 38 h0
bank deposits /(R 995 (613)
Cash generated from operations KREFTERIRE 829,149 306,397
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

i & M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

18RERAEEEYURHEMBR

EREER (H)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MEEHMELEGENER

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of

cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

N ]

THRHNALEREEDHFELR
EED  ERLRERLED -
MEEBHELS
ERARBERECARBHBE
R&RE R ERREE

EREHREM

FERERENARE -

Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’'000
AR¥TT
(note 23)
(My&E23)
At January 1, 2023 "2023F1H1H 1,422,298
Changes from financing cash flows: RMERSTEHE :
Payment of capital element and interest element ~ fHEAEH ARSI
of lease liabilities MEE D (451,645)
Total changes from financing cash flows MEREREF AT (451,645)
Exchange adjustments EHAE 38
Changes in fair value AREBEESE
Other changes: Hit# 5 :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FEFX (Ff5E6(a)) 64,797
Addition e 806,666
Disposal e (71,666)
Total other changes Hh & eh4a 799,797
348,190
At December 31, 2023 7#2023%F12H31H 1,770,488
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

18RERAEEEYURHEMBR
EREER (H)

(continued)
Listing
expense
payable
(included
in trade
Lease and other
Bank loans liabilities payables) Total
FEfS b
X (GTA
RITER HE&E FERTRIE) FE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT AREFT AREFT
(note 23)
(B¥zE23)
At January 1, 2022 R®2022%1H1A 428 1,453,038 204 1,453,670
Changes from financing MERSRERE
cash flows:
Payment of capital element SNHEEAEBHNAE
and interest element of # o kA EF S
lease liabilities - (479,129) - (479,129)
Listing expenses paid B EWRHX - - (219) 219)
Total changes from BMEReRELBEE
financing cash flows = (479,129) (219) (479,348)
Exchange adjustments E XA = 239 15 254
Changes in fair value DAEBEED = - - -
Other changes: Hit g
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) F S5z (FzE6(a)) - 79,182 - 79,182
COVID-19-related rent BERFHCOVID-19
concessions received BB S ER - (11,442) - (11,442)
Exemption of bank loans HRBITER (428) - - (428)
Addition NE - 530,678 - 530,678
Disposal HE - (150,268) - (150,268)
Total other changes Hith & 84858 (428) 448,150 - 447,722
At December 31, 2022 R2022F12H31H - 1,422,298 - 1,422,298




Annual Report £%§ 2023 193

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18HERBRESEEBEYWUREMIER

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statements of cash
flows for leases comprise the following:

EREER (H)

(d) HER SR H AR

AAHEGRRERERNEEE

BTIIRIA :

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Within operating cash flows RIS E R 175,126 113,024
Within financing cash flows MERESREF 451,645 479,129
626,771 592,153

19 TERM DEPOSITS

Term deposits presented in RMB are denominated in:

19 EHAER

NAREZIIOERFRTIATIEE

FHE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT
Current mE

RMB AR 200,500 =
HKD BT 16,312 1,616,873
UsD ETT 1,855,667 201,973
2,072,479 1,818,846

Non-current ERE
UsD ETT 56,662 =

Term Deposits are placed in reputable commercial banks with
initial maturity terms of over three months.

EPERDERREERFOBERR
17 IR EI IR BE=EA -
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20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20EZ R HAMENSFIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade payables B ENFIE 274,969 169,875
Other payables and accrued charges Hih e k1B K BT & B 355,159 307,482
Amounts due to a related party JE 1T B Bt 75 SR IE (BRI EE30(d) )
(note 30(d)) 5,634 1,157
635,762 478,514
All trade and other payables (including amounts due to a A & 5 K& 2 b FE 38 (B 4E FE 1 R Bt
related party) are expected to be settled or recognized as ARIE)RBRER —FNEE S ERRR
income within one year or are repayable on demand. W ZH IR EKEE o
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RIEHR BESEMNRBIREEZHHE
trade payables based on the invoice date, is as follows: BRI DM -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Within 1 year —F K 274,665 168,648
More than 1 year =&=E M |E 304 1,227

274,969 169,875
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21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21 ENEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Contract liabilities related to prepaid EENREENENEE

cards 198,440 205,024
Contract liabilities related to discount HTMNEMEEESHBN
vouchers and free vouchers EH8aE 507 2,090
Contract liabilities related to customer HEF&EEXAMEN
membership programs SHAaE 7,337 7,527
Contract liabilities related to franchise HINBEKEENEOEE
business 39,144 =
Others Hib 12,375 3,026
257,803 217,667
Movements in contract liabilities A4 B EEH
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Balance at the beginning of the year RE VI &R 217,667 218,054
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result EERFTAETE LA ER

of recognizing revenue during the FARBEBHENBERD

year that was included in the contract

liabilities at the beginning of the year (217,147) (214,249)
Increase in contract liabilities S4B EEM 257,283 213,862

Balance at the end of the year RERA AR 257,803 217,667
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22 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL 22U N REBEFEBEHSEHTA
EHEENEREE
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Forward foreign exchange contracts RESMNEZEB AL
(note 28(e)(i)) (BFEE28(e)(i)) = 3,121
23 LEASE LIABILITIES 23HEEE
As at December 31, 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as M2023F12A31H  ENHEAGEN
follows: T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Within 1 year —FA 428,842 472,805
After 1 year but within 2 years —FLAFEREA 477,419 319,941
After 2 years but within 5 years MENA EBRFA 796,808 594,132
After 5 years AELAE 67,419 35,420

1,341,646 949,493

1,770,488 1,422,298
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24 PROVISIONS 24 B 1E
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Current e Eh

Provisions for litigations (note (i)) SFEARE (BT REG)) 421 1,282

Non-current IERB
Provisions for restoration costs (note (ii)) (&8 AN B (BIaEG)) 23,320 20,634

The movements of provisions during the year were as follows: RERBHESHWOT :

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Balance at the beginning of the year R E B 4R 21,916 17,934
Additional provisions NE BE 2,132 2,913
Interest on provisions BAERF B 1,076 1,144
Provisions utilized RENEE ok (1,383) (75)
Balance at the end of the year REEA LR 23,741 21,916

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

The Group is the defendant in certain lawsuits arising in the ordinary course
of business. Management has made provision considering all relevant
factors and circumstance. Management believes that the lawsuits will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial position or operating results
of the Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the respective tenancy agreements entered into
by the Group, the Group is required to return its leased properties to the
conditions as stipulated in the tenancy agreements at the expiration of the
corresponding lease term as appropriate. The provision for reinstatement
costs was estimated based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the Group’s management with reference to historical reinstatement costs
and/or other available market information. The estimation basis is reviewed
on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

(i)

N—REBBREPHROETHAD  ALEL
REA - BEEECZERMARBEARRER
WEFLEE - EEEMRE  ZE5FLTEY
&R B A TR AR R RE R E R T AR
EI

RIBAEBEAZAABESHBHRES - NE
BMEHERE AREASEEENERES
FHAEEBATANRE(MER) - BRK
AEBEENAEBEEEEREBEBEERKA
K/ REMAETISERMERNE FRRER
fEEHER AR o ARFEETERE - WERF
HIERT °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement

of financial position represent:

Iy

25 IR MR AR EH

(a) #r & B 5 7R 50 3% &) BD A i 78

2023 2022

2023%F 20224F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBT T

Balance at the beginning of the year REVIR &R 27,410 27,058
Provision for income tax for the year FEMGREE (7))

(note 7(a)) 366 121
Income tax paid EATFEH (1,485) (1,314)
Income tax refunded EIREEH 826 1,545
Balance at the end of the year NEEM S 27,117 27,410
Reconciliation to the consolidated RE MBI REER -

statements of financial position:

Income tax payable JEB RS 28,218 29,180
Income tax recoverable (note 17) AR ERIA(BEET7) (1,101) (1,770)
27,117 27,410
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25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 REMBMRRKRWETBH (E&)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized: (b) EERELEHIEEENKAE
(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax (i) BHHBBEZEREESSSEE)
assets and liabilities
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) RANEEHEMBERENEIEDR
recognized in the consolidated statements of financial EEMELEE (AR LE
position and the movements during the year are as B -
follows:
Inventory
provision and
Impairment of
property and
Accrued equipment
payroll and and
Unused tax other  Right-of-use Lease  right-of-use Contract  Property and
Deferred tax arising from: losses expenses assets liabilities assets liabilities  equipment Others Total
FEBEAR
NERRE
ABR  EIIER RiERE
BEREELR: HEE#R By ERREE REER BERE ANEE  WERRG Hfy @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARWTR  ARMTR  ARMTz  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR

At January 1, 2022 R02%1818 25,633 1,294 (290,277) 32494 758 1718 (24,420) 436) 39211
Credited/(charged) to BESHA/(B)
profit or loss 30595 - (19,155) 14,266 868 609 12,380 1,210 40,833

At December 31, 2022 and RN2F128318 %

January 1, 2023 23%1A18 56,228 1,294 (309.432) 339,207 1,626 2,327 (12,040) 834 80,044
Credited/(charged) to BREHA/ (1)
profit or loss 31,420 (153) (83,399) 85,432 (508) (521) (25,022) (1,829) 5422

At December 31, 2023 R023E12A318 87,648 1,141 (392,831) 424,639 1120 1,806 (37,062 (995) 85,466
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25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 REMBMRRKRWETBH (E&)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized: b) EREEHBEEERARE :
(continued) (%)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of (i) #REHBRIKE R

financial position

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Net deferred tax asset recognized 1 ?/.:.\ B TSR R MR
in the consolidated statements of BRI EEFE
financial position 88,046 81,464
Net deferred tax liability recognized R4r& MG R RIERH
in the consolidated statements of BRIERIA S BFE
financial position (2,580) (1,420)
85,466 80,044
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized c) AEZRHELERIBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BEMF20MEMeHBE R
2(t), the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in AR EEBAHRBREEER R
respect of cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries as it TSI E B E’\jﬂiﬂzﬁggﬁaﬁ
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the HBH o MAEERBRETHEAD
losses can be utilized will be available in the relevant tax a’j;%‘;ﬁ—ﬁlﬁ)’gﬂéﬁgwﬁﬁgmﬁkm
jurisdiction and entity. Deferred tax assets have not been TBEAE - ARV ELEHRIBEER
recognized in respect of the following items: BaF :
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Unused tax losses AB)FRAFIEREE 517,928 435,302
Temporary differences TRMEER 147,531 125,947

665,459 561,249
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25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

25 FE M BARR RSB (&)

(c) REERMIELERAEE (&)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized (continued)

The expiration information of the Group’s unused tax
losses is set out below:

74 58 75 8 B0 P B S R B 2
ARBFIMT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTT

2023 20234 - 28,970
2024 20244 379 399
2025 20254 10,582 14,593
2026 20264 99,539 123,610
2027 20274 251,924 257,565
2028 and beyond 20284 K A1 155,504 10,165

517,928 435,302

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

According to the CIT Law and its implementation rules,
dividends receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from
PRC enterprises are subject to withholding income tax at
10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for
profits earned since January 1, 2008.

As at December 31, 2023, deferred tax liabilities in respect
of the dividend withholding tax relating to the distributable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries were not
recognized as the Company controls the dividend policy
of the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment made by
management as at December 31, 2023, it was determined
that the distributable profits of the Company's subsidiaries
would not be distributed to the Hong Kong and overseas
holding companies in the foreseeable future. The amounts
of undistributed profit of the Company’s subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2023 is RMB293,108,000
(2022: RMB183,185,000).

(d) REERIEERIAR B

RIBEEEMEVOEREBREGED -
8200851 A1 H & F7BREUA A -
FPRBEEEEREBRSEAER
BABMI0%NTBIIFAER - FRIFR
BRI IR R BEHIRL ©

202312 A31H » BHRAARRQ B
HlFZEM B A B MR B BUR - i
BB RZ E M B A B Al 5 R i K AR
BRI R% B TE I FT1S B RE R IR I T 1H
B - BIBEEEENR2023F12 A 31
HATERM R EREER QBB
RAEIA R a AR 2RSS
K o AN BB A R E E20234F 12
A3NALEFERD K EFSEAA
R#293,108,0007T (20224 : AR#
183,185,0007T) °
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The table below sets forth share-based payments expenses for
share options and RSUs during the year:

26 i%’l‘&ﬁ‘ﬁ%%%ﬂﬂﬁfﬁ%é%ﬁ@ﬁ

A P [ P A e 52 R 6 B £ BE i 22 A
B RERONRAEHIIN T :

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Share Option Plan (i) B AR AERT21() 5,043 6,426
RSUs (ii) 52 IR 1l e 0 BEARE (i) 4,703 8,049
9,746 14,475

The underlying shares of the share options and RSUs granted
are held by employee incentive platform and have been fully
issued by the Company in 2020 and 2021, respectively. The
Group has the following share-based payment arrangements:

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled)

The Group granted share-based awards to qualified
director and employees pursuant to the Share Option
Plan, which was adopted in May 2020 and governed by the
contractual terms of the awards. The qualified participants
of the Share Option Plan are required to satisfy certain
vesting service and non-market performance conditions
for the entitlements. In accordance with the Share Option
Plan agreements, the holders of vested options are
entitled to purchase the Company'’s shares at fixed prices
predetermined as at each grant date.

Options granted typically expire in 10 years from the
respective grant dates. The options may be exercised at
any time after they have vested subject to the terms of
the award agreement and are exercisable for a maximum
period of 10 years after the date of grant.

The Group recognizes share-based payments expenses
in its consolidated statements of profit or loss based on
awards ultimately expected to vest.

B 1% i E BRI 32 PR Il 1 B AL 9 4
MO HEE BT ERE - BKX2020
FR2021F DRI ERRRBEET - &
SEHEE AT UBRND RERO R

() BhREstsl(AEmER)

REERIER 202055 A FRA R B K
BAENAERESTREERLIN
B AERWER LTS HAEH
BE®AKIERAOR - BERER S
MABERZ2EEARREE THEBR
B RIEM B RB G T EER - 1R
ERRETSHE  CREBRERE
BB ABEAR SR E A MEL
BENEEEBRBEARRRD

ERHBREATNABRL AN
BrHERER -  BREATRERS
BERTE  HAXZBHEOE
RAARAA FIEHRREZ AE L
RHRtTEF -

AEERBESRKEAPSERBENE
FRBNEESEERBERAURN R
ERONHRFEX -
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

26 IS HEEURDHERNN

(&)
() FBAETEI (VR EE) (B)
IR H BRI E B E 25

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled) (continued)

A summary of activities of the service-based share options

is presented as follows: wmr
Weighted
Weighted average
Number average remaining
of share exercise contractual
options price term
g InFEF g
BRERE TEE BT ERH
RMB Year
ARMETT F
Outstanding as at 1202291418
January 1, 2022 AR 27,318,682 0.73 8.6
Exercised during the year RERNBITHE (2,381,360) 0.73
Forfeited during the year RERE R (2,001,075) 0.73
Outstanding as at 72022124311
December 31, 2022 AT 22,936,247 0.73 7.6
Exercisable as at 7R2022F 124311
December 31, 2022 AJTE 8,521,662
Outstanding as at 72023F1 A1H
January 1, 2023 i ARITE 22,936,247 0.73 7.6
Granted during the year REAB R 3,130,000 0.75
Exercised during the year RERNBITE (1,122,255) 0.73
Forfeited during the year REREZIK (1,612,485) 0.73
Outstanding as at 72023F12A31H
December 31, 2023 i ARITIE 23,331,507 0.73 7.0
Exercisable as at 12023128318
December 31, 2023 AL 11,529,697
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

26 \EREEURGHBERN S
$A(§E)

A Bl (AERES) (F)
BRIEN AR (B1E

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled) (continued) (i)

Fair value of share options

The fair value of share options was estimated using the
trinomial option-pricing model. The determination of
estimated fair value of share-based payment awards on the
grant date is affected by the fair value of the Company’s
ordinary shares as well as assumptions regarding a number
of complex and subjective variables. These variables
include the expected volatility of the shares of the
Company over the expected term of the awards, actual
and projected employee share option exercise behaviors, a
risk-free interest rate and expected dividends, if any.

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary shares,
the Group has used trinomial option-pricing model to
determine the fair value of the share option as at the grant
date. Key assumptions are set as below:

AEEFERA=ZHEABEEEERG
AERENAAEE BERED
HHI AR 15 A E iR A B /&
HARAABESARTLREBOAAR
BEUREEEZEHRNZEES
NBRETE ZEEEREEEH
HEMIBEEEIR AR QA RIR M HTE
g  ERMBEESBERET
TR - ERRAERIEERE (1
B)-

REHEEBRNAIAEE A&
BEER-_AAREERLETE
BREANREBBMOAAEBE =
RERFHOT

As at grant dates
REH B H#

0.34% — 2.56%

R Fl R

Risk-free interest rates

Expected term — years TEEREAMR — £F 10
Expected volatility TEARK ) 30.97% - 43.61%
Exercise multiple ITRERE 8L 2.86x — 3.34x
Fair value of ordinary shares (RMB) RN AL EBE(ARET) 1.97 — 6.69
Exercise price (RMB) THREB(ARET) 0.71-2.17
Dividend yield % B s 0.00%
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

(i) RSUs (equity-settled)

The RSUs granted would vest in tranches from the grant
date over a certain service period, on specific service
condition that the employees remain in service and
scheduled to be vested over one to four years without
any performance condition requirements. Based on the
vesting schedules of the Group's plan, the first tranche
shall be vested upon the first anniversary dates of the
grants, and the remaining of the awards shall be vested on
straight-line basis at the anniversary years over a period
of the remaining three years. Once the vesting conditions
underlying the respective RSUs are met, the RSUs are
considered duly and validly issued to the holder.

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and the
respective weighted average grant date fair value are as
follows:

26 AERGER

i & M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

RGO RERA A

™ (#E)

(if)

SRS B (A RER)

ERHZR BB ELHRR LA
IR E B R A D ?JJ%(E:
BRGEM 2 REFERS) .:Jr
i“JEi’EﬂEEﬁ%fﬁﬂﬂﬁFzziml
Tﬁ’\ EMFEA ?JE *ETF’$’§I

FEERKTE  F-HERE
ﬁﬁ@éT%@iEEﬁ% - & T 22
ERHB T =FHHENBFBEER
RERE o MREX RS B AEE

VR B IR —REM R
Eﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%{iﬁ%ﬁ%%
BA-

EREZBRERNDEMNEE RE
BNEFEHRHBHALBENE
gk -

Weighted
average
grant date Remaining
Number of fair value vesting
RSUs per RSU periods
BHZRE
5 PR 4l IR BB #Y
RPEN  IEFEERE =N
WHE BHAAREE FEAE
RMB Year
AR% T F
Outstanding as at 720221 A1H
January 1, 2022 HARITE 6,411,300 4.52 3.0
Granted during the year REAB KT 79,000 4.99
Vested during the year RERNEFE (1,959,950) 3.17
Forfeited during the year MNERND I (377,250) 13.33
Outstanding as at 12022912 H318
December 31, 2022 AR 4,153,100 4.37 2.0
Outstanding as at 20231 H1H
January 1, 2023 W ARITHE 4,153,100 4.37 2.0
Vested during the year RERNEHEB (1,934,475) 4.10
Forfeited during the year REREZIK (384,425) 2.02
Outstanding as at 202312 H31H
December 31, 2023 EENFI 1,834,200 5.16 1.3
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 26 IEREEURGAERN

=

(continued) (&)
(i) RSUs (equity-settled) (continued) (i) ZPRHIRMDEM (ARREH)
(%)
Share-based payment expense relating to awards granted HIXRTRERENEBAEBEOURGD A
to employees is based on the grant date fair value of the AWM REZ T ERZR SR G5
RSUs is recognized, on a straight-line basis over the entire BEVMNBREBBAABEGRESE
vesting period. The fair value of each RSU at the grant REESBHRBRIEE - 8HX
dates are determined by reference to the fair value of the PR&EIR M EMLRERE BN AR E
underlying ordinary shares of the Company on the date of BNE2EZRNRABELBERN R
grant. HEBNAREBEERE
RSUs were granted under a service condition. This PR Il 1% 17 B8 A7 &) % H 77 1E AR 75 14
condition has not been taken into account in the grant o HECKRBREHTEAHAD
date fair value measurement of the services received. No AREERTEZEEEST - FED
dividends have been taken into account in the grant date WERENELBBARBERIL
fair value measurement of the services received. There EERRE - W EESRHARMDE
were no market conditions associated with the RSUs. AR R T ISIE 1 o
27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 87X - RERRE
(a) Share capital (a) xS
Number of Nominal
Shares Value
BRHEE HE
RMB’'000
ARETR
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: Tl BEBITRAR
At January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 7202241 H1H ~ 720224
January 1, 2023 and December 31,2023  12H31H * 202341 H1H
% 2023F12A31H 1,715,126,147 558
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the authorized share 2023 %2022 124318 * AR
capital of the Company comprised 5,000,000,000 ordinary A]J% 7 A& 78 7 5,000,000,000 A% & 8@
shares with par value of USD 0.00005 per share. i - E1{E A& &H%0.00005% T °
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TERFEEABRBRANRETEIR Z
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled RE  WEERARAANE LHE
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All R — 2 « AR A ZFEE
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s EMz  AEEBREERFMA -

residual assets.
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 &% - RERRE (&)

(continued)

(a) Share capital (continued) (a) BEAR(£8)
Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group Rk &I - AEE @5 R ER
repurchased 3,509,500 of its own shares from the market, 93,509,500/ - B EFHE B - @
out of which, all the repurchased shares had not been BRHOKRDEIHE BEBESKA
cancelled as at the date of this report. The shares were G264 TTES. 077%73 R (E
repurchased at prices ranging from HKD2.64 to HKD3.07 /310,333,000 T (HE R ARK
per share, with a total consideration of HKD10,333,000 9,420,0007T) °

(equivalent to RMB?9,420,000).

(b) Movements in components of equity (b) HEZR 4B Ak 209 B &)
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual NN TR E R RE S AR 2D & ' 5
components of equity are set out below: ISEHOT -
The Company A
Share-based
Share Share  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve losses Total
NRMAERE

Bx BftRE  O6FERE  ERRR  RHER 3t
Note ~ RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
i ARMTR ARMTR ARMTZ ARMTR ARMTr ARMTR

Balance at January 1, 2023 R2023%1 1 AEE 558 9,842,268 29,533 431,811  (4,546,316) 5,757,854

Changes in equity for the year BZ2023512A318

ended December 31, 2023: EENERSE .
Profit for the year EfEH - - - - 122,083 122,083
Qther comprehensive income Afh2ENE - - - 96,887 - 96,887
Total comprehensive income 2ENREE - - - 96,887 122,083 218,970
Equity-settled share-based NEREERNRNZS

transactions 26 - - 9,746 - - 9,746
RSUs vested EERRBHRNEN - 8,323 (8,323) = = -
Share option exercised BT RiE - 5,305 (5,305) = = =

Balance at December 31, 2023 R2023512 831 AHI L
(note (i) (H3x() 558 9,855,896 25,651 528,698  (4,424,233) 5,986,570
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 X - RERKE (&)
(continued)
(b) Movements in components of equity (continued) (b) BEZRARRK Z D E B (E)
Share-based
Share Share  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
KR RER

ke RivEE OfFEE  EiRG  ZHERE a5t
Note ~ RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M  ARBTR  ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTL  ARMTR

Balance at January 1, 2022 R202251 B 1B EER 58 9826225 31,101 (52927)  (4517,173) 5,287,784

Changes in equity for the year HZ20225128318

ended December 31, 2022: LEENERSS .
Loss for the year ERER = = = = (29.143) (29.143)
Other comprehensive income E2mba - - = 484738 = 484,738
Total comprehensive income 2ENGER - = = 484738 (29,143) 455,595
Equity-settled share-based NEREERNRNZS

transactions 26 - - 14475 - - 14475
RSUs vested BEBRBHROEN - 8,054 (8,054) = = -
Share option exercised BT RE = 7,989 (7989) = = =

Balance at December 31, 2022 R2022512 831 A1

(note (i) (&) %8 9,842,268 29533 431811 (4546316) 5,757,854

Note: MisE -

() Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the () REHSEHERFNEIER]) » NARIGH
funds in the reserve account of the Company are distributable to the HBERNNESTDETAATIIEE - AT
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following RERBEEZERERE AL A2
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the A RER DI EIR - EHE — R EKREHE
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the BRIETS -

ordinary course of business.
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(c) Nature and purposes of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company
and proceeds received from the issuance of the
ordinary shares of the Company.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the
portion of the grant date fair value of share options
and RSUs granted to the directors and employees of
the Group that has been recognized in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(s)(iii).

For shares granted, the equity amount is transferred
from share-based payment reserve to share premium.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements for operations outside of mainland China.
The reserve is handled with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(w).

(d) Dividends

No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: nil).

No final dividends were proposed after the end of
reporting period (2022: nil).

27 B -

i & M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

AR RS (&)

(o) EEHMEE KR E

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

B 15538 18F

khmfh$ AR E E S
AR T BB TR B P13

ﬁﬁZﬁ%%%o

B0 m BRI (5 e

LARR D BETEO N RREBEEET
AEEEENEENERERS
RHROBEMHELEABEARE
BRI D - EEREHEE2(s) i)
A BLDARR D A ERE R SRR Y
SEIBURTER ©

RERENROME - BEDSER
B B AR SERO N R EE
BERMGE

[ 5 1ot 15

EXFBEEEMERREFBEK

BE DA SN b [ 2675 0O B 1S R EE A
HISNEZRR - R T IRIBP R
W R EFT R

(d) H&/%\
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE © AR

B 5 K 3K BB (2022 4F -
®) -

RB|EMRE - WEZZEDIRKRD

3]

82 (20224F : &) o
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

27 &R - kRS ()

(e) EAREIE

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of debt-to-asset ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
liabilities divided by total assets. The Group's debt-to-
asset ratio as at December 31, 2023 was 36.0% (2022:
31.3%).

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to
internally or externally imposed capital requirements.

AEFBEREANTIERBRERRE
AEEFELENEN - NEAB
8 B B 7K SF AR E B EE dn M AR 75 E
BERAGEMNKAESHE - #&
AR BR M 0 R Ko o H R 25 48
FHREM S -

AEEBEBRERRSLEREEAR
B AERBRSOBERE R (R
fif 7 8= 18 B K ) B AR A2 ) & AR
RS RNEE ML 24 2 HHF
o WERKHEBRAAERHEERNR
e

AEBZREBEELRERALER
B RN BBEERUNEEE
FHE o REBPN2023F12831HEY
B EE LR B36.0%(20224F :
31.3%) °

ARRREMBARE T AE K
SNERHE AN B ANAR TE PIAR IR o
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group's business.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and term deposits. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and restricted deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks, financial institutions, Alipay and
WeChat Pay with high credit rating and no past due history,
for which the Group considers having low credit risk.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

In determining the ECL for trade debtors and other
receivables, the management of the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and forward-
looking information, as appropriate. The management
of the Group has assessed that trade debtors and other
receivables have not had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and risk of default is insignificant,
and therefore, no loss allowance of trade debtors and
other receivables is considered necessary by management
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
expected credit loss rate is insignificant and close to zero.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

28 cREREERESBMTAND
SEE
AEEREFEBBRTEGEE 7
BES - FRREER -

=

AEBEEENZERR RSB EIEZ
FRRANEREREEBRRRES
FR R e

(a) FEER
EERREXZIHFREITEAR
AEEMEFAKRELRYBEERD
R - AEENEERRTIERRA
KB 5 N E b 8 WRIB A K E #37F
R HRRZEF RBEILEED
LHEMBEEFRRT  SEE
B XNBERMEXMN  AEER
SEEERBRSIE  SAKE@ER
KERERREFEBWARZRH
FROEERBRAER -

AEEEHENEERRIEXES
EPHMEAFE(MIFETF EEMB
TRIMEBRRSEME)FE - R
SEIEZAHEENTEPHERNE
RERFEHAESESETHEERR -

1E 758 7E B URAR 3k % EL At B W I Y
EHEEEER  ~5EEEER
5T K R S iE A0 48 B SR AU RE M B R0
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MAEE EAhHEEERREAR
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[E o 1 U AR 30 K H b 8 W SR IE 1B
EEEE  TEAEEBEERTR
B BEIENE -

AEEY EREEFAATESAEE
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 285 iR EEREMIAMNA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AREE(E)
(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) MENVE & Rk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses, participation
in supplier finance arrangements with banks and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the parent company’s board when the
borrowing exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realizable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

AEENSEBLIELEREEH
Reel  BRASAKNEHR
B 2HEMAEFERITORE LH
RESEFNREREHNAESS
ko MR B BB B R TR E B IR AR K
T AKBRARESFSHE - K
SERREEHERERDESR
KEHBTERRIZONER
NHREABARNREFHE 5
RERNAEEESULTEZSHHE
BRHETHNAZESHEE AR
REMIRBEANTBDESTL

TRFNAEENETESRAE
RBESHRNHBTEREIBIFR -
ZERTARZABRIIRESF
AMBRBAERE(BRERAEGRAMN
A BEHNFENR - HHBFEH
o AIRBRHRERRORITH R
AE)ARAREE A REAN RO RE
ShR



Annual Report %§ 2023 213

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mEAREEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE(E)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) mENE &AL (E)
Year ended December 31, 2023
BE2023F12831BLFE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AERBRALR
More than ~ More than
Within -~ 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total December 31
-ERg -ENE RENRL M2A31A
REX BmER BRER RENE gt MEEE

RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARTR ARRTR  ARRTR  ARETR

Trade and other payables BHREMERNE 635,762 - - - 635,762 635,762
Lease liabilities HERRE 485,987 523,242 837,521 68,629 1915379 1,770,488

1,121,749 523,242 837,521 68,629 2,551,141 2,406,250

Year ended December 31, 2022

BENNFIRNBLER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARAERR LR
Morethan  More than

Within ~ Tyearbut  2yearshut Carrying

1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total  December 31
—ERE -FNLE WEALE M2A31A
REXR MER RER RENE it HEEE

RMBO00  RMBOOO  RWBOO0  RMBO0D  RMBOOD  RWBO0O
ARt AR%Tn AR%Tn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Trade and other payables EHREMENZE 478,514 - - - 478,514 478,514
Lease liabilities HERRE 546,486 359,188 632,550 %369 1574593 1422098

1,025,000 359,188 632,550 36,369 2,053,107 1,900,812
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest
rate risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents,
term deposits, certificates of deposit, restricted bank
deposits and lease liabilities. The Group does not enter
into financial derivatives to hedge interest rate risk.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's cash and cash equivalents, term deposits
and certificates of deposit at the end of each reporting
period presented:

28 AR EERERITAND
REEGE)

(c) A=k

MERBEEHIANAABEXK
AKRREREMEZENIHHREEHM
EEHTHREE - AEBENFEE
SEEXRERECIREFEY - T
HER - AEFE - XRBIRITHE
REHERE - AERELRAITE
TR T AR RER o

(i) FIRAR
TERHINRNEBEPRAEEN
RehkReFEY EHERK
RETF B R R KA -

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Fixed rate instrument: EEFEERMIA :

Term deposits TFHAF 2,129,141 1,818,846

Certificates of deposit NEETFEE 410,000 270,000

Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY = 1,400

Lease liabilities HEAE (1,770,488) (1,422,298)
768,653 667,948

Variable rate instrument: FEANRESHMTA :

Cash and cash equivalents ReREEEZEED 444,346 1,386,095

Restricted bank deposit IR B IRITIFEK = 995

444,346 1,387,090
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis
At December 31, 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variable held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB3,317,000.

At December 31, 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variable held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB12,193,000.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily give rise
to cash and cash equivalents and term deposits that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions related. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HKD and RMB.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognized assets denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the
spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group's presentation
currency are excluded.

28 RiEMEEREMIAND
REEGE)

c) FIRE k(&)
(i) BUREDHT

M2023512A31H - EFE A
thEHRFIENBERT - Hat
FEF EHATHI100EED
FRAREENEIERZTEER
EF TR H AR 3,317,000
—_

MR2022%12A31H - EEH
M BRFETNEMIBFRT  EaT
FEFZEHTHI00EED
FALEENEBRRTEES

&,/ EF# ARE12,193,000
=

d) HHER
AEEAXNEBRRETEEER
LAGNES (BERZR BB E SR &
BN EE)SHENRERRES
BEYWARTHER - 53l REERARK
NEEITBABTRARE -

() EEEkE

TREFYARE B RS HA R AT A
T AR E B RE E AN E R
FIENEEREEMEENEE
B - BEFIBH - FIERZRER
F &R T R 4 B R BN HAE R ik
HAEARE - ETBIEREEINE
R BRRREBAEENE
DIEWEELENZE -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mEAREEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEEE)

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥ R (E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) EkmE b ()

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in RMB)
As at December 31, 2023

SMERB(AARYESIR)
®2023%12A31H
Hong Kong
Dollars Renminbi
BT AR
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBF T

Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 5,064 4,632
Term deposits TEEER 16,312 -
21,376 4,632

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in RMB)
As at December 31, 2022
SNEE [EL B (LA A R BT 7R)
2022412 A31H

Hong Kong
Dollars Renminbi
BIT AR
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents RELBEESEEY 72,282 33,738
Term deposits TF AT 1,616,873 =

1,689,155 33,738
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS M
(continued)

o

A

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

28 £ ELE B E
518 (4

EREMITENA

1)
(i) BBZ T

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's profit/(loss) after taxation
(and accumulated losses) and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise if foreign

TRIVRRRE AP R 2
RIFTE - WRRERARYAE
BEEARRNERTRZS -

AEBERB®REN,(BE) (K

exchange rates to which the Group has significant ,\pﬂgﬁﬁ)&,ﬁ\m%“ B RSB
exposure at the end of the reporting period had B IR BN E) o
changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.
2023 2022
2023% 20224
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit after (decrease) loss after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rate losses rate losses
BB ERF BriiaEE
HNEER REFESE SNERER  RAFEE
LR/ (TFH) V8 EA(TR) B E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
Hong Kong Dollars BT 3% 641 1% 16,907
(3%) (641) (1%) (16,907)
Renminbi AR 3% 139 5% 1,691
(3%) (139) (5%) (1,691)
Result of the analysis as presented in the above FREFNZDTERTIREE AR
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous SEEEBCBRBEEN (&
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit/(loss) B) RSB 2N EBtE I
after taxation and equity measured in the respective B2V MRS Rz ERER
functional currencies, translated into RMB at the mE A ANRE)FTERZAED
exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period B2 o

for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of each reporting period. The analysis excludes e
differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group's presentation currency.

FRESMBREX 2EHE T
FER - UBHFEZESAER
K& E PRI ERINE R 2 AN
SETRTHE %2
BINE B HRR B AEE
ENERMRELNEE -

TN EIERE



218 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZE#%2RAR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
each reporting period on a recurring basis, categorized
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

28 %

2N
JUIR

il

EREEREBIANA
E(H&)

it

il

(e) AR{EBEE

(i)

AR BETEN S MEER
BfE

NREERER
TRINFAEER RS HRIZE
FUHEEAEZERTANAA
BE HEESBEERYHHREL
AIFIBRAAEBEAEMREZ
—EArRBEEBERR - RAE
B EMBFERZRRTZ2RIAT
RERMTREABRZ I BR
RENBRIREMERE

— FREE: ERE—RE
ABE (R E A AR
BEXRBETEEMSZK
RABRBE)HEZOAE

(=]

- BAMGE:ERFE 4%
ABBE(FRENEF R
REZAINBERIZE®A
gE - AR TNERTABE
BRzEZBARE)E
ZRRMEE - TAEBREE
ZEABUBEARAHBATS
U 2 BUR

— B=ZAMLE: ERTHEER
BEZERHABBEL
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mEAREEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period:

&,
REEGE)

(e) RAEBEEE)
() UAREENBNEBEER
BEE)
DABEERE)
TRIRAE BN ESERSE K
BARBEGENSREERS
BB

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
December December 31, 2023 categorized into
31,2023 R2023F12A31ANAABENEDER
H2023F Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
12A318 1
AREE £ et 1 E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®TR ARETR AR%®Tn ARETx
Recurring fair value REMNABENE
measurement
Financial asset at FVTPL AL BEFEEEE
Bt AEHER
NEREE
— Listed equity investment —RETMARE
BAER A 130,833 130,833 - =
- Unlisted equity investment ~ —A3F FTA A
RIERE 16,738 - - 16,738
— Wealth management products — 281 & i 104 - - 104
147,675 130,833 - 16,842




220 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 M ZEIRE R A 8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & B35 3R RO

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mBAMEEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

REEGE)

(e) AABEE(E)

() KRABEGTENTHBEER
BE(#&)

RABERERGE)

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
December December 31, 2022 categorized into
31,2022 R2022F12RANBRA AR EBEFENEA
20225 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
12A318
LREE F— E-H E=R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T ARET T ARET T
Recurring fair value REMAAEHETE
measurement
Financial asset at FVTPL UAAhBEFEEE
ZE A HER
HemEE
— Listed equity investment —RETRAR
RAERE 43,200 43,200 - _
- Unlisted equity investment —RIELTATM
RAERE 6,000 - = 6,000
- Wealth management products — 321 & mh 110,397 = = 110,397
159,597 43,200 - 116,397
Financial liabilities at FVTPL NARBEFEAEE
BB AR
HeraRE
- Forward foreign exchange —RHINELES L
contracts (3,121) - (3,121) -

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts
is determined by using the forward exchange rates at
the end of the reporting period quoted from financial
institutions.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers among different levels of fair
values measurement.

EENNELEANZ DA EET
IR RS R AR B K
BEFET -

H 220234 20225128318
IEFE - BIBEAREBEFTFERT
BB R M3 LS -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 iERREEREBMIANAD
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEE
(continued)

il

(e) AR{EEFE(E)
() UARBEFEGEBEER

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Fair value of the unlisted equity investment is
measured by referencing to the latest equity
transactions. Otherwise, the costs are used as
approximation of fair value if there is no significant
change observed.

Fair value of wealth management products is measured
by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The un-observable inputs
are expected annual return rate determined in the
investment contracts.

The movement during the period in the balance of
Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

B ()
EME=RARBESEZ AR

FEMESKEZARBES
BRESZTERIITE - K
2 Wi EERERES
BIE AR AIE B A A EEMITI
=

BEMERZIAABEIMERTR
RengmEElETRE - &
BAERZEABEMSERK
EXTHFER - TABREE
ZBABBRREGHNEE L
FERTFEIRE

F=RAABEFERENDA
ZEBIT

2023
2023%F
Unlisted Wealth
equity management
investment products
RFELHAF

HIRERE HPER
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR

At January 1, 2023 M202351H18
Payment for purchases BAZRR
Proceeds from disposal HEFTSFUAR

Changes in fair value recognized in AR IEZEERH

profit or loss during the year NAEEZE

6,000 110,397
7,000 30,697

- 142,648
3,738 1,658

At December 31, 2023

7202351283180

16,738 104
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 iERREEREBMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE(E
(continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AR BETE(E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () UAABEFAENZHBEER
value (continued) BE(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEBE=HA AL EBETEZER
(continued) (&)
2022
20224
Unlisted Wealth
equity  management
investment products
RIELETRH
HIIRIERE O E M
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBETT

At January 1, 2022 R202251H18 - =

Payment for purchases A Z = 6,000 110,000

Changes in fair value recognized in ~ F RN Bz ER

profit or loss during the year "LQFEKEU = 397

At December 31, 2022 F20224F12H31H 6,000 110,397
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at WIEEAREBEEIENSREE
other than fair value LEENAREE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial BRFBEZEEm I AMEIAA
instruments carried at amortized cost are not materially B RS BRI AT BR
different from their fair values as at December 31, 2023 2R TEREMEEN2023F &
and 2022 because of the short-term maturities of all 2022F 12 A3MHZ AR BEL

these financial instruments. HMEBAER -
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29 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at December 31, 2023 not
provided for in financial statements were as follows:

29 EiE

MR2023F 128318 » mABITREYRE
B TS R R AE R Bl 2 B AOFIE T ¢

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Contracted for: EET4
Acquisition of property and equipment &) 2 & 24 & 27,286 27,897
Capital investment in an associate REFE R BN ERRE - 525,000
27,286 552,897
30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EXRBEB IS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the directors
are of the view that the following are related parties of the
Group:

Name of related parties

BARE T B

(a) AT 2 M MR

HE2023F12A31HILFE - &=
RETXEYE AR EEREE T

Relationship with the Group
2N SE ] RE

Mr. Zhao Lin & Ms. Peng Xin
MRS EEE LT

Dongguan Zundao Environmental Protection Packaging
Co., Ltd. (REMEERFREEEXZAR QA
(referred to as “Dongguan Zundao”) (note (i)
REMEBRRERXEXFRAT
(m IR=®E ) (HZ0)

Shenzhen Fucheng Technology Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (&I T HHZEHEHR A R])
(referred to as “Shenzhen Fucheng”) (note (i)

YRR EER A G REWB AR
(A DRINERD) (K236)

Bangyixia (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Co., Ltd.
(FBEERYIHEEEBR 2 A)
(referred to as "Bangyixia”) (note (i)(ii))
BEBORY) HIEEBR AR
(BR [ H=E])(Ka2a0)i00)

founders of the Company

ZA/NCTF=l} YN

Entity controlled by the founders of the
Company

AATRIIE AZEHIH B

Entity where the founders of the Company
had significant influences

ARARRIIRABEATZEINER

Entity where the founders of the Company
had significant influences

AARBIIRABEATZEINER
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(@) Name and relationship with related parties
(continued)

Name of related parties

RAE T 4

30EXRBEBML RS (&)

(a) BEHSE T 2 E N RER ()

Relationship with the Group
s SE L] 2 RE

Shanghai Jiu Wen Qian Food & Beverage Management
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (_£/8 LI S8 SUE T2
BBRAF) (referred to as “Jiuwengian”) (note (i)
EBNAXEEREEERAR (A [ NXELD (HEt6)

Shanghai Ultimate Food Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
FEBRBERMAER AT (referred to as “Aodimei”)
(note (i)

EBRBEERRBRAR(EA MBFEL) (MiEa)

Notes:

()  The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translation of the names is for identification only.

(i)  Bangyixia has become a related party of the Group since November 1,
2023.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

Entity where the Group had significant
influences

AEBREATENNER

Entity where the Group had significant
influences

AEBREAFENNER

G

() ZEEBNEHIEEATX - HEAHEN
?i)iﬂﬁ@fﬁu%ﬂ

(i) B2023F11A18 BEEEKALNEE
W—ZRRE S -
(b) EEZEIE A B H b
AEBETZEE A BT (BIEHK

A ERNANFNEEINNTSER
R KBERE TRSFHMES

XMMEBEWT
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Short-term employee benefits 72 BR{E B 2 A 8,373 7,890
Post-employment benefits BERE 12 2 F 275 288

Equity-settled share-based payment AR S E AR &
expenses BN R X 1,587 1,345
10,235 9,523

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
6(b)).

FEaEt A TE IR (R
6(b)) °
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30EAXBEAXS ()
(continued)

(c) Related parties transactions (c) BB T X5
In addition to those related party transactions disclosed MR REMIOWENBE S
elsewhere in financial statements, the Group had the RN RER - 2N & B B2 H BB
following material transactions with its related parties FETUTEARS :

during the year:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETIT

Recurring transactions: BREURZS :

Purchase from related parties i)y

- Dongguan Zundao —REEE = 8,976

- Shenzhen Fucheng — AR 3,644 9.461

- Bangyixia —-HEE 5,088 -
8,732 18,437

Revenue from related parties 8 B 7 W e

— Jiuwengian —N3EE 1,475 =

— Aodimei —RFE 61 15

1,636 15
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30EAXBEAXS ()

(continued)
(d) Balance with related parties (d) FEEs 5 4554
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
Amounts due to JERT AT ALEFRIE
Trade in nature (i) TS ()
- Shenzhen Fucheng — AR = 1,157
- Bangyixia —-HEE 5,634 -
5,634 1,157
Amounts due from JEUUAT A L5008
— Aodimei —BFE 18 13
Contract liabilities AHEE
- Jiuwengian — N 651 -
Note: BiaE -
()  The outstanding balances with these related parties are trading () HEZEEBAIEEMRENEHRTATE
balances included in “Trade and other payables” (note 20). 5 R A ERFIA |(F5E20) W E S 8458 -
31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 31 A E B kR &

FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

12A31H 12A31H

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B AR®T ARBET T

Non-current asset FREBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL NARBEFEEREES

STAEHERNEREE 83,793 -
Investment in subsidiaries NHEBATIHIRE 12 3,886,457 3,225,328
Term deposits TEBRfE R 56,662 —
Other non-current asset HEIERBEE 2,404 —

4,029,316 3,225,328
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31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 31 AR BH MR R E(F)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
2023% 20224
12A31H 12A31H
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5 ARET T ARET T
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b el B 17 48,567 21,008
Prepayments TET IR 69 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 18(a) 38,232 697,490
Term deposits TEBE R 1,871,979 1,818,846
1,958,847 2,537,344
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E b fE S 7008 1,593 1,697
Financial liabilities at FVTPL WAREETEBEEES)
AR HEER
SRAE - 3,121
1,593 4,818
Net current assets REEEFHE 1,957,254 2,532,526
Total assets less current HEERRBERE
liabilities 5,986,570 5,757,854
NET ASSETS EEFHE 5,986,570 5,757,854
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXR#E
Share capital B& AR 27(a) 558 558
Reserves s 27(b) 5,986,012 5,757,296
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 5,986,570 5,757,854

32IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING 32BEEREBXRIERY
PARTY

As at December 31, 2023, the Directors consider the immediate MR2023F12A31H ' EFRAEELRAIH
parent of the Company to be Linxin Group Limited, which is BEEDARAEEBEER RS EMAK
incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party of S HJLinxin Group Limited * 7N A FIA &

the Company to be Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin. IRYERR T BHEMEERE LI TE »
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33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 33
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB BEEZEVERERTIZBEE  BHEes

2023 F 12
yERGRENDES
M EARERE

N
Jm

|.H'_
o
2 Sm

3

I/
N

o

RN

B
R 24

34 B
23

WE - (T

has issued a number of amendments and new standards, which HABEGDMME TIEFT R RIATE
are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2023 and Al - ZEEITRARFTENREE
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. 2023F12A31B IEFEBMARER - BR
These include the following which may be relevant to the RGBT BERRPERE - ERBIENLT
Group. AIRE AN E [ AEREE o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

iNVIN=R: v
&AM EET
HAR AR
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: January 1, 2024
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
Bt ERE1RERIR)  HBEHEXNZHR - BESERREKIE T 202451 A1R
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: January 1, 2024
Non-current liabilities with covenants
REtERIEIRUERTIR) - HBEHBXNZH - WERZZIHRBERE 202451 A1 R
Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: Lease Liability in a sale and leaseback January 1, 2024
BRI mEERF 165 (ERIX) - EREOZHERE 2024F1R1H
Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS 7, January 1, 2024
Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements
BR et ERE7R(BFIAR)  HenEx MBEERMGRELERIFTH - 202451 AR
EMTA : KEFE REBHELH
Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: January 1, 2025
Lack of exchangeability
B &5 ERNE 2R (EETAR) - IMNEEEL BB 2 Z & - RS A LR 202551 H1R
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of RNEE EER & FEET AN L ELR
what the impact of these amendments and new standards is BRERAHRBHELENTEE - 255
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far, the 1E - RE B ERNE T AR R ER D
Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely ANAIREH R BB ENERNTE o

to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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